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Structure of the report 

Scope 

Since 2012, the Johannesburg Development Agency (JDA) has applied circular 63 of the Municipal 

Finance Management Act (MFMA) (2003), issued by the National Treasury, in the preparation of its 

annual reports. The circular prescribes the content municipalities should cover in their annual reports. 

The JDA adopted the prescribed template in 2012/13, but only completed some of the data tables. 

The 2014/15 integrated annual report provides all of the required data and tables. 

 

To comply with local and international sustainable reporting best practice guidelines, the 2014/15 

integrated annual report also takes into account financial, social and economic factors in reporting on 

the JDA’s operations. The guidelines applied include: 

 The MFMA 

 The South African Statements of Generally Recognised Accounting Practice (GRAP) 

 Section 46(1) of the Municipal Systems Act (2000).  

 

The JDA’s outcomes are aligned with those set out in the City of Johannesburg’s 2013–2016 

integrated development plan and the Joburg 2040 Growth and Development Strategy (GDS), the 

collective and shared vision for the future of Johannesburg. 

 

Materiality 

The JDA applies the principle of materiality to determine the nature, timing and extent of the 

disclosures in its annual reports. A matter is material if it is of such relevance and importance that it 

could substantially influence an assessment of the report and the entity’s ability to create value in the 

short, medium and long term. The following internal and external criteria were used to identify material 

issues:  

 

Internal criteria External criteria 

Joburg 2040 GDS criteria and objectives Emerging opportunities and challenges facing the JDA 

Changes in the socioeconomic development agenda and 

priorities of national and provincial government 

Enterprise risk management process, including key risks 

affecting the JDA’s strategic and operational objectives and the 

associated mitigating activities 

Factors that may affect the JDA’s reputation and influence its 

ability to promote sustainable growth 

The expectations and feedback of stakeholders such as 

residents, ratepayers, the business community, civil society, 

national and provincial government, neighbouring 

municipalities, and designated targeted groups 

The provisions of various frameworks, including the MFMA, 

section 46(1) of the Municipal Systems Act, King III, the 

International Financial Reporting Standards, the Millennium 

Development Goals, and the broad-based black economic 

empowerment (BBBEE) code The JDA’s mission, vision and values 

The JDA’s governance framework and policy environment 
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Assurance statement 

The JDA’s executive management, internal audit unit, and the Audit and Risk Committee have 

reviewed and assessed the entity’s integrated annual report for 2014/15 to ascertain whether 

minimum disclosure requirements were adhered to in terms of the following:  

Integrated reporting framework MFMA: Circular 63 annual reporting requirements 

Ethical leadership and corporate citizenship Chairperson’s foreword and executive summary  

Boards and directors 
 

 Board independence 

 Board reporting 

 Board’s performance 

 Board committees 

 Directors’ remuneration 

Governance 
 

 Governance structures 

 Intergovernmental relations 

 Public accountability participation 

 Supply chain management, by-laws and 

oversight committees 

 Risk management 

 Anticorruption and fraud 

 Disclosure of financial interests 

 Councillors and committee 

Audit and Risk Committee 

 Finance competence 

 Audit and Risk Committee performance 

Service delivery  

The governance of risk  Organisational development performance  

Compliance with laws, codes, rules and standards  Financial performance 

Internal audit  

 Assessment of governance risk, management 

ethics and internal control processes 

Appendices and annual financial statements  

Governing stakeholder relationships   

Integrated reporting disclosure  
 

 Financial disclosure 

 Sustainability disclosure 

 

Integrated reporting philosophy   

 

The JDA will continue to refine its approach to reporting to further align it with international standards, 

and to strive to be consistent and accountable in its work to create sustainable value for all residents 

of Johannesburg. 
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CHAPTER 1: JDA LEADERSHIP AND CORPORATE 

PROFILE 
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Section 1: Corporate profile and overview  

The JDA was established by the City of Johannesburg (CoJ) in April 2001 to initiate, stimulate and 

support development projects and rejuvenate economic activity throughout Johannesburg. The 

agency initially focused on applying economic development strategies to regenerate underperforming 

neighbourhoods, mostly in the inner city. However, this has evolved to focusing on transforming 

Johannesburg into a resilient, sustainable and liveable city by developing transit nodes and corridors, 

the Corridors of Freedom, which link defined strategic geographic areas. The city is becoming more 

efficient, accessible and less reliant on consumption-led economic growth as a result.  

 

The agency’s past work includes establishing integrated sport precincts in Nasrec and Ellis Park, and 

dedicated bus stations and lanes for the new Rea Vaya bus rapid transit (BRT) system, as well as 

developing historically marginalised areas such as Kliptown, Orlando West, Orlando East, 

Noordgesig, Jabulani, Nancefield, Alexandra, Orange Farm and Diepsloot. The JDA has also drawn 

on the history of Johannesburg to create new symbols and monuments such as Constitution Hill, 

Nelson Mandela Bridge and the Walter Sisulu Square of Dedication. A summary of the evolution of 

the JDA’s strategy and practice over three mayoral terms is highlighted in the table below. 

 

Summary of the evolution of the JDA’s strategy and practice over three mayoral terms 
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Strategic focus and future orientation: Transforming the spatial economy 

The JDA’s primary medium-term objective is to promote resilient city strategies by restructuring the 

urban spatial logic of the city. This restructuring is contingent on achieving the following three 

development goals: 

 Shifting people closer to jobs: To give a greater number of poor people access to markets and 

jobs, the JDA will develop transit nodes in underdeveloped areas to create a spatial environment 

conducive to the agglomeration of economic activity, higher residential density and more intensive 

land use. This strategy will be achieved through the JDA’s transit-oriented node development 

programme and the inner-city transformation programme. 

 Shifting jobs closer to people: The development of selected nodes in marginalised areas to 

stimulate local economies, increase competitiveness and broaden access to markets and jobs 

that are nearby is an important strategy towards making the space economy more efficient. This 

will be achieved through the Priority Areas Development Programme. 

 Linking jobs and people: The greenways programme will develop high-density movement 

corridors anchored by transit nodes to restructure the city form, promote efficient land use and 

improve transport energy consumption. 

 

The JDA will continue to transform the spatial economy in Johannesburg through the implementation 

of the Corridors of Freedom initiative. Key precinct developments along the corridors are designed to 

respond to local conditions, needs and advantages, and to achieve economic, social and sustainable 

development outcomes. In terms of small, medium and micro enterprise (SMME) and entrepreneurial 

support, the JDA aims to increase the number of local emerging contractors used in capital projects 

carried out in the various communities, as well as the number of local construction jobs created.  

 

The JDA will also seek opportunities to upgrade infrastructure within station precincts and along the 

movement corridors. In 2013/14 the Rea Vaya communication network on trunk route 1B was 

activated to provide free Wi-Fi at bus stations. In 2014/15, free Wi-Fi was included in the design and 

implementation of the infrastructure for trunk route 1C linking the Johannesburg central business 

district (CBD) to Alexandra and Sandton.  

 

Outcomes and challenges 

The JDA’s evolution into an area-based development agency has prepared it to respond to the 

objectives of the current mayoral term. Under this model, the JDA takes on a more central role in 

developing strategic capital works projects and establishing urban management partnerships. 

Crucially, the model allows the JDA to mobilise development partners and other stakeholders to 

sustainably achieve the common economic and social objectives defined for each area. However, 

given the spatial, socioeconomic and political environment in which the JDA operates, there are 
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challenges that affect area-based development and the JDA’s ability to facilitate common economic 

and social objectives, including: 

 Unsuitability of sites for intended developments resulting in delays until alternative sites are 

identified. 

 Negotiations with property owners for alternative sites proving problematic and delays caused by 

objections to the rezoning of specific sites. 

 Delays in approvals of identifying land, finalising designs and issuing of permits from various CoJ 

departments and entities. 

 Community unrest and protests resulting in contractor appointments being delayed or stopped. 

 

Political governance and accountability 

The JDA is accountable to the 

Department of Development Planning 

and the Member of the Mayoral 

Committee for Development Planning, 

who exercises political oversight and to 

whom the JDA submits compliance 

reports in respect of its performance 

scorecard. The JDA relies on the 

Department of Development Planning 

for direction on its contractual 

obligations contained in the service delivery agreement, and on the Member of the Mayoral 

Committee for its political mandate and oversight. The group governance unit provides corporate 

governance and related support, including on financial sustainability and compliance reporting and 

review.  

 

The council’s Portfolio Committee on Development Planning provides political oversight of the JDA’s 

activities and functions. The JDA also falls under the Economic Development Mayoral Cluster 

Committee, which ensures that the work of the other departments and entities mandated with spatial 

transformation and economic growth of the city is integrated and coordinated.  

The JDA’s management is accountable for strategic and operational matters to the Board of Directors, 

which controls and maintains a fiduciary relationship with the company. The JDA coordinates its area-

based development activities and other catalytic interventions with the Department of Development 

Planning and engages with client departments in the design and construction of infrastructure assets.  
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Section 2: Strategic objectives 

The Joburg 2040 GDS envisions a sustainable and inclusive Johannesburg in which communities and 

the individuals within them hold the potential and the means to imagine and grow their 

neighbourhoods, communities and themselves. The JDA’s approach to development is rooted in this 

long-term vision and the specific aim of the CoJ’s economic cluster to develop a resilient, liveable, 

sustainable urban environment that supports a low-carbon economy that is job intensive, equitable 

and competitive. 

 

The strategic objectives of the JDA, which are aligned with the Joburg 2040 GDS and the economic 

cluster’s plans for sustainable services and economic growth, are to: 

 Restructure the city by developing defined, strategic geographic areas around the city and the 

movement corridors that link them. 

 Promote economic growth by creating efficient and competitive business environments that 

cluster industries and functions in these areas. 

 Turn around declining investment trends in these areas by upgrading public space, generating 

shared visions for future development, and encouraging urban management partnerships. 

 Develop local economic potential in marginalised areas to promote access to jobs and markets. 

 Encourage sustainable energy consumption and land use in the city by developing strategic 

transit nodes and corridors. 

 Promote economic empowerment through the structuring and procurement of JDA developments. 

 Support productive development partnerships and cooperation between all stakeholders in these 

areas. 

 

Focus for the remainder of the mayoral term 

Overall, the JDA has performed well against performance targets over the last decade. However, at 

the project level, factors pertaining to the design, implementation and handover of the JDA’s activities 

have affected the success and impact of individual projects. The JDA will focus for the remainder of 

the mayoral term on responding to these factors to improve the performance of individual projects.  

 

The JDA’s rigorous project design approach involves engaging with affected communities and 

relevant municipal agencies, and appointing professional planners. Challenges may be identified 

during these engagements, delaying the implementation of the projects until there is agreement on 

the best development intervention. The JDA plans to increase its development facilitation role, to pre-

empt and avoid delays, by including the following functions in all of its development areas: 

 More substantial research and analysis to inform evidence-based precinct-level planning 

 More extensive community consultation to secure buy-in for the development vision and plans  
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 Precinct marketing, promotion and programming 

 Assemble and procure developments as public-private partnerships. 

 

The long-term sustainability of the JDA’s projects is dependent on effective development facilitation, 

for which two important considerations exist. First, appropriate governance structures must be set up 

during the implementation phase. Second, the initiatives of municipal agencies implemented within a 

particular area need to be coordinated. 

 

Without appropriate governance structures, the long-term sustainability of the JDA’s projects is placed 

at risk as no specific municipal agency has been tasked with maintaining infrastructure developed and 

handed over. In addition, poor coordination contributes to poor planning and affects how projects are 

perceived. 

 

The JDA will focus on improving consultation and coordination, including introducing consultations in 

the planning phase, ensuring governance structures exist by the time a project is implemented, and 

improving the coordination of the municipal agencies responsible for service delivery within the CoJ. 

 

Section 3: Salient features 

Performance highlights  

 In 2014/15, the JDA implemented 98 capital projects to the value of R1.46 billion, which 

represents 87 per cent of the budget for the current financial year.  

 This is more than double the value of the capital projects implemented by the JDA in 2013/14 

(R665.7 million) and more than four times the value of projects implemented in 2012/13 

(R326.1 million), bringing capital expenditure over the last 13 years to R8.44 billion.  

 In 2014/15, the major drivers of capital expenditure were the large construction works that are 

being undertaken on the Rea Vaya trunk route 1C along Louis Botha Avenue, and the projects to 

install pedestrian and cycle paths (non-motorised transport [NMT] infrastructure) along the 

Corridors of Freedom that connect commuters with the Rea Vaya BRT system and commuter rail 

services. Most of the NMT projects are being implemented by small construction companies, 

which means that the large-scale infrastructure spending is also benefiting local businesses and 

creating local job opportunities. 

 

Financial highlights 

Financial position and financial performance, 2014/15 

Key performance area (KPA) Key performance target Actual at 30 June 2014 Actual at 30 June 2015 

Current ratio Above 1:1 1.14:1 1.09:1 
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Key performance area (KPA) Key performance target Actual at 30 June 2014 Actual at 30 June 2015 

Solvency ratio Above 2:1 1.12:1 1.08:1 

Revenue R99.1 million R62.8 million R99.3 million 

Expenditure (including taxation)  R91.4 million R59.3 million R82.9 million 

Surplus R7.7 million R3.6 million R16.4 million 

Total net assets R45.8 million R51.4 million R67.7 million 

Capital expenditure 100% 90% 87% 

BBBEE expenditure 100% 116% 91% 

SMME expenditure 40% 33% 29% 

 

Non-financial highlights  

 The JDA’s staff complement increased from 55 permanent staff in 2012/13 to 86 permanent staff 

(including staff for the Alexandra renewal project) in 2014/15. This is a 60 per cent increase in 

staff to deliver a capital expenditure budget that increased in the same period by close to 

440 per cent.  

 The board committees were restructured to deepen risk management oversight. 

 The JDA Board, at its meeting in June 2015, agreed that nine additional staff can be appointed to 

improve the agency’s operational capacity. 

 In 2014/15, the overall BBBEE share of expenditure was R1.28 billion, or 91 per cent of the year’s 

target. This is largely due to the success achieved in awarding capital expenditure and operating 

expenditure contracts to BBBEE firms.  

 In 2014/15, the SMME share of the JDA’s operating and capital expenditure was R390.3 million, 

or 29 per cent of the budget. 

 

Section 4: High-level organisational structure 

The JDA’s operations are structured into five substantive programmes and two operational 

programmes. The operational programmes perform the cross-cutting functions that support the 

substantive programmes.  

 

Financial position and financial performance, 2014/15 

 

The JDA’s structure is a response to the business model, which focuses on the development of 

strategic capital works projects as well as development facilitation to optimise the impact of the 

catalytic public investments, and the establishment of urban management partnerships to ensure the 

sustainability of the catalytic public investments. The organisational structure during the reporting 

period is presented below. 

 



Johannesburg Development Agency: Integrated Annual Report 2014/15                                              Page  14  

 

 

Organisational structure 

 

Note: CEO – chief executive officer; EM – executive manager; PA – personal assistant. 
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Section 5: Foreword by Member of the Mayoral Committee on 
Development Planning 

 

 

The JDA fulfils an important role in the work needed to achieve the 

spatial and economic goals set out in the Joburg 2040 GDS, the 

vision guiding the CoJ. The Joburg 2040 GDS is based on transit-

corridor-oriented spatial development where well-planned transport 

arteries, the Corridors of Freedom, link up mixed-use development 

nodes with high-density accommodation, supported by office 

buildings, retail developments and opportunities for education, 

leisure and recreation. 

 

In 2014/15, the JDA continued working towards this vision by 

developing transport station precincts and investing in public transit 

and mobility infrastructure along the corridor routes. Through its 

supply chain and construction work, the JDA also contributed to job 

creation in the construction sector in Johannesburg, and local 

SMMEs’ development in line with the Jozi@Work principles and 

BBBEE.  

 

 

Cllr. Ros Greeff 

MMC Development Planning 

Key service delivery improvements 

In 2014/15, the JDA implemented capital projects to the value of R1.46 billion, which is more than 

double the amount spent in 2013/14 (R665.7 million) and more than four times the amount spent in 

2012/13 (R326.1 million). This took the JDA’s capital expenditure over the past 13 years to 

R8.44 billion.  
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Capital and operating expenditure from 2001/02 to 2014/15 and medium-term projections to 2017/18 

 

 

The three-year budget estimates indicate that the JDA will have to refine its plan to ensure it achieves 

its project implementation targets, which increase along with the budget allocation in 2016/17 and 

2017/18.  

 

Future outlook 

To continue the important work of catalysing development in 2015/16, the JDA will have to invest 

time, energy and resources on performing the development facilitation tasks necessary in the 

Corridors of Freedom, as well as other priority development areas across programmes, ensuring that 

development partners and other stakeholders are working towards the same development goals. 

 

Along with this, the three strategic issues that are expected to frame the JDA’s operations in 2015/16 

are its ability to implement and handover capital works projects, spend the rapidly rising capital 

budget allocations and finalise the incorporation of the Alexandra renewal project. 

 

The JDA continues to make strides in the development of key infrastructure, which will see us meet 

the targets set for the CoJ. I would like to commend the executive team and Board for their constant 

and valuable inputs and their stewardship of the JDA. 

 

 

 

Councillor Ros Greeff 

Member of the Mayoral Committee on Development Planning 

30 June 2015 



Johannesburg Development Agency: Integrated Annual Report 2014/15                                              Page  17  

Section 6: Chairperson’s foreword 

As we consider the results for 2014/15, I commend the JDA team for 

spending R1.46 billion (87 per cent) of the overall capital budget in 

2014/15 of R1.7 billion, which includes additional projects received 

not reflected in the scorecard. This is impressive given that the 

capital budget was double that of the previous financial year. 

However, the figure indicates that the JDA will have to do more to 

ensure it meets and exceeds its targets on capital expenditure and 

project completion.  

 

The strategic risk register for 2014/15 highlights two important 

considerations: the difficulty in recruiting and retaining skilled staff, 

and the importance of improving the stakeholder consultation 

process. 

 

In response to the first risk, the JDA implemented human resources 

procedures that saw its permanent staff complement increase to 86 

permanent staff, including staff for the Alexandra renewal project, in 

2014/15. More will need to be done to ensure that vacancies are 

filled and the agency is operating at full capacity. 

 

 

Mr Cassim Coovadia 

JDA Chairperson 

The stakeholder consultation process will also have to be improved, as the difficulties with the 

Orlando East station precinct project show. During the period under review, the site was marred by 

community resistance, which turned violent at times, and only serves to highlight the importance of 

meaningful community engagement in all of the JDA’s development areas.  

 

To this end, the institution must: 

 Ensure that stakeholders are actively engaged from the start of a project and play a meaningful 

role in shaping the development outcomes and future custodianship of the development. 

 Assist and enable the CoJ to manage expectations and perceptions of all stakeholder groups 

throughout the project by providing clear and regular communication and mobilisation activities, 

explaining the purpose, scope and outcomes of each project to reduce misunderstanding and 

misinformation. 

 Ensure the CoJ appreciates that the JDA spends a significant amount of time attending to 

stakeholder engagement matters, which affect service delivery and project timelines. 

 Ensure that it shares the responsibility of stakeholder consultation with the CoJ and seeks the 

guidance of its parent municipality where necessary. 
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The Board has advised management on how to manage risks during the year ahead. In addition, the 

Audit and Risk Committee reviewed and approved the JDA’s risk management framework and will 

continue to monitor its implementation by management. 

 

The JDA views challenges as opportunities that will support the agency continuing in a sustainable 

matter. In this regard, the Board has set out to guard the financial sustainability of the institution. For 

example, tension exists between the desire to earn management fees charged as a percentage of the 

budget of capital projects implemented (the main source of revenue for the JDA) and the importance 

of implementing capital projects that align with the overall mandate of the organisation and the Joburg 

2040 GDS. In response to this, the JDA has prioritised ensuring the long-term sustainability of capital 

projects and securing community buy-in over implementing projects to meet revenue targets. 

 

The Board will continue to ensure that the JDA’s management improves its performance and will build 

appropriate internal control measures to ensure that the entity does not falter in its mission of 

obtaining a clean audit report. 

 

Cassim Coovadia 

Chairperson 

27 November 2015 
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Section 7: Chief Executive Officer’s report 

 

In 2014/15, the JDA implemented 98 capital projects across seven 

programmes to the value of R1.46 billion, which is 87 per cent of the 

total R1.68 billion as determined through the mid-year budget 

review. The overall expenditure includes projects that were 

implemented by the JDA as additional projects whose funding was 

confirmed after the approval of the performance scorecard. 

 

The major drivers of capital expenditure were the large construction 

works undertaken on the Rea Vaya trunk route phase 1C along 

Louis Botha Avenue, and the projects to install pedestrian and cycle 

paths along the Corridors of Freedom that will connect commuters 

with the Rea Vaya BRT and commuter rail services. Most of the 

NMT projects are being implemented by small construction 

companies, which ensures that large-scale infrastructure spending 

also benefits local businesses and creates local job opportunities.  

 

Mr Thanduxolo Mendrew 

JDA CEO 

Budgets versus actual spending per programme  

Programme 
2014/15 

Budget/ Target 
Actual year to date 

% actual annual 
budget/ 

Target % 

  R 000 R 000 % 

*Programme 1: Inner-city transformation 304 750 250 092 82 

Programme 2: Transit-oriented node 
development 

506 261 357 051 71 

Programme 3: GMS priority area planning 
and implementation 

176 414 151 755 86 

Programme 4: Greenways 630 190 690 819 109 

Programme 5: Alexandra renewal project 48 538 11 995 25 

Programme 6: Development facilitation 6 893 1 359 20 

Programme 7: Administration and 
management 

5 000 427 9 

Total 1 678 046 1 462 498 87 

 

In 2014/15, the overall BBBEE share of expenditure was R1.28 billion, or 91 per cent of the target for 

the year. This is largely due to the improved supply chain management processes that supported 

awarding contracts to BBBEE firms. The SMME share of JDA’s operating and capital expenditure was 

R390.3 million in 2014/15, or 29 per cent of the budget. 
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During the reporting period, the JDA collected revenue of R99.2 million, which is 100 per cent of the 

projected R99 million. The variance is mainly due to interest revenue being lower than expected. The 

development management fees earned during the year exceeded the target due mainly to spending 

87 per cent of the capital budget from which the fees are earned. 

 

The JDA’s operating expenses in 2014/15 were R76.4 million, which represents an under expenditure 

of 16.3 per cent. The difference between spending and the allocated budget is a result of vacancies, 

most of which were filled by the end of the financial year. Recruitment is underway for the remaining 

vacancies, including the executive manager positions for development implementation, planning and 

strategy, corporate services, and marketing and communications. 

 

The decision by the CoJ to adopt a multi-year budget cycle has also begun to bear positive fruit for 

the planning and implementation of JDA projects. This has, in the year under review, enabled the JDA 

to put the majority of its professional teams in place so that it can begin new projects on time and also 

continue with projects already underway into the new financial year. This allowed the agency to spend 

most of a capital budget that had more than doubled from the previous year. There remains room to 

improve and innovate, particularly with regard to dealing with project delays and community 

awareness and consultation. Some of the project implementation difficulties experienced during the 

year included: 

 Fewer and more short-lived local jobs due to accelerating construction programmes to meet the 

deadlines for the end of the financial year. 

 Performance not being consistently monitored, measured and reported, as quarterly reports in the 

second and third quarters reflect missed targets and poor performance. 

 Sites that proved unsuitable for the intended developments, which resulted in delays as 

alternative sites were found. 

 Delays from various CoJ departments and entities to identify land, finalise designs and issue 

permits. 

 Community unrest and protests, which delayed or halted the processes to appoint contractors. 

 

To address these issues, the JDA filled most of the vacancies and will be appointing nine additional 

staff members to strengthen organisational capacity. The Board committees have also been 

restructured to deepen risk management oversight. The JDA will also be investing a greater amount 

of time on development facilitation in the Corridors of Freedom projects and will deepen its 

engagement with communities and members of the public along the way. This includes introducing 

public participation in the planning stage, consulting with communities and affected parties during the 

design stage, and involving community members in projects to allow the project to tell the story of the 

neighbourhood. 
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The more important developments planned for implementation in 2015/16 include the construction of 

trunk route 1C of the Rea Vaya BRT system from the inner city to Alexandra and from Alexandra to 

Sandton and Randburg, and a dedicated pedestrian and cycle way connecting Alexandra and 

Sandton. The latter project aims to improve the daily commuter experience of about 10 000 people 

who traverse this route daily.  

 

The JDA will also continue to work towards the objective of transforming the spatial economy in 

Johannesburg through the implementation of the Corridors of Freedom, including developing station 

precincts and investing in the public transport and mobility infrastructure along the corridor routes. 

Some of the key Corridors of Freedom projects in 2015/16 include Park Station precinct in the inner 

city, the Jabulani node and Nancefield Station precinct in Soweto, the Randburg CBD and Rotunda 

Park precinct in Turffontein. 

 

The difficulties experienced in the formulation and implementation of the Jozi@Work packages in the 

JDA’s developments are a thing of the past. The executive management is confident that in the new 

financial year, we will increase the entity’s provision of Jozi@Work packages to perform at levels 

exceeding our performance in procuring from and supporting local SMMEs in construction.  

 

In preparing this integrated annual report, a number of additions have been made to our reporting 

practices to better satisfy the integrated reporting principles. We intend to make further improvements 

to our reporting in the new financial year by including assessments of financial management capacity 

and service provider performance, improving the definitions of some of our performance indicators 

(especially the construction progress indicators), and providing more information on our remuneration 

policy and practice. 

 

I would like to thank the executive team and every JDA staff member for their unwavering dedication 

to the achievement of our objectives, and the Board for their steadfast leadership and guidance 

throughout the year. 

 

Thanduxolo Mendrew 

Chief executive officer 

27 November 2015 
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Section 8: Chief Financial Officer’s report 

The office of the chief financial officer is responsible for two 

divisions, finance and supply chain management. These divisions 

supported the functioning of the JDA and surpassed some of the 

targets they were set for the year, and ensured that the JDA was in 

a sound financial position as at 30 June 2015, with total assets 

exceeding total liabilities. 

 

Development management fees, the main income source for the 

JDA, accounted for 70 per cent of revenue earned in 2014/15 

compared to 48 per cent in the previous financial year. The increase 

was largely due to a larger capital budget allocation of R1.68 billion 

in 2014/15 compared to R798 million in 2013/14. The JDA 

nonetheless faces the challenge of spending the entire allocated 

budget, which will enable it to earn the full development 

management fees. To ensure spending targets are achieved, the 

JDA will need to ensure that vacant posts are timeously filled with 

appropriately skilled individuals and capital projects are planned 

appropriately. 

.  

 

Zandile Mafata 

JDA CFO 

The organisation had capital commitments of R1.1 billion as at 30 June 2015. These are currently 

awarded multi-year contracts for which expenditure has been incurred in part or is still to be incurred. 

The awards were made after the normal supply chain management processes had been followed. 

With these commitments in place, the organisation is poised to start the first quarter of 2015/16 with 

some projects already in the construction phase, which is expected to improve the first quarter 

expenditure. 

 

Throughout the financial year, the JDA’s internal audit unit conducted various audits, including on the 

financial discipline and supply chain management reviews. These audits assist management in 

improving the organisation’s internal control environment and support the organisation’s objective of 

attaining a clean audit. 

 

The directors are responsible for the preparation, integrity and fair presentation of the financial 

statements, which have been prepared in accordance with GRAP, and include amounts based on 

judgements and estimates made by management. The directors are also responsible for the 

preparation of the other information in the annual report, and its accuracy and its consistency with the 

financial statements.  



Johannesburg Development Agency: Integrated Annual Report 2014/15                                              Page  23  

 

The directors have no reason to believe that the entity will not be a going concern in the foreseeable 

future and have prepared the financial statements accordingly. 

 

 

Zandile Mafata 

Chief Financial Officer 

27 November 2015 
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Section 9: Company secretary’s certification 

In terms of section 88(2)(e) of the Companies Act (2008), I certify that, to the best of my knowledge 

and belief, the company has lodged and/or filed, for the financial year ended 30 June 2015, all such 

returns and notices as required and that all such returns and notices are true, correct and up to date. 

 

Hasani Rodney Shirinda  

Company secretary 

27 November 2015 

 

 

Section 10: Statement of responsibility 

The directors are responsible for the preparation, integrity and fair presentation of the financial 

statement of the entity. The financial statements presented in Chapter 5 have been prepared in 

accordance with Generally Recognised Accounting Practice and include amounts based on 

judgements and estimates made by the management. 

  

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the other information in the annual report and are 

responsible for both its accuracy and consistency with the financial statements. The going concern 

basis has been adopted in preparing the financial statements. The directors have no reason to believe 

that the entity will not be a going concern in the foreseeable future based on the forecast and 

available cash resources. Refer to the Directors’ report in Chapter 5 with regard to the 

appropriateness of the going concern assumption for the preparation of the financial statements. 

  

The Auditor-General – who was given unrestricted access to all financial records and related data, 

including minutes of all meetings of shareholders, the Board of Directors and Board committees – has 

audited the financial statements. The directors believe that all representations made to the Auditor-

General during its audit are valid and appropriate. The Auditor-General’s report is presented in 

Chapter 6.  

 

The financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 28th August 2015 and signed on 

its behalf by Mr. C Coovadia (Chairperson) 
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CHAPTER 2: CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 
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Section 1: Governance framework  

The JDA recognises that conducting its affairs with integrity will ensure that the public and its parent 

municipality, the CoJ Metropolitan Municipality, have confidence in its work. To that end the JDA’s 

Board of Directors and executive management team subscribe to the governance principles set out in 

the Code of Conduct for Directors referred to in section 93L of the Municipal Systems Act, circular 63 

of the MFMA and the King III code.  

 

The Board also actively reviews and enhances the systems of internal control and governance 

procedures in place to ensure that the JDA is managed ethically and within prudently determined risk 

parameters. During the period under review, the Board conducted assessments to ensure that the 

JDA complied with the requirements of the Companies Act, the Municipal Systems Act and the 

MFMA. 

 

Implementation of King III 

The Board and management team are committed to the principles of openness, integrity and 

accountability advocated by King III. The King III checklist (see Annexure 3) is used to align the JDA’s 

practices with these principles. The JDA made progress during the reporting period towards 

entrenching and strengthening the implementation of the recommended practices in its governance 

structures, systems, processes and procedures. The internal audit team provided regular feedback to 

the Audit and Risk Committee, which is responsible for monitoring compliance with King III. In 

addition, the company secretary and the internal audit team performed a compliance check using the 

principles of King III. The Board also conducted two assessments in 2014/15, a Board and ARC 

assessment, as required by the CoJ, and a Board self-evaluation. 

 

Corporate citizenship  

As an entity of a municipality, the JDA has social and moral obligations to the country. The Board is 

responsible for ensuring that the JDA protects, enhances and invests in the economy, society and the 

natural environment, and pursues its activities within the limits of social, political and environmental 

responsibilities outlined in international conventions on human rights. 

 

Compliance with laws, rules, codes and standards 

The Board is responsible for ensuring that the entity complies with applicable laws and considers 

adherence to non-binding rules, codes and standards. The company secretary certifies that all 

statutory returns have been submitted to the Registrar of Companies in terms of section 268(d) of the 

Companies Act. The internal audit team provides assurance on the JDA’s compliance with laws and 

regulations. 
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Section 2: Board of directors 

Introduction 

The JDA has a unitary board, which comprises both executive and non-executive directors. Cassim 

Coovadia is chairperson of the Board and a non-executive director. The JDA’s sole shareholder, the 

CoJ, reviews the term of office for non-executive directors every year at the annual general meeting. 

The Board is accountable to the CoJ and the citizens of Johannesburg. A service delivery agreement 

and shareholder compact, concluded in accordance with the provisions of the Municipal Systems Act, 

govern the entity’s relationship with the CoJ. The Board provides monthly, quarterly, biannual and 

annual reports on its performance and service delivery to the parent municipality as prescribed in the 

service delivery agreement, the shareholder compact, the MFMA and the Municipal Systems Act. The 

JDA published its annual report in 2013/14 in line with section 121 of the MFMA and has prepared 

this report accordingly. 

Non-executive directors maintain an independent stance to matters under consideration and add to 

the Board’s depth of experience. The roles of the chairperson and chief executive officer are 

separate, with responsibilities divided between them. Members have unlimited access to the company 

secretary, who acts as an advisor to the Board and its committees on matters such as corporate 

governance, compliance with company rules and procedures, statutory requirements, regulations and 

best corporate practices. 

The Board or any of its members may, under appropriate circumstances and at the expense of the 

company, obtain the advice of independent professionals. 

Shortcomings are addressed and areas of strength are consolidated during an annual Board 

evaluation. The performance of the Board committees is evaluated against their terms of reference.  

Composition of the Board 

Mr C Coovadia (Chairperson) 

Date of birth 31 October 1951 

Service with JDA 25 February 2014 to date 

Qualifications BCom 
Effective Directors Programme  
Governance 
Housing Finance 
Finance 
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Experience  Mr Coovadia is the managing director of the Banking 
Association of South Africa. Before this, he was the executive 
trustee of the Community Bank (a low-income banking 
initiative), accountant for the UDF, coordinator of ATP NGO, 
senior audit manager at Freedman Scher (Auditors), office 
administrator for the Transvaal Indian Congress (part-time) 
and partner at Moolajee Coovadia and Company (an 
accounting practice).  
 
Other previously held positions include publicity secretary for 
ACTSTOP Civic Organisation, secretary-general of the Civic 
Associations of JHB, director of the Central Johannesburg 
Partnership and chairperson of the Johannesburg Civic 
Theatre. 

Other boards on which 
the individual serves 

National Business Initiative 
Centre of Development Enterprise 
Trust for Urban Housing Finance 
African Union for Housing Finance 
International Union for Housing Finance 
Council of Wits University 
FinMark Trust 

 
Mr K Govender 

Date of birth 14 May 1974 

Service with JDA  25 February 2014 to date 

Qualifications CA (SA) 
BCom and Honours 

Experience Mr Govender is a director at Mally Govender and Associates.  
 
Key areas of strength include: 
• Business planning 

• Strategic planning 

• Accounting-related services 

• Clean up of accounting systems – fixed asset registers, 

reconciliations, systems, and other areas 

• Clean up of audit report and management letter findings. 

In a commercial environment, he was a senior executive 
serving as the chief financial officer of SuperSport 
International (Pty) Ltd and has been part of the MultiChoice 
SA Group for more than five years. In addition to the 
operational financial management of SuperSport and strategic 
financial guidance to the senior executive team, he has been 
a non-executive director of Natal Sharks (Pty) Ltd, Free State 
Cheetahs (Pty) Ltd, KZN Dolphins (Pty) Ltd, Titans Cricket 
(Pty) Ltd, Eastern Titans (Pty) Ltd and SuperSport United FC 
(Pty) Ltd. 
 
Mr Govender’s public-sector experience includes five years at 
the Auditor-General, where he was involved in the statutory 
audit of various national and provincial departments, 
municipalities, statutory bodies and public entities. Having 
completed his articles at the Auditor-General in 2001, Mr 
Govender was offered a consulting position at KPMG on the 
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strength of his public-sector experience. He was involved in 
various consulting projects at executive level.  

Other boards on which 
the individual serves 

None 

 
Dr E Harvey  

Date of birth 15 March 1955 

Service with JDA 25 February 2014 to date 

Qualifications PhD (Sociology) 
Master’s Degree (Public Development and Management) 

Experience Dr Harvey has written the authorised biography of the former 
President and Deputy President Kgalema Motlanthe. He has 
held positions as a political writer, commentator and analyst. 
He is a former columnist for the Mail & Guardian newspaper, 
human resource manager at Rabico International, regional 
training and development manager at Premier Foods, national 
evaluation and administrative assistant for the SA Committee 
for Higher Education, organiser/educator for Paper Printing 
Word & Allied Workers’ Union, storeman at Telkor Electronics 
and English teacher at Silverstream High School. He is an 
ongoing contributor (commentator and analyst) to the 
country’s leading newspapers.  

Other boards on which 
the individual serves 

None 

 
Ms Z Mafata (CFO) 

Date of birth 25 May 1970 

Service with JDA  25 February 2014 to date 

Qualifications BCom and Honours (Accounting)  

Experience Ms Mafata is the chief financial officer of the JDA. She has 
extensive experience in auditing and financial management. 
Prior to this, she was a finance manager at JDA from 2005 to 
2009. 
 
After receiving her Secondary Teacher’s Diploma from the 
Soweto College of Education, Ms Mafata taught at Thutolore 
Secondary School in Soweto from 1991 to 1996.  
 
She worked for PricewaterhouseCoopers as an audit clerk 
from 1997 to 2003, then moved to Denel as a corporate 
accountant from 2003 to 2005. 

Other boards on which 
the individual serves 

None 

 
Ms N Maila 

Date of birth 11 August 1977 
Service with JDA  October 2014 to date 
Qualifications  BCom (Accounting)  

Post-graduate Diploma (Accounting) 
CA (SA) 

Experience Ms Maila has six years of audit experience with Andersen 
(audit trainee) and KPMG (audit manager), five years of 
experience as financial and operations manager with the 
Public Investment Corporation, 15 months as project manager 
for Liberty Properties, 21 months as executive assistant to 
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Stanlib and Liberty CEO, four months as a manager in Liberty 
Group Corporate Finance. 

Other boards on which 
the individual serves 

JHI Retail (Pty) Ltd 
HF Edwards Education Trust 
Faith Devotional Ministries 

 
Ms P Mashiane 

Date of birth 02 August 1965 

Service with JDA  24 April 2012 to date 

Qualifications  BSc (Chemistry)  
Project Management  
Post-graduate Diploma (Marketing) 
MBA  

Experience Ms Mashiane is founder and managing director of Segakweng 
Enterprise & Strategy Consulting. She is a strategist with more 
than 20 years of experience in the chemical and financial 
services and advertising industries. She was a non-executive 
board member of the Joburg Theatre Complex. 

Other boards on which 
the individual serves 

Kgosi Neighbourhood Foundation 

 
Mr P Masilo 

Date of birth  18 July 1970 

Service with JDA  1 October 2008 to date 

Qualifications B Proc 
LLB 

Experience Mr Masilo is an attorney with nine years’ practical experience 
specialising in commercial law, criminal law, labour law, and 
trusts among others. He started his career with Norton 
Lambrianos Incorporated, a law firm specialising in debt 
collection for various major banks in the country. He is a 
partner at R Masilo Attorneys, a law firm specialising in labour 
relations matters, commercial and criminal litigations. He has 
been a board member of Bertha Gxowa Hospital, in 
Germiston, for the past six years.  

Other boards on which 
the individual serves 
 
 

Bertha Gxowa Hospital; 
Ekurhuleni Development Company 
MAXALEX Property Development 
MAXALEX Property Investment  

 
Mr T Mendrew (CEO) 

Date of birth 01 October 1973 

Service with JDA 1 September 2007 to date 

Qualifications  BProc 
LLB 

Experience Mr Mendrew is currently the chief executive officer of the 
JDA. Before leading the agency, he was its executive 
manager for risk and compliance management and human 
resources.  
 
After receiving his Bachelor of Laws (LLB) degree, Mr 
Mendrew joined the legal firm Edward, Nathan & Friedland in 
Sandton as a commercial lawyer specialising in corporate 
law. Here, he first gained experience in risk and legal 
compliance in the corporate world before extending his scope 
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to commercial banking, gaining experience in the legal 
compliance side of corporate finance and debt management. 
 
In 2004, he joined the City of Johannesburg as director of 
corporate governance, where he oversaw the group risk 
compliance and financial stability of the city's municipal-owned 
entities. 

Other boards on which 
the individual serves 

Mayborn Investments 73 (Pty) Ltd 
Greater Newtown Development Company (SOC) Ltd  
Constitution Hill Development Company (SOC) Ltd 

 
Ms N Selamolela 

Date of birth 1 January 1976 

Service with JDA  25 February 2014 to date 

Qualifications  BCompt (Honours)/CTA  
BCom (Accounting) 

Experience Ms Selamolela is currently the chief financial officer at the 
FoodBev Seta and was previously a managing director of 
Murhambo Capital (Pty) Ltd. Previously held positions include: 
chief financial officer for Swiftnet (Pty) Ltd, chief financial 
officer for the Western Cape Nature Conservation Board, 
senior finance manager of the Independent Communication 
Authority, senior accountant at Vodacom and trainee 
accountant at Tongaat Hulett Sugar. Ms Selamolela has vast 
experience in information and communications technology 
(ICT) and her areas of interest cover financial management, 
corporate finance, training and development, consulting and 
supply chain management. 

Other boards on which 
the individual serves 

Broadband Infraco  

 
Prof D Thwala 

Date of birth 28 November 1972 

Service with JDA 24 April 2012 to date 

Qualifications PhD (Eng.) 
MSc (Eng.) 
MSc ( Dev. Planning)  
Pr CPM  
FCIOB  

Experience Prof Thwala is a professor at the University of Johannesburg 
(UJ) in the Faculty of Engineering and the Built Environment. 
Prof Thwala holds leadership positions in a number of 
professional and industry bodies, and serves as editor-in-chief 
of the Journal of Construction Project Management and 
Innovation. 

Other boards on which 
the individual serves 

Johannesburg Social Housing Company  
Gautrain Management Agency (GMA) 
Ports Regulator of South Africa (PRSA) 
Ekurhuleni West TVET College 

 
Mr P Zagaretos 

Date of birth 9 May 1976 

Service with JDA  October 2014 to date 

Qualifications  BSc (QS) 
MSc (QS) 
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MRICS 

Experience Panos Zagaretos is an Executive Director at Tenurey and a 
member of the Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors 
(“RICS”). He served as a Senior Manager: Investments at the 
Public Investment Corporation Property Division, heading the 
Investments Division. He was instrumental in developing, 
implementing and managing the property investment strategy 
of the Government Employees Pension Fund. He headed the 
team that acquired properties to a value in excess of ZAR23 
billion most notably, the acquisitions of the V&A Waterfront 
and Pareto in 2011. Panos was also responsible for the 
development of a number of retail and commercial properties 
nationally and internationally. He has served on the Board of 
Directors of various property companies in his capacity as a 
shareholder representative. Panos specializes in strategic 
advisory, mergers and acquisitions, asset management and 
development management. 

Other boards on which 
the individual serves 

None 

 
Independend Audit Committee Members 
 
Ms M Dolamo (IAC) 

Date of birth 11 June 1975 

Service with JDA 3 February 2015 to date 

Qualifications  BCom and Honours (Accounting)  
CTA 
CA (SA) 

Experience Auditing 
Financial accounting 
Financial management, cost management and investment 
Management 

Other boards on which 
the individual serves 

Audit Committee Member: Department of Public Enterprise 
Finance and Remuneration Committee Member: Bank Seta 

 

Ms B Kelly (IAC) 

Date of birth 12 October 1963 

Service with JDA 3 February 2015 to date 

Qualifications  Diploma (EDP) 
BComm 
MBL 

Experience Varied roles in IT over the past 25 years, sales and marketing, 
sales director, managing director 

Other boards on which 
the individual serves 

Home Owners’ Association: BlueHills Country Estate 

 
Mr Z Samsam (IAC) 

Date of birth 14 June 1974 

Service with JDA 25 February 2014 to date 

Qualifications CA (SA) 
MCom (Finance)  

Experience Mr Samsam is currently a consultant in the private and public 
sector specialising in finance and risk management. He has 
held finance and risk management positions at Absa Bank, 
Standard Bank, Eskom Enterprises (Pty) Ltd and De Beers 
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Consolidated Mines. 

Other boards on which 
the individual serves 

Johannesburg Water 
Sizwe Medical Fund 
Samsam Trading 
Previously served on Joburg and Roodepoort Theatres 

 
JDA Board of Directors 

Board member Capacity: 

Executive/non-

executive 

Race Gender Board committee membership 

 

 

C Coovadia  Chairperson (Non-

executive) 

Black Male  Development and Investment 

K Govender Non-executive Black Male  Audit and Risk 

 Development and Investment 

E Harvey  Non-executive Black Male  Human Resources and 

Remuneration 

Social and Ethics 

Z Mafata CFO (Executive) Black Female  Social and Ethics  

 Development and Investment  

N Maila Non-executive Black Female  Audit and Risk 

 Human Resources and 

Remuneration 

P Mashiane  Non-executive Black Female  Social and Ethics 

 Development and Investment 

P Masilo Non–executive Black Male  Human Resources and 

Remuneration 

 Social and Ethics  

T Mendrew  CEO (Executive) Black Male  Development and Investment  

 Social and Ethics  

N Selamolela Non-executive Black Female  Audit and Risk 

 Human Resources and 

Remuneration 

W Thwala  Non-executive Black Male  Development and Investment 

 Social and Ethics 

P Zagaretos Non-executive White Male  Development and Investment 

 Social and Ethics 

 

The JDA’s directors bring together a range of complementary skills and experience that benefit the 

entity, including accounting, finance, legal, business management, human resources, labour relations, 

marketing, construction and development management.  
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Duties of the Board 

The Board retains full and effective control over the organisation and monitors the implementation of 

the JDA’s strategic programmes. It sets the agency’s strategic direction and monitors overall 

performance. The duties of the Board include: 

 Providing effective, transparent, accountable and coherent oversight of the JDA’s affairs. 

 Ensuring that the JDA complies with all applicable legislation, the service delivery agreement 

and the various shareholder policy directives issued by its parent municipality from time to 

time. 

 Dealing with the CoJ in good faith and communicating openly and promptly on all pertinent 

matters requiring the attention of its shareholder. 

 Determining and developing strategies that set out the organisation’s purpose and values in 

accordance with the shareholder mandate and strategic documents such as the integrated 

development plan. 

 Reviewing and approving financial objectives, including significant capital allocations and 

expenditure as determined by the CoJ. 

 Considering and ensuring that the entity’s size, diversity and skills are sufficient to achieve its 

strategic objectives. 

 

Board charter  

The Board of Directors has incorporated the CoJ’s corporate governance protocol into its charter, 

which regulates its relationship with the CoJ as its sole member and parent municipality in the interest 

of good corporate governance and good ethics. The protocol is premised on the principles of King III. 

The charter sets out the composition and powers of the Board.  

Board meeting attendance 

The Board meets at least four times a year to consider matters reserved for its attention. Attendance 

at meetings held during the year under review is outlined below. 

 

Board meeting attendance – July 2014 to June 2015  

 Name No. of meetings Attendance Apology Absent 

C Coovadia (Chairperson) 7 4 3 0 

K Govender 7 7 0 0 

E Harvey 7 6 1 0 

Z Mafata 7 5 2 0 

P Masilo 7 7 0 0 

N Maila 5 3 2 0 

P Mashiane 7 5 2 0 
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 Name No. of meetings Attendance Apology Absent 

T Mendrew 7 6 1 0 

N Selamolela 7 6 1 0 

W Thwala 7 7 0 0 

P Zagaretos 5 5 0 0 

 
Section 3: Board committees 

The JDA has four Board committees, which execute their duties as set out in specific terms of 

reference. Matters of ethics, procedure and the conduct of committee members are set out in the 

Board charter. A non-executive director chairs each committee. During the reporting period, the Board 

committees were as follows: 

 Audit and Risk Committee 

 Human Resources and Remuneration Committee 

 Development and Investment Committee 

 Social and Ethics Committee. 

 

The Board committees meet on a regular basis. Meeting attendance for 2014/15 is set out in the 

table. 
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Board committees meetings and attendance – July 2014 to June 2015  

Name  Audit and Risk Development and 

Investment 

Human Resources 

and Remuneration 

Social and Ethics 
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C Coovadia      6 3 3          

K Govender 10 10 0  6 5 1          

E Harvey         4 4 0  4 3 1  

Z Mafata 10 10 0  6 6 0  4 4 0  4 3 1  

N Maila 4 2 2      2 2 0      

P Masilo         4 4 0  4 4 0  

P Mashiane     6 4 2      4 2 2  

T Mendrew 10 9 1  6 4 2  4 3 1  4 2 2  

N Selamolela 10 8 2      4 4 0      

W Thwala
1
     6 5 1      2 2 0  

P Zagaretos     3 3 0      2 2 0  

M Dolamo (Independent Audit and 

Risk member) 

4 4 0              

Z Samsam (Independent Audit and 

Risk member) 

10 10 0              

B Kelly (Independent Audit and Risk 

member) 

4 4 0              

 

Audit and Risk Committee 

The Audit and Risk Committee, which meets at least four times a year, comprises three non-executive 

directors and three independent members. The committee members are: 

 K Govender (chairperson) 

 N Selamolela  

 N Maila 

 B Kelly (independent member) 

 M Dolamo (independent member) 

 Z Samsam (independent member). 

 

Most committee members have a financial and audit background, which ensures that the committee is 

able to execute its mandate. Two new independent audit committee members (Bridget Kelly and Modi 

Dolamo) were appointed on 3 February 2015. 

 

                                                

 

1
 Prof Thwala only joined the Social and Ethics as of 1 April 2015 
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The committee is responsible for ensuring that all of the JDA’s activities are subject to independent 

and objective review and financial performance oversight. It operates within the parameters of the 

Audit and Risk Committee charter; the terms of reference are guided by the provisions of section 166 

of the MFMA. 

The Audit and Risk Committee is responsible for: 

 Reviewing the JDA’s internal controls and financial reports for statutory compliance and alignment 

with standards of best practice, and recommending appropriate disclosures to the Board. 

 Reviewing reports from management, risk and compliance, and internal and external auditors to 

provide reasonable assurance that control procedures are in place and are being followed. 

 Reviewing the quarterly financial performance reports and annual financial statements before 

submission to the Board, focusing particularly on any changes in accounting policies and 

practices. 

 Reviewing and monitoring enterprise risk management processes and ensuring that management 

implements appropriate risk management mitigation strategies. 

 Determining the levels of risk tolerance and risk appetite and monitoring that risks are managed 

within predetermined levels. 

 Determining a framework for good governance and ethical conduct across the entity.  

 

The external and internal auditors attend these meetings, and have direct access to the committee 

chairperson. The Audit and Risk Committee met 10 times in 2014/15 and considered the following 

matters, among others:  

 The committee’s charter and internal audit charter. 

 The 2015/16 business plan. The committee recommended the business plan to the Board for 

approval. 

 Monitored management progress on resolution of internal and external audit findings. 

 Internal audit reports. 

 Enterprise-wide risk management framework. 

 Fraud and corruption management framework and policies.  

 Revised strategic risk register and related policies. 

 Internal audit three-year rolling plan. 

 Quarterly performance reports. 

 Quarterly risk management report. 

 

Due to the nature of the JDA’s business in a high-risk environment involving planning, development 

construction and procurement, the committee resolved to hold separate meetings to consider risk 

matters separately from audit and financial management-related matters. The Audit and Risk 

Committee, assisted by internal audit, continued to monitor the JDA’s internal control environment 
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and ensured that management continued to implement recommendations by internal audit in an effort 

to achieve a clean audit.  

  

 

Development and Investment Committee 

The Development and Investment Committee is responsible for evaluating development proposals 

and making recommendations to the Board. This entails examining the business cases associated 

with the proposed projects, such as the financing, socioeconomic returns and project risk profiles. The 

committee has seven members, two of whom are executive directors. During 2014/15, the following 

members served on the Development and Investment Committee: 

 W Thwala (chairperson) 

 C Coovadia  

 P Mashiane  

 K Govender  

 P Zagaretos 

 T Mendrew 

 Z Mafata. 

 

Meetings are held bimonthly or as required by the chairperson. The committee met six times in 

2014/15 and consolidated the following matters, among others: 

 Development contracting strategies for 2015/16 

 The 2015/16 business plan 

 Quarterly performance reports 

 Updates on development progress and challenges for all development portfolios. 

 

Human Resources and Remuneration Committee 

In line with corporate governance best practice, the Board maintains a Human Resources and 

Remuneration Committee. The committee is made up of four non-executive directors and is chaired 

by a non-executive chairperson. The members of the committee are: 

 E Harvey (chairperson) 

 P Masilo  

 N Selamolela 

 N Maila. 

 

The committee meets at least four times a year. The executive directors are excluded from the 

Human Resources and Remuneration Committee meetings when matters relating to their 

remuneration are discussed.  
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The committee is responsible for drafting human resources policies and strategies for the organisation 

and recommending the approval of the remuneration for the chief executive officer, senior executives 

and staff to the Board of Directors. It ensures that the remuneration of the chief executive officer and 

senior management are within the upper limits, as determined by the CoJ, in accordance with the 

provisions of section 89(a) of the MFMA. The remuneration of the chairperson, the non-executive 

directors and independent Audit and Risk Committee members is determined by the parent 

municipality. The committee deals with all matters that relate to the management of human capital in 

the entity. 

 

The committee met four times in 2014/15 to discuss: 

 Quarterly human resources reports 

 The employee climate survey progress report 

 The staff establishment report 

 Performance incentive bonuses for employees, including senior managers 

 Corporate social investments implementation reports 

 Job creation and Jozi@Work implementation reports. 

 

Social and Ethics Committee 

The Social and Ethics Committee acts as the social conscience of the business and ensures that the 

JDA conducts itself as a responsible corporate citizen. This means ensuring that the JDA conducts its 

business in a sustainable manner, having regard to the environment, fostering healthy relationships 

with all its stakeholders and considering the impact of its work within the community. The committee 

also considers the treatment of and investment in employees, health and safety practices, black 

economic empowerment and the ethical corporate culture. 

 

The following members served on the committee during the period under review: 

 P Mashiane (chairperson) 

 P Masilo  

 E Harvey 

 P Zagaretos 

 W Thwala 

 T Mendrew 

 Z Mafata. 

 

The committee met four times during 2014/15 to discuss: 
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 Marketing and communications progress reports 

 Stakeholder Engagement Plan progress reports 

 Enterprise development results for the period July 2014 to 30 April 2015 

 Quarterly ethics and fraud reports 

 Integrated occupational health and safety quarterly reports 

 Progress made in the development of SMMEs and impact on the enterprise development 

programme 

 Progress made in relation to the Alexandra renewal project close-out report 

 Corporate social investment implementation reports 

 Job creation and Jozi@Work implementation reports. 

 

Section 4: Directors’ remuneration 

Board of Directors and senior management remuneration and allowances for 2014/15 

Name Designation 

 
Salary/board 

fees  
R 

Pension 
R 

Bonus/board 
retention 

fees 
R 

Travel 
allowance 

R 

Total 
R 

Executive directors and senior management  

 C Botes  
Executive manager: 
development facilitation  

 936 840     -   15 000   951 840  

 S Genu  
Senior development 
manager  

 964 739   59 762   98 400   -   1 122 901  

 F Habib  
Executive manager: 
corporate services  

 464 093   42 436   -   -   506 529  

 S Lewis  
Executive manager: 
strategy and planning  

 741 088   33 764   175 525   -   950 378  

 Z Mafata  Chief financial officer   1 275 828   -   184 147   -   1 459 975  

 B Mbuli  
Executive manager: 
marketing and 
communications  

 555 671   -   77 264   165 000   797 935  

 T Mendrew  Chief executive officer  1 617 864   -   -   -   1 617 864  

 B Mbewu  Chief audit executive   812 806   45 474   -   120 000   978 280  

 A Noholoza  
Senior development 
manager  

 938 856   45 769   -   -   984 625  

 K Pather  
Executive manager: 
development 
implementation  

 888 184   88 838   -   96 000   1 073 022  

 HR Shirinda  Company secretary   902 216   43 262   -   -   945 478  

 V Tlomatsane  
Senior development 
manager  

 641 222   45 500   -   -   686 722  

 L Visagie  
Senior development 
manager  

 963 493   48 034   186 016   75 000   1 272 543  

 Subtotal   11 702 900   452 840   721 353   471 000   13 348 092  

 Non-executive directors and independent Audit Committee members  

 C Coovadia  Chairperson   141 564   -   39 675   -   181239  

 K Govender  Board member   267 058   -   19 840   -   286 898  

 E Harvey  Board member   140 327   -   19 840   -   160 167  

 N Maila  Board member   41 272   -   4 960   -   46 232  
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Name Designation 

 
Salary/board 

fees  
R 

Pension 
R 

Bonus/board 
retention 

fees 
R 

Travel 
allowance 

R 

Total 
R 

 P Masilo  Board member   93 713   -   19 840   -   113 553  

 P Mashiane  Board member   66 225   -   19 840   -   86 065  

 N Selamolela  Board member  100 650   -   19 840   -   120 490  

 W Thwala  Board member   122 572   -   19 840   -   142 412  

 P Zagaretos  Board member   61 270   -   4 960   -   66 230  

 M Dolamo  
Independent Audit & Risk 
member 

 17 112   -   -   -   17 112  

 B Kelly  
Independent Audit & Risk 
member 

 22 816   -   -   -   22 816  

 Z Samsam  
Independent Audit & Risk 
member 

 63 240   -   19 840   -   83 080  

 J Vergotine  
Independent Audit & Risk 
member 

 24 800   -   19 840   -   44 640  

 Subtotal   1 162 619   -   208 315   -   1 370 934  

 TOTAL   12 865 519   452 840   929 668   471 000   14 719 026  

 

The directors’ emoluments were taxed according to South African Revenue Services’ guidelines. 

Loans and advances 

In accordance with the provisions of the MFMA, the JDA has a strict policy in place that prohibits it 

from providing loans or advances to directors and employees; therefore, no loans or advances were 

made during the period under review. The agency did not provide loans to any organisation or person 

outside of or in the employ of the JDA. 

 

Section 5: Role of the company secretary 

All directors have access to the advice and services of the company secretary, HR Shirinda, who acts 

as the link between management, the Board and the shareholder. The company secretary is 

responsible for the flow of information to the Board and its committees and ensures compliance with 

Board procedures. In addition to various statutory functions, the company secretary provides 

individual directors and the Board as a whole with guidance on their duties, responsibilities and 

powers, as well as the impact of legislative and regulatory developments, while maintaining an arm’s-

length relationship with the Board.  

 

The Board has empowered the company secretary with the responsibility of advising the Board, 

through the chairperson, on all governance matters, including the duties set out in section 88 of the 

Companies Act. 
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Section 6: Risk management and internal control  

The JDA’s Board monitors risk through the Audit and Risk Committee, which ensures that there is an 

effective risk management process and system in place. This entails examining risks associated with 

proposed projects, such as the financing, risk returns and risk profiles. The committee also 

recommends risk strategies and policies that need to be set, implemented and monitored. The JDA 

Board is responsible for identifying, assessing and monitoring the risks presented by the Audit and 

Risk Committee.  

 

The JDA has a risk management strategy, which follows an enterprise-wide risk management system 

in which all identified risk areas are managed systematically and continuously at departmental level, 

and a risk register. The register is treated as a working risk management document because risks are 

constantly recorded and managed. Management monitors and evaluates the implementation and 

efficiency of controls and actions to improve current controls in the risk register. 

 

The JDA submits its risk management reports to the CoJ’s Group Risk and Governance Committee. 

The committee assesses all risk affecting the CoJ and its municipal entities in a holistic manner and 

makes recommendations to the City Manager and Council on the general effectiveness of risk 

management processes in the CoJ. 

 

Risk management process 

Risk identification and assessment is an ongoing process. The JDA conducts an annual strategic and 

operational risk assessment workshops. This process is supported by an ongoing risk management 

process at departmental level and all staff are encouraged to take ownership of their respective risks 

that fall under their areas of responsibilities. 

 

The following risk management documents were reviewed by the Audit and Risk Committee and 

approved by the Board during 2014/15: 

 Risk Management Framework 

 Risk Management Policy 

 Risk Management Strategy 

 Risk Management Implementation Plan 

 Risk Management Maturity Level Framework 

 Risk Management Tolerance Level Framework 

 Fraud Risk Management Policy 

 Whistle-blowing Policy 

 Fraud Prevention Strategy and Response Plan. 
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The Executive Committee and the Audit and Risk Committee will continue to monitor the 

implementation of the documents listed above to ensure that the organisation is proactive in 

addressing risks and strengthening its internal control environment. 

 

Strategic risk register 

The JDA’s risk management strategy is guided by the principles of the enterprise-wide risk 

management system. The JDA’s strategic risk register is treated as a working document. Identified 

risks are recorded and the management thereof is constantly monitored. Management monitors and 

evaluates the implementation and efficiency of controls.  

Effective risk management is fundamental to the JDA’s business activities. The organisation is 

committed to achieving its strategic goals and increasing shareholder value by facilitating, developing 

and implementing infrastructure projects on behalf of the CoJ. The JDA seeks to achieve an 

appropriate balance between risk and reward in the business. It continues to build and enhance the 

risk management capabilities that assist in achieving its goals in a controlled environment. 

The JDA conducts an annual strategic risk assessment workshop to ensure that there is a link 

between risk management and the business planning processes. A total of 15 strategic risks were 

identified in 2014/15 that are linked to eight JDA strategic objectives. Of the 15 strategic risks, 

management identified six critical risks that required urgent attention and close monitoring. These 

risks are ranked highly in accordance with the residual risks rating and pose significant threat to the 

business of the JDA. The critical risks identified were: 

 Inability to deliver capital projects on time and within budget 

 Inability to deliver the Alexandra renewal project mandate 

 Failure to adequately manage stakeholder expectations 

 Stringent supply chain management and National Treasury regulations 

 Failure to comply with supply chain management regulations and applicable laws 

 Failure of financial management processes. 

 

Implementation progress and impact analysis  

The JDA has committed to implement additional controls to address the above critical risks. Control 

effectiveness is measured by the JDA’s overall performance, compliance with applicable laws and 

regulations and total budget spent. During the reporting period, the JDA spent 87 per cent of its 

capital expenditure budget and its overall performance was sufficient and effective.  

At the beginning of 2014/15, the critical risks had a residual risk rating of medium after taking the 

current controls into account. This meant that management had to further mitigate current controls to 

further reduce the residual risk rating to an acceptable level. Four of the six critical risks were 
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successfully reduced to an acceptable residual risk rating through the implementation of committed 

additional controls. The remaining two risks were: 

 Inability to deliver the Alexandra renewal project mandate 

 Failure to adequately manage stakeholder expectations. 

 

Although significant work has been undertaken to address these risks, more work is needed to 

address the complexities experienced in Alexandra, Soweto and Kliptown during the implementation 

of projects. The critical challenges identified were as follows: 

 Lack of consensus on developmental outcomes 

 Unrealistic community expectations and service delivery protests 

 Lack of capacity and requisite skills to deliver projects in volatile areas 

 Risk management not fully institutionalised within the JDA. 

 

To address these challenges, the JDA will: 

 Develop a development facilitation and stakeholder management framework to effectively address 

how to implement projects with minimal resistance from key stakeholders. 

 Undertake a skills audit, develop a training programme on stakeholder engagement and 

management to capacitate facilitation and development managers, and ensure implementation of 

training. 

 Continue to exercise oversight of all strategic risks identified and ensure that committed actions 

are being implemented.  

 Embed risk management as one of the critical key performance indicators (KPIs) in all managers’ 

scorecards to ensure its full integration into day-to-day business activities and timely reporting on 

risk control implementation. 

 

Section 7: Internal audit function  

The JDA’s internal audit function subscribes to the International Standards for the Professional 

Practice of Internal Audit’s definition of internal audit: “an independent, objective assurance and 

consulting activity designed to add value and improve an organisation’s operations. It helps an 

organisation achieve its objectives by bringing a systematic, disciplined approach to evaluate and 

improve the effectiveness of risk management, control and governance processes.”  

 

The internal audit function, which is independent of all line and functional management, is established 

in terms of section 165 of the MFMA. Its responsibilities are defined by the Board’s Audit and Risk 

Committee, taking into account all relevant legislative, governance and professional requirements. 

The chief audit executive reports administratively to the chief executive officer and functionally to the 
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Audit and Risk Committee. In line with the corporate governance requirements in King III, the chief 

audit executive has a standing invitation to attend Executive Committee meetings but is not an 

executive manager. 

 

The internal audit function’s primary objectives are to assist the chief executive officer, the Audit and 

Risk Committee and other stakeholders in the effective discharge of their responsibilities, to provide 

strategic support to management, and to contribute to the establishment of adequate and effective 

systems of governance, risk management and internal control processes by providing 

recommendations to improve the effectiveness and efficiency of the JDA’s operations. 

 

The internal audit function finalised the preparation of its strategic rolling three-year internal audit plan 

for the three years ending 30 June 2018 and one-year operational plan for the year ending 30 June 

2015 in July 2014. The internal audit plan was approved by the Audit and Risk Committee in August 

2014. The plan is updated annually based on the risk assessment and other factors that may impede 

the planned execution. As a result, quarterly reports are prepared for the Audit and Risk Committee 

detailing performance against the annual internal audit coverage plan to allow for effective monitoring 

and possible intervention. 

 

As required by principle 7.3 and related recommended practices of King III, the internal audit function 

provided quarterly written assessment on the effectiveness of the company’s system of internal 

controls and risk management. The review included the assessment of governance, ethics, risk 

management, compliance with legislative requirements and internal controls. The internal audit 

function noted an improvement in the ethics, risk management, compliance and control environment 

compared to previous financial years. Overall, the JDA’s systems were rated as marginally effective. 

Governance was assessed as effective. 

 

Resourcing of the internal audit function 

The following human resources changes took place within internal audit during 2014/15: 

 The designation of internal audit supervisor, which previously existed within the internal audit 

structure, was changed to internal audit manager. 

 Five internal audit supervisors, including one temporary internal audit supervisor, resigned. 

 One internal audit learner resigned. 

 One internal audit manager joined the JDA in April 2015; a second one has been appointed, 

but is only expected to join in September 2015. 

 An internal audit learner joined in April 2015.  
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Progress against the approved internal audit plan 

The internal audit projects that were not completed by the end of 2014/15 were completed in August 

2015. The projects were delayed due to the late appointment of co-sourced service providers.  

 

The table below shows progress made in the execution of the approved strategic rolling three-year 

internal audit plan for the three years ending 30 June 2018 and one-year operational plan for the year 

ending 30 June 2015. 

 

Progress against the approved internal audit plan 

No. Project description Progress by 30 June 2015 

 

1 Financial discipline review Completed 

2 Supply chain management audit Completed  

3 IT audit Completed 

4 Performance bonus review 2013/14 Completed 

5 Quarterly performance management audit Completed 

6 Follow-up on internal audit findings Completed 

7 Follow-up on external audit findings Completed 

8 Preparation of the strategic three-year rolling internal audit plan for the three 

years ending 30 June 2018 and annual operational plan for the year ending 

30 June 2016 

Completed 

9 Review of the internal audit charter Completed 

10 Preparation of the internal audit competency framework Completed 

11 Third quarter governance, risk management and control processes 

assessment 

Completed 

12 Fraud risk management audit Completed 

13 Project management audit Planning 

14 Governance audit Completed 

15 Review of internal audit manual (methodology and policies) Completed 

16 Review of tenders above R10 million (review of 23 tenders completed) Completed 

17 Document management audit  Completed 

18 Human resource management: recruitment and selection Completed 

 

The one-year operational internal audit plan for the year ended 30 June 2015 was fully executed.  

 

Section 8: Corporate ethics and organisational integrity 

The JDA and its Board subscribe to high ethical standards and principles. The leadership provided by 

the Board is characterised by the values of responsibility, accountability, fairness and transparency, 

and has been a defining characteristic of the JDA since its establishment in 2001.  
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The JDA’s main objective has always been to do business ethically while building a sustainable 

company that recognises the short- and long-term impact of its activities on the economy, society and 

the environment. In its deliberations, decisions and actions, the Board is sensitive to the interests and 

expectations of the JDA’s stakeholders.  

 

Code of conduct 

The JDA’s code of conduct, which is fully endorsed by the Board, applies to all directors and 

employees. The code is consistent with schedule 1 of the Municipal Systems Act and the provisions 

of the CoJ corporate governance protocol for municipal entities.  

 

The code is regularly reviewed and updated as necessary to ensure that it reflects the highest 

standards of behaviour and professionalism. Through its code of conduct, the JDA is committed to: 

 The highest standards of integrity and behaviour in all its dealings with its stakeholders and 

society at large. 

 Fair commercial and competitive business practices. 

 Eliminating discrimination and enabling employees to realise their potential through continuous 

training and skills development. 

 Taking environmental and social issues into consideration. 

 Ensuring that all directors declare any direct or indirect personal or business interest that might 

adversely affect them in the proper performance of their stewardship of the entity.  

 

The code requires all staff to act with the utmost integrity and objectivity and in compliance with the 

law and company policies at all times. Failure to act in terms of the code results in disciplinary action. 

The code is discussed with each new employee as part of the induction process, and all employees 

are asked to sign an annual declaration confirming their compliance with the code. A copy of the code 

is available to interested parties on request. Non-adherence to the code or ethics-related matters can 

be reported to a toll-free, anonymous hotline. Any breach of the code is considered a serious offence 

and is dealt with accordingly; this acts as a deterrent. The directors believe that ethical standards are 

being met and are fully supported by the ethics programme. 

 

Declaration of interest 

In accordance with its code of conduct, the JDA maintains a register of directors’ declarations of 

interests. The register is updated annually and as and when each director’s declared interests 

change. A register is circulated at every Board and Board committee meeting for the directors to 

declare any interest related to every matter discussed at a particular meeting. 
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The JDA’s employee code of ethics and terms and conditions of employment require all employees to 

complete declarations of interest covering shareholding in private companies, membership of close 

corporations, directorships held, partnerships and joint ventures, remunerative employment outside of 

the JDA, gifts and hospitality, and the status of their municipal accounts. 

 

The JDA has a whistle-blowing hotline number, which it advertises in the offices and on its website. In 

addition, all JDA tender documents urge people to report fraudulent activities or maladministration by 

JDA employees on the hotline.  

 

Section 9: Sustainability report 

The Joburg 2040 GDS is driven by the goal of capable and capacitated communities and individuals. 

With this realised, the CoJ will be able to become a more sustainable, inclusive city in which people 

hold the potential and means to grow their neighbourhoods, their communities and themselves. A 

balanced focus on environmental management and services, good governance, economic growth, 

and human and social development will help in achieving a resilient and sustainable city – and a city 

in which all aspire to live. 

 

The JDA’s development approach is based on these objectives. The JDA’s work responds to the 

Joburg 2040 ideals of resilience, liveability and sustainability. While the work of the JDA is aimed at 

meeting cross-cutting objectives, it is institutionally located within the CoJ’s economic cluster. Within 

this cluster its aims are to develop a resilient, liveable, sustainable urban environment – underpinned 

by infrastructure that supports a low-carbon economy – in Johannesburg; and to create a job-

intensive, equitable and competitive economy. 

 

The JDA’s area-based development approach has evolved over the last 12 years. It begins by 

identifying the local competitive advantages, development needs and opportunities within the 

development area. Capital works projects are then used to catalyse private investment, enterprise 

and neighbourhood development. This area-based development approach ensures the long-term 

sustainability of the capital assets created by ensuring a greater focus on developing strategic capital 

works projects, facilitating development to increase the impact of public investments, and establishing 

urban management partnerships to ensure the sustainability of the public investments.  

 

During 2014/15, the JDA worked closely with the Department of Development Planning to 

communicate the strategic vision for the Corridors of Freedom and the CoJ’s spatial transformation 

objectives. The JDA also participated in stakeholder engagement regarding spatial transformation and 

urban planning and development good practices.  
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Relevant events and reports from 2014/15 included: 

 The Gauteng City Conference on reducing the cost of living.  

 The South African Planning Institute conference learning exchange in collaboration with the 

Department of Development Planning. 

 Hosting a community of practice learning on spatial transformation through planning.  

 Participating in the development and publication of a spatial transformation of cities report. 

 

Environmental impact  

Environmental sustainability plays an integral part in all of the JDA’s development projects, which all 

comply with environmental impact regulations. To minimise their environmental impact, all 

professional teams involved in preparing designs for the JDA are briefed to include the following 

environmental considerations: 

 The design of more permeable ground surfaces and soakaways or swales to reduce the 

stormwater run-off in areas upgraded by the JDA to achieve sustainable urban drainage 

standards. 

 Indigenous and water-wise planting in all landscaping interventions in compliance with City Parks 

requirements. 

 The environmental design for crime prevention guidelines as promoted by the City Safety 

Programme. 

 Environmental construction and infrastructure options such as energy-efficient lighting and 

rainwater harvesting. 

 Environmental health regulations for informal trading where the JDA upgrades trading and taxi 

facilities. 

 Including urban environmental management as an integral part of the urban regeneration projects 

that the JDA implements, such as the upgrading of parks, the construction of stormwater facilities 

and public transport infrastructure and facilities.  

 

Four major outcomes define the Joburg 2040 GDS. Outcome 2 highlights the need to “provide a 

resilient, liveable, sustainable urban environment – underpinned by infrastructure supportive of a low 

carbon economy”. The CoJ plans to lead in the establishment of sustainable and eco-efficient 

infrastructure solutions (for example, housing, eco-mobility, energy, water, waste, sanitation, and ICT) 

to create a landscape that is liveable, environmentally resilient, sustainable, and supportive of low-

carbon economy initiatives. Two of the JDA programmes, transit-oriented node development and 

greenways, are a direct response to Outcome 2.  

 



Johannesburg Development Agency: Integrated Annual Report 2014/15                                              Page  50  

JDA programmes that respond to Outcome 2 

Programme Outline  

Transit-oriented node 
development 

The transit-oriented node development programme encourages optimal development of transit hubs and corridors across the 
city, which provide access to affordable accommodation and transport, high-quality public spaces and amenities, and good 
community services.  

Greenways The greenways programme focuses on providing resilient, liveable and sustainable environments within the CoJ by using roads 
and transport modes to promote walking, cycling and sustainable public transport. This programme includes the continued roll-
out of the Rea Vaya BRT infrastructure and service. 

 

Within the greenways programme, for example, the Rea Vaya BRT service has the potential to 

reduce the city’s transport energy use and the associated carbon emissions in the medium term. The 

service is currently being used by up to 31 000 people per day, and there is potential to increase the 

numbers. In 2014/15, the JDA continued with a significant investment in NMT infrastructure, including 

a network of cycle lanes and pathways that will encourage the use of public transport by connecting 

station precincts with the NMT network. 

 

Social impact 

The JDA’s corporate social investment (CSI) policy provides the framework within which the CSI 

partnerships and initiatives work. These partnerships and initiatives must align with the JDA’s 

strategic objectives and priorities. Through CSI partnerships and initiatives, the JDA seeks to reduce 

poverty and inequality, promote civic engagement by improving stakeholder relations, promote social 

cohesion and build social capital. The implementation of the CSI policy is monitored by the Social and 

Ethics Committee. 

 

Along with some youth and sports projects, the JDA continued to support the education and training 

sector in 2014/15. The JDA spent R213 137 on CSI projects during 2014/15. 

 

Projects funded from CSI budget allocation  

CSI project Sector Activity  Date Amount 

 

Musenga Vhadzimu Primary 

School, Diepsloot 

(Makro)  

Regeneration/education 

 

Painted classrooms  

 

18 July 2014 R19 596.00 
 

Carter Primary School, 

Alexandra 

(Mjavino) 

Regeneration/education 

 

Fixed learners’ toilets 

  

Launch: 5 May 2015 R54 914.00 

Alexandra High School 

(NCNM) 

Regeneration/education 

 

Provided desks and chairs 

for learners  

3 June 2015  R74 074.00 

Launch Plaques 

(Trophy boutique) 

All Provided three launch 

plaques 

June 2015 R4 553.00 

The Ahmed Kathrada Golf 

Tournament 

(WoCom) 

Arts and culture 

 

Developed new talent  

 

23 September 2014 R60 000.00 

 

The projects below received R77 890.00 outside the CSI budget. 
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CSI projects funded from outside CSI budget  

CSI project Sector Activity  Date Amount 

 

Welizibuko Primary School 

hall 

Regeneration/educati

on 

 

Constructed the school hall  21 April 2015 Funded by 

development 

consultants 

The Inner City Ambassadors 

football club 

Community sport Youth and community 

development and 

empowerment 

17–19 July 2014 R15 000.00:  

JDA CEO’s 

budget 

Musenga Vhadzimu Primary 

School, Diepsloot 

Regeneration/educati

on 

 

Donated desks and chairs 

 

18 July 2014 R55 890.00: 

funded by 

Portfolio B 

 

Section 10: Anticorruption and fraud 

Financial crime and other unlawful conduct pose a threat to the JDA’s business and strategic 

objectives. The JDA supports government’s efforts to combat financial crime at all levels. The JDA, in 

its endeavour to combat financial crime, ensures compliance with all relevant legislation and 

regulations. The antifraud and anticorruption programme supports and fosters a culture of zero 

tolerance to fraud, corruption and unlawful conduct. 

 

Employees are regularly briefed and trained on fraud prevention, and the induction process for new 

employees is being revised to include information regarding fraud prevention. Strict payment 

management processes are in place and the Bid Evaluation Committee independently verifies 

whether preferred service providers can complete the work.  

 

The fraud risk register was approved by the Audit and Risk Committee on 28 May 2015 and the 

tracking and monitoring of the register will start in 2015/16. The strategic risk register identifies 

“fraudulent and corrupt activities” as a strategic risk with a high inherent risk rating and medium 

residual risk rating of nine. Two other strategic risks on the strategic risk register also identify fraud 

and/or corruption as a root cause that can potentially give rise to strategic risks. The strategic risk 

register sets out specific future actions to mitigate these risks, including conducting regular fraud risk 

assessments and creating fraud risk awareness.  

 

In 2013/14, the JDA reported a fraud incident, an investigation was undertaken and recommendations 

in the investigation report were implemented to prevent future fraud and corruption attempts and to 

strengthen internal controls. A criminal charge was opened with the South African Police Service, but 

the matter was closed after the concerned official committed suicide.  

 

Two fraud and corruption cases reported in 2014/2015 are currently being investigated. The JDA 

plans to improve internal controls and standardise the disclosure and reporting protocols. 
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A comprehensive and detailed fraud risk register that identifies, analyses and prioritises the 

prevention of fraud and corruption risks is attached as Annexure B to this report. 

 

Section 11: ICT governance 

In 2014/15 internet availability was 100 per cent (target: 100 per cent). The saturation index stood at 

over 90 per cent usage, a good indicator of value for money for the JDA, as it shows that connectivity 

resources are fully used. The JDA’s network infrastructure is able to meet the ever-increasing 

demands of the JDA. The network’s good performance in 2014/15 demonstrates the efficiency with 

which the network service provider is being governed by the JDA to ensure that their performance 

meets the JDA’s standards. 

 

The JDA’s IT infrastructure and systems are compliant with relevant regulations, including the MFMA 

and the Protection of Personal Information Act (2013). The JDA continues to apply the control 

objectives for information and related technology guideline and King III to ensure that sound ICT 

governance is adopted at all times at the JDA. The following service level agreements were 

concluded in 2014/15: 

 Internet services agreement 

 Backup and disaster recovery 

 Printing services 

 Great plains support  

 Development management information system. 

 

These service level agreements are in line with the control objectives for information and related 

technology governance framework, enabling the IT department to deliver exactly what is expected of 

it and ensuring that critical applications add value to the JDA’s business processes. 

The IT control environment continues to be improved through various initiatives that will not only 

ensure a clean audit, but also ensure that there are proper safeguards in place to mitigate and guard 

against any opportunities for malicious behaviour on systems.  

 

Section 12: Supply chain management and black economic empowerment 

The JDA’s supply chain management policy uses committee systems for the procurement of services 

and goods above specified limits. Existing committees include the: 

 Bid Specification Committee 

 Bid Evaluation Committee 

 Bid Adjudication Committee. 
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There are two bid adjudication committees, one for capital expenditure and the other for operating 

expenditure. The Capital Expenditure Bid Adjudication Committee members include the chief financial 

officer (chairperson), two senior development managers (whose bid is not being adjudicated on), the 

risk and compliance manager, the executive manager: development facilitation and the supply chain 

manager. The Operating Expenditure Bid Adjudication Committee includes the chief financial officer 

(chairperson), the supply chain manager, the executive manager: marketing, the IT manager, and the 

risk and compliance manager. Neither committee is authorised to make procurement decisions above 

R10 million.  

 

Enterprise development programme 

In line with national development and shared growth imperatives, the CoJ recognises that creating 

jobs and ensuring that SMMEs have access to procurement opportunities are essential elements of an 

economically viable city.  

Over the years, the JDA has established processes and practices to support job creation and 

enterprise and skills development for previously disadvantaged groups, including black people, 

women, youth and people with disabilities. But the impact of these processes and practices have not 

been adequately measured and reported on in the past. The agency has also recognised the need to 

consolidate and extend these practices by designing and implementing a programme that will drive the 

achievement of empowerment objectives, and align projects and approaches to address the 

challenges facing previously disadvantaged enterprises.  

In 2013/14, the JDA introduced an enterprise development programme to deliver a coherent approach 

to developing enterprises. It holds a series of workshops, courses and coaching sessions to achieve 

effective and sustainable empowerment and economic development results.  

The enterprise development programme aims to: 

 Develop skills and capacity within the construction industry in Johannesburg.  

 Optimise the JDA’s contribution to inclusive economic growth and empowerment and the 

transformation of the construction industry. 

 Establish a monitoring and reporting system to measure the programme’s impact. 

 

The programme applies the best practice enterprise development principles set out in the table below. 

 

Enterprise development principles and programme activities  

Enterprise development principle Application for the enterprise development programme 

Support emerging contractors (including 
making best use of contractors, with 
clear discontinuation criteria in the case 
of non-performance) 

 Assess emerging contractors holistically according to milestones and 
development targets (maintain a development framework for each 
contractor).  

 Apply progression and exit criteria to track and record results. 
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Enterprise development principle Application for the enterprise development programme 

Break “two economies” trends (do not 
perpetuate the situation of a well-
resourced formal sector vs. a poorly 
resourced informal sector) 

 Set targets within the JDA’s portfolio of projects for emerging 
contractor contracts (either directly through joint ventures or through 
subcontracts to main contractors).  

 Establish a database of emerging contractors linked to the 
Construction Industry Development Board register and customise 
support for a range of categories. 

 Design the enterprise development programme to progress from 
basic competencies to enterprise best practices and provide 
appropriate, targeted and accredited training. 

Reduce barriers to entry and 
progression in relation to JDA contracts  

 Ensure prompt payments. 

 Reduce tender complexity by standardising industry bid documents 
and introducing user-friendly tender procedures.  

 Where appropriate, introduce programme-level services such as 
insurance, combined materials purchase and finance guarantees to 
achieve economies of scale. 

 Provide training on winning work and information on work 
opportunities for future business planning. 

Limit dependency on enterprise 
development programme 
 

 Continuing Education and Training or other progression meeting 
Council for Built Environment requirements. 

 Holistic enterprise mentorship, from basic internships to strategic 
mentorships. 

 No reserved contracts – all participants must compete for work 
through normal procurement processes. 

Undertake systematic monitoring and 
evaluation of results and impact 

 Establish and maintain contractor databases. 

 Establish KPIs and targets against which to measure performance 
(scorecard approach). 

 Report quarterly on qualitative and quantitative data. 

 

The enterprise development programme is made up of the following components: 

 Emerging contractor development for SMMEs working on JDA projects (both subcontractors 

and those contracted directly by the JDA). This includes general training. 

 Training on winning business for SMMEs (with a focus on unsuccessful bidders identified 

through the JDA tender process). 

 

The enterprise development programme includes the following outputs and activities: 

 Designing an emerging contractor development programme framework for the JDA to implement 

over four years.  

 Drafting emerging contractor development guidelines for the JDA. The guidelines have been 

incorporated into the JDA’s operating manual. 

 Implementing the enterprise development programme in a coordinated way. This includes at least 

the following activities each year: 

o A workshop for representatives of SMME companies working on JDA developments that 

presents elements of the emerging contractor development programme.  

o Two accredited training opportunities on construction skills for construction workers on 

JDA projects. This training should complement training that is already provided by 

contractors and respond to the training needs of construction workers. 

o Training on preparing tenders for public-sector construction projects for representatives of 

companies from a JDA database of unsuccessful bidders. 
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 Developing a monitoring and reporting system for the enterprise development programme that 

includes: 

o A database of SMMEs contracted or subcontracted on JDA projects. 

o Assembling, verifying and collating the information required to update the database each 

quarter for the full term of the contract. 

o Analysing the effects and results of the emerging contractor development programme and 

writing quarterly reports, and adapting these reports for various oversight committees. 

o Coordinating a comprehensive and proactive administration system to ensure that all 

enterprise development programme participants (construction workers and SMMEs) 

receive formal recognition of participation (such as a JDA letter confirming training, 

certificates where possible, and completion of Construction Industry Development Board 

forms for registration purposes). 

 

The JDA continues to create jobs and economic development opportunities for small businesses 

through its construction programme. In line with the Jozi@Work developmental service delivery model 

outlined by the Executive Mayor in the 2014 State of the City Address, the agency implemented a 

portfolio-wide enterprise development programme in 2014/15. The programme has a new approach to 

contracting in selected developments, with a managing contractor responsible for subcontracting local 

SMME construction companies, and ensuring skills transfer within a construction contract period. The 

Jozi@Work approach requires the JDA to set new targets for capital and operating expenditure 

(contracted services and repairs and maintenance) through SMMEs. The agency will continue to 

implement the enterprise development programme in compliance with the Jozi@Work programme, 

along with a number of Jozi@Work packages in the next financial year.  

 

BBBEE and SMME spend as a percentage of total procurement 

The JDA reports on the BBBEE and SMME share of both actual expenditure and contractual 

commitments for all active contracts. The table below shows the BBBEE and SMME share of capital 

and operating expenditure. In 2014/15, the overall BBBEE share of expenditure was R1.46 billion. 

This constitutes an achievement of 108 per cent. This is largely due to the success achieved in 

awarding capital expenditure and operating expenditure contracts to BBBEE firms. The SMME share 

of JDA’s operating and capital expenditure was R390.3 million in 2014/15, or 29 per cent of the 

budget. 

 

 

 



Johannesburg Development Agency: Integrated Annual Report 2014/15                                              Page  56  

Summary of BBBEE and SMME expenditure
2
 

Description Total expenditure  
R’ 000 

BBBEE claimed R’ 
000 

BBBEE  
(%) 

SMME spent 
R’ 000 

SMME  
(%) 

 

 
Capital expenditure 

 
1 311 448 

 
1 436 754 

 
110 

 
370 482 

 
28 

 
Operating 
expenditure 

 
43 858 

 
29 300 

 
67 

 
19 859 

 
45 

Consolidated 
capital and 
operating 
expenditure 

1 355 307 
 

1 466 054 108 390 342 29 

The JDA uses various criteria for calculating the BBBEE claimed: 

 The JDA refers to people historically disadvantaged by unfair discrimination as historically 

disadvantaged individuals. This includes emerging SMMEs, as well as established businesses 

within those disadvantaged communities that were subjected to racial and ethnic prejudice 

and cultural bias, and whose ability to compete in the free market enterprise was impaired as 

a result of their identity as a group or individuals, without regard for their qualifications. 

 The preference system requires the protection and advancement of those historically 

disadvantaged by unfair discrimination. The JDA actively promotes the effective and efficient 

development of suppliers and contractors from historically disadvantaged communities. The 

government’s BBBEE policy is designed to create entry levels for targeted groups to enter the 

mainstream economy.  

 The following criteria, which were also adopted from the government’s procurement reform 

initiatives, will determine whether a business enterprise is regarded as a BBBEE enterprise: 

o The enterprise must be a legal entity 

o The enterprise must be at least two-thirds owned by one or more historically 

disadvantaged individuals 

o The enterprise must be managed and controlled by one or more historically 

disadvantaged individuals. 

 The enterprise must have an average annual turnover within prescribed limits. The 

Government Gazette Notice (8 June 2011) in terms of section 1(iii) of the Preferential 

Procurement Policy Framework Act (2000) states that: 

                                                

 

2
 Note: Any discrepancies between this table and the financial statements are due to timing differences between 

when the expenditure is captured in the Development Information Management System and the report on actual 
invoices paid. These variances are not significant and the ratios remain valid. 
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o “Tenderers with annual total revenue of R5 million or less qualify as Exempted Micro 

Enterprises in terms of the Broad-Based Black Economic Empowerment Act, and 

must submit a certificate issued by a registered auditor, accounting officer (as 

contemplated in section 60(4) of the Close Corporation Act, 1984 (Act No. 69 of 

1984)) or an accredited verification agency.” 

o “Tenderers other than Exempt Micro Enterprises must submit their original and valid 

BBBEE status level verification certificate or a certified copy thereof, substantiating 

their BBBEE rating.” 

 

 

Each service provider’s individual BBBEE rating affects the amount of expenditure the JDA can claim 

as being from a BBBEE-compliant service provider when calculating its preferential procurement 

points. The higher the service provider’s rating, the more expenditure can be claimed. If the agency 

buys from a level 1 service provider, it can claim 135 per cent of the actual expenditure. For example, 

if the JDA spends R10 000 with a level 1 service provider, it can claim R13 500 as BBBEE spend. If it 

spends R10 000 with a level 6 service provider, it can only claim R6 000. The JDA only claims 

100 per cent for service providers with BBBEE level 1 to 4 and 80 percent, 60 percent, 50 percent and 

10 percent for service providers with BBBEE level 5 to 8 respectively. 

 

The JDA confirms the validity of BBBEE certificates by verification agencies by tracing the name of 

the agency to the South African National Accreditation System’s list of accredited agencies. 

 

Each BBBEE level is translated into a BBBEE score reflected as a percentage. For example, BBBEE 

level 6 equals 60 per cent, while BBBEE level 1 equals 135 per cent. This is reflected in the table 

below. 

 

 

 

 

BBBEE 
status level 

of 
contributor 

BBBEE recognition 
(%) 

Number of points 

Tenders up to R1 million Tenders above R1 million 

1 135 20 10 

2 125 18 9 

3 110 16 8 

4 100 12 6 

5 80 8 4 

6 60 6 3 

7 50 4 2 

8 10 2 1 

Non-
compliant 

contributor 

0 
0 0 
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The graph below illustrates the aggregate value, per BBBEE level, of capital contracts awarded by the 

JDA together with their BBBEE value between 1 July 2014 and 30 June 2015. Note that the BBBEE 

value is determined using the percentage on the BBBEE score as outlined above.  

 

Aggregate value of capital contracts (BBBEE level and value)   

 

Supply chain deviations and approvals 

According to regulation 36(1)(a) of the Municipal Supply Chain Management Regulations, the 

accounting officer may dispense with normal procurement processes and procure the required goods 

or services through any convenient process, which may include direct negotiations, but only: 

 In an emergency 
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 If goods or services are available from a single supplier 

 If acquiring special works of art 

 If acquiring animals for zoos 

 In any other exceptional case where it is impossible or impractical to follow official procurement 

processes. 

 

To give effect to regulation 36, the CoJ’s supply chain management policy allows the accounting 

officer to deviate from normal procurement processes under the circumstances outlined above.  

 

In terms of regulation 36(1)(b), the accounting officer may ratify any minor breaches of the 

procurement processes by an official or a committee acting in terms of delegated powers that are of a 

purely technical nature. It should be noted that from 1 July 2014 to 30 June 2015 the following 

deviations and ratifications were approved by the accounting officer. 

 

Deviations and ratification register for 2014/15  

 2015 2014 

Supplier name Value 
(R) 

Value 
(R) 

Sinetech CC - 2 476 941 

Koketso Growth (Pty) Ltd 5 974 551 - 

GVK Siya Zama (Pty) Ltd 126 095 085 - 

MBP Earthworks 9 340 - 

Ditlodi Community Development Cooperative 968 604 - 

TOTAL 133 047 580 2 476 941 

 

Design, manufacture and erection of a monumental bronze statue of the late former President 

Nelson Mandela for the City of Ramallah in Palestine 

The accounting officer approved a deviation from normal supply chain processes as per regulation 

36(1)(a)(v) for the appointment of a service provider to design, manufacture and erect a monumental 

bronze statue of former President Nelson Mandela for the City of Ramallah in Palestine. The deviation 

was to shorten the tender advertising period from 14 days to 7 days. The reason for shortening the 

tender advertising period was due to the stringent timeframes to deliver the project. 

 

Appointment of a contractor for the construction of the inner-city commuter links phases 5 

and 6 

The accounting officer approved a deviation from normal supply chain processes as per regulation 

36(1)(a)(v) for the appointment of a contractor for the construction of the inner-city commuter links 

phases 5 and 6. The deviation was to shorten the tender advertising period from 30 days to 21 days. 

The tender was initially advertised publicly for 30 days; however, all submissions were found to be 
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non-compliant by the Bid Evaluation Committee. The tender was then re-advertised and due to the 

stringent timeframes the tender advertising period was shortened. 

 

Emergency repairs to burst geyser in tenant’s office space at the bus factory 

The accounting officer approved a deviation from normal supply chain processes as per regulation 

36(1)(a)(i) for the appointment of a service provider to undertake repairs to a burst geyser. The 

deviation was to get one quotation from one service provider instead of three quotations from three 

service providers in the JDA database. This was done to minimise further damage to property and 

goods as a result of the burst geyser.  

 

Appointment of service provider for community liaison services in Alexandra 

The accounting officer approved a deviation from normal supply chain processes as per regulation 

36(1)(a)(v) for the appointment of a service provider to manage community liaison officers based in 

Alexandra. The deviation from normal supply chain processes was to enter into direct negotiations 

with the cooperative formed by the community liaison officers to appoint them to continue to provide 

community liaison services for the Alexandra renewal project. Since the beginning of the Alexandra 

renewal project in 2001, the project has had the services of a group of community liaison officers. 

These community liaison officers were appointed by the Gauteng Department of Human Settlements 

through an independent service provider. The contract between the Gauteng Department of Human 

Settlements and the service provider came to an end on 31 March 2015. Replacing the group of 

community liaison officers through an open tender process would pose a serious threat to the delivery 

of projects in Alexandra, hence the deviation.  

 

Unsolicited bids 

The JDA made no unsolicited bids from 1 July 2014 to 30 June 2015. All procurement went through 

supply chain processes. According to regulation 44 of the Municipal Supply Chain Management 

Regulations, municipal entities are prohibited from awarding contracts to a person who is in the 

service of the state. To the best of its knowledge, having used reasonable endeavours to determine 

the facts, the JDA has not awarded any contract to a person who is in the employ of the state to date. 

No objections were received on tenders awarded. 
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CHAPTER 3: SERVICE DELIVERY PERFORMANCE 
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Section 1: Core business 

Strategic objectives 

The JDA has the following strategic objectives: 

 Restructure the city by developing defined, strategic geographic areas and the movement 

corridors that link them. 

 Promote economic growth by creating efficient and competitive business environments that 

cluster industries and function in these areas.  

 Turn around declining investment trends in these areas by upgrading public spaces, generating 

shared visions for future development and encouraging urban management partnerships. 

 Develop local economic potential in marginalised areas to promote access to jobs and markets. 

 Encourage sustainable energy consumption and land use in the city by developing strategic 

transit nodes and corridors. 

 Promote economic empowerment through the structuring and procurement of JDA developments. 

 Support productive development partnerships and cooperation between all stakeholders in these 

areas.  

 

Section 2: Day-to-day operations 

Programmes 

To achieve the above strategic objectives and priorities and to give effect to its new business model, 

the JDA has structured its operations around five substantive programmes and two operational 

programmes whose cross-cutting functions enable it to operate in an efficient and effective manner.  

 

The programmes are: 

 Programme 1: Inner-city transformation  

 Programme 2: Transit-oriented node development 

 Programme 3: GMS priority area planning and implementation  

 Programme 4: Greenways 

 Programme 5: Alexandra renewal project 

 Programme 6: Administration and management 

 Programme 7: Development facilitation. 

 

The five substantive programmes aim to restructure the spatial economy to give poor households 

better access to well-located accommodation, jobs and markets; to optimise land use and energy 

consumption; and to improve living standards and mobility for large numbers of people in well-

serviced and well-managed transit neighbourhoods. They are linked to three of the master 
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programmes outlined in the Joburg 2040 GDS, namely enabling resilience, inclusion and 

sustainability; enabling growth and job creation; and going green. Taken together, the transit-oriented 

node development and greenways programmes comprise the transit-oriented development 

intervention that will give effect to the Corridors of Freedom introduced in the 2013 State of the City 

Address. 

 

The two operational programmes support the JDA’s work. The Administration and Management 

Programme accommodates the chief executive officer, finance, internal audit, the company 

secretariat, marketing and communications, risk and compliance, supply chain management, IT, 

human resources and facilities management. The Development Facilitation Programme works closely 

with the development implementation, project development, land development and urban 

management support functions.  

 

Section 3: Highlights and achievements 

Capital expenditure is the primary measure of the JDA’s performance, and the budget for the capital 

projects to be implemented forms part of the agency’s annual business plan and scorecard. However, 

the JDA also receives additional capital projects to implement from the CoJ during the financial year, 

including after the mid-year budget review.  

 

In 2014/15, the JDA implemented 98 capital projects across seven programmes to the value of 

R1.46 billion, which is 87 per cent of the allocated budget of R1.68 billion as determined through the 

mid-year budget review. This implementation of capital projects lies at the heart of the JDA’s success.  

 

The major drivers of capital expenditure were the large construction works that are being undertaken 

on the Rea Vaya trunk route 1C along Louis Botha Ave, and the projects to install non-motorised 

transit (NMT) infrastructure, pedestrian and cycle paths along the Corridors of Freedom which will 

connect commuters with the Rea Vaya and Commuter Rail services. Most of the NMT projects are 

being implemented by small construction companies, so this means that the large scale infrastructure 

spending is also benefitting local businesses and creating local enterprise and job opportunities. 

Samples of the projects that were delivered in the City’s priority and marginalised areas include: 

 Diepsloot development includes the Ngonyama link road upgrade and new park (see photos 

below). 

 Kliptown development includes capital works within the WSSD to support activation of this public 

space and improve the functioning of community activities and urban management systems.  

 Sol Plaatjie human settlement includes the road and storm water upgrades in Sol Plaatjie for the 

CoJ Department of Housing. 
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 CoJ Clinics include the construction progress on at least 4 clinics for the CoJ Directorate of 

Health. 

 Alex Renewal Project, the portfolio of capital works projects includes clinic upgrades, open space 

upgrades and housing developments.  

 

 

 

The JDA’s staff complement has increased by 60 per cent over the past three financial years from 55 

permanent staff in 2012/13 to 86 permanent staff (including the Alexandra renewal project staff) in 

2014/15. In the same period, the capital expenditure budget increased by nearly 440 per cent. At the 

board meeting in June 2015, the Board of Directors agreed that the JDA should appoint 

nine additional staff.  

 

In 2014/15, the JDA awarded R1.28 billion in contracts to BBBEE service providers, which is 

91 per cent of the amount targeted for the year, and R390 million to SMMEs was reported as 

R390 million, or 29 per cent of the budget for 2014/15. 
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Section 4: Performance by programme 

The JDA’s progress towards achieving its KPIs is assessed using the performance scorecard, which 

measures performance in terms of both the JDA’s service delivery mandate and financial and other 

resource management processes. The scorecard targets, which are set and agreed on by JDA 

management, the Board and the CoJ, aim to improve the JDA’s performance and efficiency, and 

achieve longer-term goals for specific developments, such as area-based revitalisation. 

 

Key indicators, such as jobs created and capital expenditure to date, are measured and verified by 

independent quantity surveyors or project managers for each of the JDA’s developments. With regard 

to job opportunities created through the Expanded Public Works Programme (EPWP), the CoJ’s 

Economic Development Department independently verifies the JDA’s reported job numbers on a 

monthly basis. 

 

The KPIs set for each JDA substantive programme were: 

 Capital expenditure against budget. 

 Development progress against target. 

 Economic empowerment measures, including the number of short-term job opportunities created, 

BBBEE spend commitment as a percentage of total procurement (capital expenditure), and 

SMME spend commitment as a percentage of total spend (capital expenditure). 

 Productive development partnership measures, including positive media reports and number of 

tours or stakeholder events. 

For each programme, the KPIs are illustrated as follows: 

 Target achieved (95–100% rating) 

 Target partially achieved (80–94% rating) 

 Target not achieved (<79% rating) 

 

Operating expenditure is not reported per programme, but general commentary on operating 

expenditure against target for the JDA as a whole is provided in the financial review. 

 
Programme 1: Inner-city transformation 

Programme purpose: Manage the development of Johannesburg’s inner city through capital investment in 
selected areas by overseeing integrated investment by other departments and entities, and by facilitating 
partnership initiatives. 

 

This programme, which supports the Department of Development Planning’s Sustainable Human 

Settlements Priority Programme for 2014/15, strives to transform the inner city by applying transit-
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oriented development principles and strategies to improve liveability. The inner city is the primary 

transit node of Johannesburg, with over 1 million people (2011 estimate) moving through it every day. 

 

Guided by the CoJ’s inner-city transformation roadmap, the JDA focuses on strengthening the 

position of the inner city as a critical business and residential node and the primary gateway to transit 

networks for the CoJ; financial services networks for the city region; and cross-border trade networks 

for the African continent. The programme will be implemented in phases aimed at strengthening 

inner-city precincts, addressing movement challenges, and improving the quality of the built 

environment across the inner city. 

 

The inner-city transformation roadmap is the CoJ’s statement of intent for transforming 

Johannesburg’s inner city. This framework recognises the central role of the inner city as an entry 

point and a place of opportunity for many, including the poor. Through the inner-city transformation 

roadmap, the CoJ and multiple stakeholders can collectively pursue the vision of the inner city as “a 

place of opportunity: a well-governed, transformed, safe, clean and sustainable inner city of 

Johannesburg, which offers high-quality, sustainable services; supports vibrant economic activity; and 

provides a welcoming place for all residents, migrants, commuters, workers, traders, investors and 

tourists.” 

 

The programme includes elements of transit-oriented node and corridor development. Precinct 

developments are designed to respond to local conditions, needs and advantages, and to achieve 

economic, social and sustainable development outcomes. 

 

The transit precincts that are being developed in the inner city are the Park Station precinct and the 

Westgate Station precinct. Beyond these nodes, other precinct and corridor projects that are intended 

to improve the productivity, inclusivity and liveability of the inner city as a safe, clean and sustainable 

neighbourhood that serves its growing population include the Hillbrow Tower precinct, inner-city public 

places challenge, inner-city core public environment upgrade, Eastern Gateway precinct, intelligent 

operations centre, Beyers Naudé Square monument and Kazerne property development. 

 

New technical assistance projects valued at R84.5 million include building an intelligent operations 

centre for emergency management services, demolishing the Kazerne Parkade for transportation, 

implementing capital works projects for the national Department of Arts and Culture in Newtown, and 

installing a public artwork on Beyers Naudé Square for the Directorate of Arts, Culture and Heritage. 
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Performance against KPIs  

Programme 1: Capital expenditure 

KPI 
 

Business 
Plan 

Budget 
R m 

Adjusted 
Budget 

R m
3
 

2014/15 
Annual 
Target 

2014/15 
 Actual 

2014/15 
 Variance 

2014/15
Achieve

ment 
score 

Explanation of 
progress, variations 

and steps to be taken to 
improve performance 

(as at end of June 2015) 

Percentage of capital budget spent 205 304.75 100%  82%  18% 





Some projects were delayed due 
to longer-than-anticipated public 
participation processes or 
unfavourable land conditions. 

 

Programme 1: Development progress per project 

KPI 
 

2014/15 
Annual Target 

2014/15 
 Actual 

2014/15 
 Variance 

2014/15 
Achievem
ent score 

Explanation of progress, variations 
and steps to be taken to improve performance 

(as at end of June 2015) 

 
 
Park Station precinct: Inner-city 
Commuter Links Phase 54 
 

100% 40% 60% 

 
Concept and detail designs have been completed, tendered 
and adjudicated and the project is ready for award. The award 
has, however, been delayed as temporary taxi ranking and 
parking facilities are still being identified. The site development 
plan has been submitted and, once approved, an application 
for a section 7-6 will be submitted for the works to commence. 
Construction due to start in July 2015. Formal request for roll-
over and adjustment of 2014/15 unspent budget. JDA and 
Transportation have identified certain sites for possible 
relocation and are pursuing negotiations with property owners.  
Going forward the best suitable site for ranking is Joubert Park 
and Con hill for holding in addition to the properties identified.  
Due to the delays, the spent for the year was 77%. The 
programme will take 22 months to complete 

Park Station precinct: Jack Mincer 
taxi facility extension (detailed 
design and phase 1) 

 
 
Park Station  Precinct: African 
Food Hub Phase 2 
 

100% 100% 0% 

 
Project completed on 31 March 2015 excluding the pavilion. 
The wood structure component of the pavilion is under 
construction and the JDA still has to give the go-ahead for the 
concrete foundations. 

 
 
Park Station Precinct: Housing 
property developments Phase 1 
 

40%  90% +50% 

 
The JDA identified a property in the Park Station precinct for 
affordable housing, a valuation was conducted, and an offer 
submitted and accepted, with funds held in trust. The transfer 
of the property will be concluded following Council approval. 

Westgate Station precinct: 
Relocation of Selby depot (phase 
1) 
 

100% 10% 90% 


The site was extensively undermined and highly contaminated 
by nuclear waste, causing delays. The JDA plans to purchase 
the adjacent site, the old Kazerne building, to accommodate 
the depot. 

Hillbrow Tower precinct (phase 1 
and 2) 
 
 

Phase 1 – 
100% 

 

Phase 1 – 
100% 

 

0% 

 
Phase 1 contractor achieved practical completion on 31 March 
2015, but was penalised for not completing the work on time. 
Phase 2 construction started on 5 June 2015 and is expected 
to finish on 5 February 2016. There were delays as property 
owners objected to the rationale of the project and urban 
management issues in the area. A development facilitation 
intervention between the JDA and the Region and the local 
property owners has been established to ensure that issues 
are addressed and that construction can continue.  

Phase 2 – 
100% 

 

Phase 2 – 
45% 

 

55% 



 
Inner City Core Public 
Environment Upgrade (Phase 2.1) 
 
 

100% 43% 57% 


Construction is under way and the expected end date is 26 
February 2016. 

Eastern Gateway precinct: 
development framework and 
implementation plan 
 

 100% 0% 100% 


Consultants were only appointed on 12 June 2015 to compile 
an urban development framework for the area. This has 
catalysed the acceration of discussions with Eastern Gateway 
stakeholders towards the formation of an Eastern Gateway 
forum to fast track the project. 

                                                

 

3
 Note that the adjusted budget reflected is the final budget as approved by the CoJ and not the proposed budget amount reflected in the 

mid-term scorecard. 
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KPI 
 

2014/15 
Annual Target 

2014/15 
 Actual 

2014/15 
 Variance 

2014/15 
Achievem
ent score 

Explanation of progress, variations 
and steps to be taken to improve performance 

(as at end of June 2015) 

Inner-city public places challenge 
partnership projects round 3 
Public Places Partnership 
Programme Round 3 

100% 100% 0% 

 
Project is completed. 

Installation of Beyers Naudé 
Square monument 

 
 

100% 90% 10% 

 
The artwork is completed; the installation was planned for July 
2015. 

Kazerne property development 
Phase 1 
 

100% 85% 15% 

 
Construction for piling, bulk earthworks and lateral support is 
expected to be completed by end July 2015. Tender for the 
appointment of main contractor for the building works will 
commence mid-July 2015. 

Johannesburg Art Gallery (2014/15 
upgrade) 

100% 44% 56% 

 
Construction is under way. Delays in obtaining approvals for 
the heritage permit delayed project completion. Furthermore, 
materials need to be imported from overseas to complete the 
roof repairs. In 2015/16, preliminary planning and design work 
will be completed to prepare for a major refurbishment of the 
Johannesburg Art Gallery. The scope of work includes 
structural repairs, and waterproofing the entire centre. 

Museum Africa (2014/15 upgrade) 100% 64% 36% 

 
Construction is under way. Delays in obtaining approvals for 
the heritage permit resulted in delays in completion. 
 

 

Programme 1: Economic empowerment  

KPI 2014/15  
annual target 

2014/15 
actual 

Variance Achievem
ent score Explanation of progress 

Number of short-term EPWP job 
opportunities created through 
programme 1 construction 
contracts 

1 100 1 152 52 

 
No variation,  target achieved. 

BBBEE expenditure share as a % 
of total capital expenditure over 
the same time period 

100% 120% 20% 

 
No variation,  target achieved. 

SMME expenditure share as a % of 
total capital expenditure over the 
same time period 

30% 10% 20% 

 
Target not achieved 

Of which: Jozi@Work SMME 
expenditure share as a % of total 
capital expenditure over the same 
time period 

5% 0% 5% 

 
Target not achieved 

 

Programme 1: Productive development partnerships 

KPI 2014/15  
annual target 

2014/15 
actual 

Variance Achievem
ent score Explanation of progress 

Positive media reports as a % of the 
total number of media reports on the 
JDA in the Johannesburg inner city 

90% 98%  
 

8% 

 
No variation,  target achieved. 

Number of property developments 
facilitated by the JDA in the 
Johannesburg inner city 

2 1 1 

 
Target not achieved 

 

Expenditure overview and explanations  

                                                

 

5
 Note that the adjusted budget reflected is the final budget as approved by the CoJ and not the proposed budget amount reflected in the 

mid-term scorecard. 

Project 
 

Business Plan 
Budget 

R m 

Adjusted 
Budget 

R m
5
 

2014/15 
Actual Expenditure 

R m 

Variance Explanation of  
variations 

 
Park Station precinct: Inner-city Commuter 
Links Phase 5 

40.0 53.0 40.83 12.2 Previous financial year commitments 
carried over to new financial year. 

Park Station precinct: Jack Mincer taxi facility 
extension (detailed design and phase 1) 
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The capital expenditure target of 100 per cent was not achieved. Programme 1 spent 82 per cent, or 

R250 million, of the R304.7 million budget by the end of June 2015. Most of the budget was spent on 

the Jack Mincer/commuter links project, which was delayed due to challenges in obtaining temporary 

taxi rank and taxi holding facilities close to the current facility. The JDA is finalising an alternative 

relocation plan, which will use CoJ-owned property located close to the current taxi facility. In the 

meantime, all procurement processes have been concluded and once the negotiations for the 

alternative site are finalised, the JDA will be able to reallocate taxi operations and commence with 

construction to complete it within the current medium-term revenue and expenditure framework. 

 

The Westgate Station precinct project also experienced delays. Detailed studies revealed that the site 

was extensively undermined and highly contaminated by nuclear waste. In 2015/16, the JDA will plan 

and undertake proper studies before allocating capital budgets for construction.  

 

 
Park Station  Precinct: African Food Hub 
Phase 2 
 

15.0 19.0 19.1 (0.1) No variation, project expenditure spent 
as planned. 

 
Park Station Precinct: Housing Property 
Developments Phase 1 
 

13.0 11.0 0 11  

Westgate Station precinct: 
Relocation of Selby depot (phase 1) 

15.0 9.75 1.58 8.17 Previous financial year commitments 
carried over to new financial year. 

Hillbrow Tower precinct  
(phase 1 and 2) 

20.0 20.0 19.99 0 No variation, project expenditure spent 
as planned; project to be implemented in 
two financial years: 2014/15 and 
2015/16. 

Inner-city core public environment upgrade 15.0 15.0 9.03 5.97 Delays in finalising the designs affected 
the time for the appointment of the 
contractor. 

 
Eastern Gateway precinct: development 
framework and implementation plan 
 

1.0 1.0 0.62 0.38 Funds were for planning and JDA 
contributions to the Bruma Lake 
development. Planning has been moved 
to next year. 

 
Public Places Partnership Programme Round 
3 
 

10.0 19.0 19.45 (0.45) No variation, project expenditure spent 
as planned. 

 Installation of Beyers Naudé Square 
monument 

1.0 1.0 1.0 0 No variation, project expenditure spent 
as planned. 

Kazerne Property Development Phase 1 
 

50.0 71.5 65.6 5.9 Delay in the award of the new contractor 
due to negotiations with South African 
Post Office. 

 
Johannesburg Art Gallery (2014/15 upgrade) 

0.0 15.0 3.79 11.21 Contract awarded late due to delays in 
obtaining requisite approvals. 

 
Museum Africa (2014/15 upgrade) 
 

0.0 5.0 4.95 0.05 No variation, project expenditure spent 
as planned. 

Additional projects  

Bruma Lake rehabilitation 0.0 51.5 51.5 0 No variation, project expenditure spent 
as planned. 

Intelligent operations centre 4.0 12.0 11.95 0.05 No variation, project expenditure spent 
as planned. 

Housing implementation support (public 
environment upgrades in new housing 
neighbourhoods) 

1.0 1.0 0.699 0.30 This reflects savings on a property 
acquisition deal. 

TOTAL 304.75 250.09  54.68  
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The Johannesburg Art Gallery project experienced delays due to poor planning. The JDA failed to 

obtain heritage permits in time and certain heritage material had to be imported. As this is a two-year 

project, project implementation will continue in the new year and is expected to be completed before 

the end of the second quarter. 

 

Overall, eight projects achieved development progress targets against the completion of works 

targets. The underachievement is due to delays during project planning in obtaining approvals, 

environmental challenges and property owners’ objections. Other projects are multi-year projects so 

construction will continue without pause into 2015/16.  

 

A total of 1 152 jobs were created in programme 1, which is slightly more than the annual target of 

1 100. 

 

EPWP employment opportunities 

 
Jul Aug Sep 

 
 

Oct 

 
 

Nov 

 
 

Dec 

 
 

Jan 

 
 

Feb 

 
 

Mar 

 
 

Apr 

 
 

May 

 
 

Jun 

 
 

Tota
l 

Achiev
ement 
score 

Project  Number of short-term EPWP job opportunities created 

Hillbrow Tower precinct phase 1 28 34 46 45 52 52 57 68 0 0 0 5 387 

 
African food hub 0 0 0 10 20 33 32 32 22 0 0 0 149 

 
Bruma Lake rehabilitation 13 13 17 20 20 32 16 26 36 21 25 42 281 

 
Inner-city public places 
challenge 

55 68 68 0 0 0 0 0 0 28 35 35 289 

 
Museum Africa 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 10 10 20 

 
Johannesburg Art Gallery 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 10 10 20 

 
Kazerne property development 0 0 0 0 

0 
0 0 0 0 0 0 6 6 

 
TOTAL 96 115 131 75 92 117 105 126 58 49 80 108 1 152 

 
 

Additional projects 

KPI 
 

2014/15 
Annual Target 

2014/15 
 Actual 

2014/15 
 Variance 

Explanation of progress, variations 
and steps to be taken to improve performance 

(as at end of June 2015) 

Bruma Lake rehabilitation - 98% N/A A bridge cable will be imported from Dubai, causing project delays. The 
expected date of completion is 24 August 2015.  

Intelligent operations centre - 100% N/A Project is completed. Testing, some troubleshooting and documentation 
may run over into June 2015. 

Housing implementation support (public 
environment upgrades in new housing 
neighbourhoods) 

- 75% N/A The consultants have completed the status quo analysis, report and 
action plan for housing in the inner city. An extensive new precinct-by-
precinct analysis provides key insights into housing. The report and 
action plan will be submitted to Council for approval. 
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Progress on projects 

Park Station precinct  

The Park Station precinct is the primary transit interchange in the city region, with over 1 million 

commuters passing through this precinct as rail, bus or taxi passengers. The Park Station precinct is 

a busy and vibrant part of the inner city. It has significant problems with congestion (both vehicular 

and pedestrian), conflict between people and vehicles, and conflict between informal traders, 

pedestrians and retailers. There are also a number of urban management issues that can be 

addressed partly through environmental design. Priorities include the provision of safe play spaces for 

children, more green space, markets for informal traders, managed parking, more taxi and transit 

facilities, public toilets, and safe walking space for pedestrians and cyclists. There are four precinct 

level plans that are relevant to this area: 

 Park Station urban design framework and heritage management plan (2007) 

 Braamfontein scoping study (2010) 

 Newtown urban development framework (2003) 

 Art Gallery Rea Vaya Station precinct urban design study (2012). 

 

JDA projects in the Park Station precinct in 2014/15 included the inner-city commuter links project; the 

inner-city core; the African food and culture hub project; a project to assemble properties for housing; 

and an extension to the Jack Mincer taxi facility.  

 

Inner-city commuter links project 

This project is halfway through a six-year budget allocation. The first phase of the project, which 

began in 2010/11, involved upgrading identified streets, sidewalks, and public spaces that serve as 

commuter links within the inner city, primarily stretching from Braamfontein to the CBD. In the same 

year, new closed-circuit television (CCTV) cameras were installed in the Johannesburg Art Gallery-

Rea Vaya Station precinct, and Bok Street was upgraded from Wanderers Street to King George 

Street and along an upgraded pathway through Joubert Park, which in effect linked Bok Street to the 

Rea Vaya Station on Twist Street.  

 

The second phase, which began in 2011/12, focused on the JAG-Rea Vaya Station precinct and 

included upgrading street and pedestrian lighting, building pedestrian infrastructure along Twist/Troye 

Street and optimising access, egress and circulation for the Jack Mincer taxi facility.  

 

The project’s third and fourth phases (2012/13 and 2013/14) focused on the upgrade of the Noord 

and King George Street markets. These streets were earmarked for prioritisation in the inner-city 

urban design implementation plan, the Joubert Park – JAG precinct urban design study and in the 
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Gautrain Park Station precinct urban development framework. These streets are a heavily 

pedestrianised route lined with traders, which serves as an important link between public transit 

facilities such as Park Station, Park City taxi rank, the Jack Mincer taxi rank and the Rea Vaya Station 

on Twist Street. The route also links these transport facilities to the Bridge Shopping Centre and to 

Park Central Shopping Centre. Completed sections include Noord Street between Klein and Hoek 

Streets, and King George between De Villiers and Plein streets. The railway embankments adjacent 

to Noord Street have been stabilised. 

 

In 2014/15, some of the deliverables of the fifth phase were completed, including the upgrade of the 

linear markets project along Noord Street between Twist and Klein streets, and on King George Street 

between Noord and De Villiers streets. In addition, the consultation and design process will begin for 

the first phase of railway line decking to create a new public square as a reception space in front of 

the Joburg Art Gallery. The deck design and construction will require consultation with the Passenger 

Rail Agency of South Africa, design approval from the Johannesburg Property Company and the 

Johannesburg Roads Agency, and a detailed engineering design and costing analysis in 2015/16. An 

indicative budget of R90 million has been allocated for the deck construction, but this will have to be 

adjusted once the designs are finalised and approved. 

 

African food and culture hub project 

The project aims to create a new public space and facility in the Park Station precinct that can 

accommodate a food institute that will implement a range of programmes to: 

 Develop the food industry in the Gauteng city region through awareness raising and training, 

industry networking, and value chain and clustering analysis and strategy. 

 Publicise and promote food services and businesses in the Park Station precinct and the inner 

city. 

 Manage the facility and the new public square as an information hub for food businesses and 

activities, a small market for informal food traders, and a venue for food industry training, 

events and food-themed festivals. 

The detailed design work and implementation of identified upgrades have been phased over two 

financial years from 2013/14. In 2013/14 the JDA spent R3 million on detailed designs, community 

participation processes, stakeholder negotiations and initial construction to create a new public 

square on Eloff Street in the Park Station precinct. In 2014/15 the bulk of the public environment 

upgrade work was completed.  

 

Housing property development project 
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This project responds to the need to deliver housing to the poorest of the poor and the need for 

transitional and emergency housing to accommodate people evicted from buildings within the inner 

city. The JDA will use some of the inner-city upgrading budget to purchase and develop a small 

portfolio of buildings in the Park Station precinct, which will be managed by Joshco or other registered 

social housing institutions. One building was purchased for development of inner-city social housing in 

2014/15. 

Jack Mincer taxi facility (Noord Street) project 

The project aims to extend the taxi facility, which was designed and built by the CoJ in 2000, to 

accommodate some of the taxis that currently rank and hold in the streets within the Park Station 

precinct. The project budget is about R50 million over two financial years. In 2014/15, the designs 

were completed and the supply chain management process finalised for the appointment of a 

contractor. Construction could not commence as the JDA and the Transportation Department were 

unable to obtain alternative taxi holding facilities. 

 

Westgate Station precinct  

The Westgate Station precinct, which is located in the south-western corner of the Johannesburg 

inner city, is characterised by a multimodal public transport interchange, which includes the Westgate 

train station that is owned and operated by the Passenger Rail Agency, two Rea Vaya BRT stations, a 

minibus taxi rank and holding facilities for Metro Bus, as well as privately owned national long-

distance and cross-border buses. The precinct is also strategically located south of the Newtown 

cultural precinct, west of the Main Street Mall upgrade, and adjacent to the old Chinatown and 

Diagonal Street upgrades carried out by the JDA in previous years, and the structural repair and 

refurbishment of Chancellor House in 2010/11. 

 

The transport interchange is surrounded by several large parcels of vacant and underdeveloped land, 

which are mostly privately owned. The development lease for the Westgate Station has been 

awarded to Inkanyeli Properties and the building plans have been submitted to the CoJ for approval. 

A third phase of work was implemented in 2013/14 at a cost of R40 million. This included the 

continuation of the public environment upgrade project along selected streets within the precinct and 

the upgrade of the Westgate rank, which included making access and egress changes, building a new 

taxi rank and bus shelters, landscaping, building a formal trading area for informal traders, and 

upgrading the existing ablution block, among other things.  

 

Pikitup’s Selby depot is located in the Westgate Station precinct. This site is optimally located for 

development as a residential node with some convenience retail. The depot needs to be relocated in 

order to release the land for development. In 2013/14 an options analysis was completed to provide 

Pikitup with a set of alternative sites to choose from. The preferred site is in Doornfontein. It is owned 
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by the CoJ and is within the inner-city collection range. In 2014/15 a study of the site was conducted 

to determine its suitability for the purpose. The study revealed that the site was extensively 

undermined and highly contaminated by nuclear waste. This caused delays and meant that the funds 

could not be fully spent in the financial year. The planning phase will continue in 2015/16 and the 

project is expected to be implemented in 2016/17.  

  

Hillbrow Tower precinct  

Hillbrow is a famous neighbourhood in the inner city of Johannesburg. The inner-city skyline is 

dominated by the Hillbrow Tower; its silhouette is a key feature in most graphic images of 

Johannesburg, including the CoJ’s logo. This densely developed part of town has always played a 

role as a reception area for new immigrants to the city. Hillbrow also has a reputation as a dangerous 

area that is plagued by social problems related to overcrowding, crime, prostitution and drug-dealing.  

 

As part of the Inner City Charter commitments between 2007 and 2012, the CoJ invested almost 

R150 million through the JDA in Hillbrow, Berea and Yeoville in 2007/08. The work included improving 

the sidewalks, kerbs and lighting, planting trees along key streets, upgrading five parks (Pieter Roos, 

Donald Mackay, JZ de Villiers, Alec Gorshel and Le Roith) and installing public artworks. In 2008/09, 

the Ekhaya Neighbourhood Park was developed and Pullingerkop Park upgraded.  

 

The inner-city transformation roadmap of 2013 recognises Hillbrow’s importance as a development 

node and recommends that the area-based development approach should be continued in order to 

make the area more liveable and sustainable. In 2013/14 the JDA began a new area-based 

development in the Hillbrow Tower precinct, which will include capital works to strengthen pedestrian 

connections, accommodate art traders, upgrade recreation facilities and improve safety.  

 

In 2013/14 an initial amount of R5 million was used to develop a design plan for the precinct and to 

commence with the implementation of public environment upgrading along selected streets within the 

precinct. Road upgrades included paving and widening sidewalks, kerbing, resurfacing and road-

marking, clearing stormwater inlets, installing new street furniture (including benches, bins, bollards 

and signage), planting trees, and installing or upgrading street and pedestrian lighting. Areas for road 

narrowing to make more space for pedestrians, new parking and loading arrangements were 

identified. 

 

The Hillbrow Tower precinct is defined by the walking radius of about 1 km around the Hillbrow Tower 

and transects the Hillbrow and Berea areas, which are roughly bounded by Clarendon and Willie 

streets in the north, Joe Slovo Drive in the east, Smit Street in the south and Hospital Street in the 

west. The purpose of the project is to create a pedestrian-friendly, safe and walkable urban 

environment through the establishment of a network of public spaces. As a key part of the 
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development facilitation work in this area, the JDA has engaged Telkom to establish an enterprise 

hub at the base of the Hillbrow Tower and to create economic development opportunities for the 

creative industries in Hillbrow. In addition, public environment upgrades along Goldreich Street were 

completed in 2014/15. The construction of phase 2, which includes public environment upgrades for 

streets that connect into the precincts, will continue without pause into 2015/16. 

 

Inner-city core public environment upgrade 

Against the backdrop of the inner-city urban design implementation plan, the CoJ prioritised the inner-

city core for public environment upgrading in years three and four of the Charter implementation 

period. It is funded through the inner-city upgrading capital allocation in the budget of the Department 

of Development Planning and Urban Management and implemented by the JDA.  

 

The upgrade of the inner-city core began with the retail improvement district project, which was 

started in 2008/09. The JDA began by upgrading the lighting in this area and produced an urban 

design framework that identified public environment projects for implementation. Two projects 

identified in the plan were then designed for implementation in 2009/10: the upgrade of the Ernest 

Oppenheimer Park and a food court on Kerk Street at Von Brandis Street.  

 

In 2014/15, a budget for the continuation of the inner-city core public environment upgrade project 

was proposed. Continuing from the previous year’s work, the purpose of the development was to 

create a pedestrian-friendly and walkable urban environment through the establishment of a network 

of public spaces. The project sought to improve continuity and connectivity for pedestrians to and 

between places of work, public transport and other facilities. It will also strive to improve access to 

spaces for recreational and social purposes.  

 

Eastern Gateway precinct  

In 2011, the City of Ekurhuleni announced a new city development strategy that included the 

construction of an aerotropolis around OR Tambo International Airport. The connections between the 

aerotropolis and the inner city of Johannesburg are important at a city region scale. There are also 

important economic developments taking place on the eastern side of the inner city, including 

Maboneng, Ellis Park and Jeppestown, and adjacent to the inner city, including the new Chinatown in 

Cyrildene and Bruma Lake. 

 

The Eastern Gateway development is a new area-based development for the JDA. In 2014/15 the 

anticipated scope of work was for future capital work investments and the public participation process 

to ensure that this development responds to community needs. However, the project could not be 

initiated due to capacity challenges in the JDA’s planning department and funds had to be moved to 

contribute to the capital works for the Bruma Lake rehabilitation project. 
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Inner-city public place challenge 

In the last 11 years, the JDA has played a strategic role in investing municipal funds in capital works 

projects that catalyse private investment in key areas in the inner city. In all JDA developments, a 

partnership with the private property owners, investors, businesses and residents is an integral part of 

the development approach. These collaborations are usually built around neighbourhood 

development plans with medium- to long-term delivery timeframes. But there are examples of smaller 

partnership projects where the JDA has co-invested with private stakeholders within the framework of 

a management agreement within public space. These include the Main Street Mall, the Joubert Street 

market, Ekhaya Neighbourhood Park and sanitary lanes in Hillbrow and Berea. 

 

In 2012/13 the JDA committed to three co-funded public environment projects: one to upgrade the 

Braamfontein alleyways in partnership with the Braamfontein Improvement District; one to upgrade 

streets in the Maboneng precinct with Propertuity; and one to upgrade streets in the Hotel precinct 

with Lionshare Properties. The Hotel precinct upgrade was implemented in 2013/14 at a cost of about 

R2.5 million.  

 

In 2014/15, the programme partnered with the University of the Witwatersrand to support the 

development of an information technology education hub in Braamfontein. This partnership will give 

effect to some of the innovation objectives of the Corridors of Freedom. Several streets linking the 

information technology education hub to the main campus of the university were upgraded, including 

Henry Station, Juta, De Korte and Jorrissen streets. 

 

Housing implementation support  

In terms of the inner-city transformation roadmap, the CoJ Department of Housing and Joshco are 

required to plan and upgrade buildings for transitional and social housing. The Joubert Park area will 

be the initial focus. There is a need to ensure that public environment upgrading is aligned with the 

housing investments to improve the liveability of these neighbourhoods. There will be a need to create 

more public open space and public amenities. In 2014/15 a professional team was appointed to 

support the Department of Housing to finalise the inner-city housing plan, scope this work and identify 

priority capital works projects. 

 

Implementing agent projects 

The JDA has been assigned to implement three projects on behalf of other departments and entities 

in programme 1: 

 

Intelligent operations centre 
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In terms of section 153(a) of the Constitution “a municipality must structure and manage its 

administration and budgeting and planning processes to give priority to the basic needs of the 

community and to promote the social and economic development of the community”. Basic needs that 

are satisfied through the establishment of an intelligent operations centre include safety (ensuring 

every citizen is safe), disaster management (ability to foresee and manage any disaster situation), 

and mobility (providing an efficient and seamless public transport network). The vision is to create a 

state-of-the-art data analysis centre to help the CoJ’s management with better decision making by 

providing a comprehensive view on strategic and operational issues through effective information 

gathering, processing and efficient dissemination of information. There is also a need to leverage the 

Smart City initiative to ensure proper coordination and integration of services. To this end, an 

intelligent operations centre task team comprising key departments and municipal-owned entities has 

been established to plan and oversee the establishment of the intelligent operations centre.  

 

The main objective of the intelligent operations centre is to enable the integration of various municipal 

operations and services by allowing them to share capital, financial and plant resources, improve their 

speed and responsiveness, and increase efficiencies. The first priority will focus on CCTV 

improvements for public safety. An analysis of the current CCTV system will be conducted to identify 

strengths and weaknesses in terms of how the CCTV systems can be aligned to the mandate and 

objectives of the intelligent operations centre. The operability of the improved CCTV intelligence 

system for 100 cameras, covering areas that will deliver the highest value impact in terms of service 

delivery, will be a priority. Operability means that 100 existing high-impact cameras will be selected 

and enabled for intelligent video analytics as an input to intelligent law enforcement. The full CCTV 

component of the intelligent operations centre will therefore be phased over a number of years. 

 

The second priority will be to analyse the nine departments/municipal-owned entities to identify 

strengths and weaknesses within each municipal-owned entity’s information and communications 

infrastructure, as well as identify opportunities and threats that exist in their current environments. A 

draft intelligent operations centre ICT system blueprint (recommendations and implementation plan) 

will then be developed to serve as a detailed proposal for the second phase of the project. 

 

In 2014/15 the blueprint was finalised. It was extended beyond public safety to include all other end-

user departments. The second phase of implementation will involves delivering an operational and 

fully functional intelligent operations centre in the next financial year. The location of the intelligent 

operations centre will also be identified and either a new building constructed or an existing building 

will be refurbished to house the new intelligent operations centre. 

 

Beyers Naudé Square monument 
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Beyers Naudé Square is a prominent and historic public space in the CBD, bounded by President, 

Market, Sauer and Harrison streets. The site lies at the heart of the civic precinct in Johannesburg, 

which also incorporates the Johannesburg City Library and the Gauteng Legislature (formerly the City 

Hall). This was Johannesburg’s first public space, around which the city developed from the late 

1880s onwards. Over the years, Beyers Naudé Square has had a high political profile, with many 

public meetings, demonstrations and protest meetings having been held there, a tradition that 

continues today.  

 

The CoJ and the JDA commissioned the development of a public monument for the western portion of 

Beyers Naudé Square, a site that also functions as the forecourt of the Johannesburg City Library. 

The public monument went through a public participation process and the Mayoral Committee 

approved the preferred artwork. Refabrication is under way and the installation will be completed in 

September 2015.  

 

Kazerne property development 

The draft Johannesburg inner-city traffic and transport study estimated that there were about 190 000 

taxi trips (provided by about 5 800 taxis) and 30 000 bus trips in the morning peak in 2010 in the inner 

city. Even with moderate growth projections and the shift to bus commuting through the Rea Vaya 

service, these numbers are expected to increase to about 185 000 taxi trips and 45 000 bus trips in 

the inner-city morning peak by 2030. 

  

At present the inner city has ranking facilities for 4 000 taxis, leaving the other 1 800 taxis to rank and 

hold in the streets. This is one of the key reasons for traffic congestion in the inner city. 

Accommodating all taxis in formal off-street facilities would require three additional Jack-Mincer-sized 

taxi ranks. A new integrated transport facility with good access to Park Station will improve the quality 

of life of commuters, streamline the flow of traffic and strengthen the commuting connections with the 

rail service. The underdeveloped Kazerne taxi facility provides an opportunity for such a facility. This 

site is of strategic importance as it is close to Park Station and the proposed project to deck the 

railway line and connect Braamfontein with the inner city. There is thus an opportunity to increase the 

scale of this development and optimise the land use by including other land uses such as retail, hotel 

and residential. 

 

Designs for the new intermodal public transport facilities were approved and construction commenced 

in January 2015. It is anticipated that the new facility will be completed in December 2016. 

 

Programme 2: Transit-oriented node development 

Programme purpose: Manage the development of strategic transit nodes through capital investments by 
overseeing integrated investment by other departments and entities, and by facilitating partnership initiatives. 
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The transit-oriented node development programme aims to reshape land-use patterns and promote 

new mobility systems and mass public transport use. Its goal is to strengthen the position of the inner 

city as a critical business and affordable residential node, and the primary gateway to transit networks 

for the CoJ, the province and the rest of the country.  

 

The programme involves targeted investment in transit nodes such as Gautrain stations, commuter 

rail stations, BRT stations and key taxi facilities. In addition to public investment, the development of 

transit-oriented precincts requires substantial development facilitation to re-orientate property values 

and land use towards agglomerated and high-intensity uses and functions (including high-density, 

affordable housing and suitable office and retail activities). 

 

This is a medium-term integrated development plan sub-programme for the sustainable services 

cluster, and is highlighted in the Department of Development Planning’s Sustainable Human 

Settlements Priority Programme for 2013/14. The JDA supports the Department of Development 

Planning in planning, facilitating and implementing public environment upgrades and bulk 

infrastructure projects that support more intensive private investment, encourage pedestrian 

movement and the use of public transport, and provide community facilities and amenities for larger, 

higher-density residential populations.  

 

A number of priority precincts have been identified as JDA developments, including: 

 Transit precincts in established corridors, such as the Nancefield Railway Station precinct, the 

Orlando East Station precinct and the Jabulani node along the commuter railway line in Soweto. 

 Transit precincts on the new BRT corridors such as the Empire–Perth, Alexandra–Randburg and 

Louis Botha trunk routes. The key development areas are Alexandra and the Randburg CBD.  

 

In the mid-year adjustment for 2014/15, the Nancefield budget was R60 million. Three strategic area 

frameworks for the two BRT corridors and Turffontein were finalised and projects for intervention were 

identified. It is anticipated that future transit-oriented node development precincts will be identified 

through the strategic area frameworks that are currently being prepared. 

 
Performance against KPIs  

Programme 2: Capital expenditure 
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Project 
 

Business 
Plan 

Budget 
R m 

Adjusted 
Budget 

R m
6
 

2014/15 Annual 
Target 

2014/15 
Actual 

2014/15 
 Variance 

2014/15 
Achievement 

score 

Explanation of 
progress, variations 

and steps to be taken to 
improve performance 

(as at end of June 2015) 

% of capital budget 
spent 

252.6 506.26 100% 70.5% 29.5% 


Three projects contributed to 
underexpenditure due to delays 
caused by community resistance 
and environmental issues.  

 

Programme 2: Development progress per project  

KPI 
 

2014/15 
Annual Target 

2014/15 
 Actual 

2014/15 
 Variance 

2014/15 
Achieve

ment 
score 

Explanation of progress, variations 
and steps to be taken to improve performance 

(as at end of June 2015) 

Development Progress for 
Nancefield Station Precinct Phase 2 

Phase 2 –100% 
 

Phase 2 –
100% 

 

0% 

 
In Phase 2 the team is finalising the completion of snagged 
work in progress and handover process to JDA. The site 
handover to the main contractor for phase 3 was 3 March 2015. 
Proposed phase 4 is still in preliminary design stage and scope 
has been identified, designs are still in the process of approvals. 

Development Progress for 
Nancefield Station Precinct Phase 3 

Phase 3 – 60%  
 

Phase 3 – 
51% 

9% 

 
Jabulani Node Phase 1 
 

Phase 1 –100% 
 

Phase 1 – 
100% 

0% 


Phase 1 is 100% complete and the contractor is busy with 
additional scope, which has been completed. Contractors were 
appointed on 15 January 2015 for phases 2 and 3 and 
construction is under way. Phase 2 is on track and practical 
completion is targeted for the end of August 2015. For phase 3, 
the contractor encountered a large amount of hard rock and 
several underground services that were not on record. The 
project is delayed by a month. The revised completion date is 31 
July 2015. 

Jabulani  Node Phase 2 Phase 2 –100% 
 

Phase 2 – 
63% 

 

37% 

 
Jabulani  Node Phase 3 Phase 3 – 70%  

 
Phase 3 – 

78% 
+8% 


Orlando East Station precinct 
(phase 2.1) 

50%  40% 10% 

 
Contractor was appointed on 27 January 2015 but was unable 
to establish site due to community unrest. After the public 
meeting held on 12 March 2015, a successful site handover 
took place on 22 June 2015 and the contractor has started 
establishing the site. Anticipated completion is May 2016. 

Rotunda Park precinct  
(phase 1) 

30%  45% +15% 


Contractor started on 13 May 2015. Anticipated completion is 
13 December 2015.  

Randburg CBD (phase 3) and 
Randburg civic precinct 
development 

0%  70% +70% 


Construction under way. Revised completion date is 23 July 
2015 for blocked 3. Project was delayed due to the discovery of 
extensive municipal services.  

Westbury development: NMT 
(phase 1) 

100% 100% 0% 


No major issues. The project is complete. 

Westbury development: NMT 
(phase 2) 

100% 53% 47% 


Planning is 100% complete. Contractor was appointed and 
construction started mid-April 2015. 

Westbury development: Westbury  
Bridge 

100% 40% 60% 


The project has been delayed due to late start but all 
professionals have been appointed and the concept designs are 
complete. 

Knowledge precinct: UJ cycle lanes Phase 1A – 
100%  

Phase 1A – 
100% 

 

0% 


Most existing services (water, sewer and power) in the area are 
very old and upgrading them might delay the project. Phase 1B 
(Wits to Park Station) is complete. There is a saving of 
R8 million on this phase. Phase 1B –

100% 
Phase 1B – 

100% 
0% 

 
Knowledge precinct: Campus 
Square Bridge (detail design) 

100% 10% 90% 


The project has been delayed due to late start but all 
professionals have been appointed and the concept designs are 
complete. Detailed design is under way. 

Knowledge precinct: Langlaagte to 
UJ NMT 

100% 53% 47% 


Planning is 100% complete. Contractor was appointed in March 
and construction started mid-April 2015. 

Hillbrow to Park Station NMT 100% 47% 53% 

 
Planning is 100% complete. Contractor was appointed in March 
and construction started mid-April 2015. 

Park Station to Doornfontein cycle 
lanes 

100% 76% 24% 

 
Planning is 100% complete. Contractor was appointed in March 
and construction started mid-April 2015. 

Corridors of Freedom sports 
facilities: Union  and Bosmont 
Stadiums 

50%  25% 25% 

 
Professional team appointed for both stadiums and tender for 
construction of Union Stadium has been advertised (multi-year 
project). Bosmont Stadium will not be funded by client 
department for 2015/16. 

                                                

 

6
 Note that the adjusted budget reflected is the final budget as approved by the CoJ and not the proposed budget amount reflected in the 

mid-term scorecard. 
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KPI 
 

2014/15 
Annual Target 

2014/15 
 Actual 

2014/15 
 Variance 

2014/15 
Achieve

ment 
score 

Explanation of progress, variations 
and steps to be taken to improve performance 

(as at end of June 2015) 

 
Ruimsig athletics track upgrade 

100% 98% 2% 

 
Practical completion achieved. 

Corridors of Freedom: Paterson 
Park phase 1 

30% 50% +20% 

 
Contractor appointed and site handed over on 22 May 2015. 
Completion date is 22 October 2015. Delays experienced due to 
stormwater reticulation challenges identified during a 
hydrological study.  

Corridors of Freedom:  libraries 5%  8% +3% 

 
Professional team appointed and the conceptual design is being 
finalised before it is presented to the JDA Executive Committee. 

Corridors of Freedom:  community 
centres 

100% 8% 92% 

 
Professional team appointed and the conceptual design is being 
finalised before it is presented to the JDA Executive Committee. 
Challenges related to the allocation of land for the Orlando 
Ekhaya and Diepsloot facilities. No agreement was reached 
between Comdev and the Johannesburg Property Company on 
the exact location of the facility as part of the new Orlando 
Ekhaya Development by the Johannesburg Property Company 
and the CoJ does not own any land in the Diepsloot area. 

 

Programme 2: Economic empowerment  

 

KPI 2014/15  
annual target 

2014/15 
actual 

Variance Achievem
ent score Explanation of progress 

Number of short-term EPWP job 
opportunities created through 
programme 2 construction 
contracts 

1 244 2984 1740 

 
Target achieved. 

BBBEE expenditure share as a % 
of total capital expenditure in 
programme 2 

100% 112% 12% 

 
Target achieved 

SMME expenditure share as a % 
of total capital expenditure in 
programme 2 

30% 6% 24% 

 
Target not achieved 

Of which: Jozi@Work SMME 
expenditure share as a % of total 
capital expenditure in programme 
2 

5% 0% 5% 

 
Target not achieved 

 

Programme 2: Productive development partnerships 

KPI 2014/15  
annual target 

2014/15 
actual 

Variance Achieve
ment 
score 

Explanation of progress 

Positive media reports as a % of 
the total number of media reports 
on the JDA in the station 
precincts 

90% 100% 
 

10% 

 
Target achieved 

Number of property 
developments facilitated by the 
JDA in the station precincts 

1 0 1 

 
Target not achieved 
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Expenditure overview and explanations 

Project 
 

Business 
Plan 

Budget R m 

Adjusted 
Budget 

R m
7
 

2014/15 Actual 
Expenditure 

R m 

 
Variance 

Explanation of  
variations 

Nancefield Station precinct (phase 2 and 3) 60.0 60.0 51.3 8.7 Previous financial year 
commitments carried over to new 
financial year. 

Jabulani  Node (phase 1, 2 and 3) 10.0 15.0 54.89 10.61 Previous financial year 
commitments carried over to new 
financial year. 

50.5 50.5 

Orlando East Station precinct 40.0 25.0 4.21 20.79 Previous financial year 
commitments carried over to new 
financial year. 

Rotunda Park precinct 5.6 5.6 5.62 (0.02) No variation, project expenditure 
spent as planned. 

Westbury development: NMT (phase 1) 48.0 

60.69 
43.29 17.4 

Previous financial year 
commitments carried over to new 
financial year. Additional  focus 
will be brough to the 
implementation of NMT 
Infrastructure on NMT Dublin 
Road, Fourth Avenue, Thornton 
Road, Tenby Street and Lewes 
Road connecting Westbury and 
Sophiatown. With a renewed 
focus on the construction the 
overall project will completed in 
FY2015/16 

Westbury development: NMT (phase 2) 10.2 

Westbury development: Westbury  Bridge 5.0 5.0 1.14 3.86 Various approvals had to be 
obtained before construction 
started. This is a multi-year 
project anticipated for completion 
in 2015/16, focus will be on the 
excavation within park in progress 
and traffic accommodation plan in 
progress. 

Knowledge precinct: UJ cycle lanes  128.7 

155.2 
130.6 24.6 

Previous financial year 
commitments carried over to new 
financial year.  
On Bridge: Design and 
implementation of NMT strategies 
at Campus Square. Preliminary 
designs and surveys will all be 
completed early in Q1 so that 
detailed design can be 
undertaken 
 
On Langlaagte to UJ NMT:Design 
and implementation of NMT 
strategies from Langlaagte to the 
University of Johannesburg 
Kingsway Campus. Site  
completed to ensure construction 
is underway and overall progress 
is 60%. 

Knowledge precinct: Campus Square Bridge 5.0 

Knowledge precinct: Langlaagte to UJ NMT 15.0 

Randburg CBD  66.5 40.0 10.46 29.54 Delayed construction progress 
resulted in low production rate 
and low expenditure.  

Hillbrow to Park Station NMT 15.0 15.0 7.27 7.73 Delayed construction progress 
resulted in low production rate 
and low expenditure. This is a 
multi-year project anticipated for 
completion in 2015/16. Focus on 
additional project management 
focus to unlock delays and 
ensure that construction is under 
way and the expected end date 

                                                

 

7
 Note that the adjusted budget reflected is the final budget as approved by the CoJ and not the proposed budget amount reflected in the 

mid-term scorecard. 
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Project 
 

Business 
Plan 

Budget R m 

Adjusted 
Budget 

R m
7
 

2014/15 Actual 
Expenditure 

R m 

 
Variance 

Explanation of  
variations 

remains  end of current FY 

Park Station to Doornfontein cycle lanes 17.0 17.0 9.96 7.04 Delayed construction progress 
resulted in low production rate 
and low expenditure. This is a 
multi-year project anticipated for 
completion in 2015/16. Focus will 
be on additional project 
management focus to unlock 
delays and ensure that 
construction is under way and the 
expected end date remains  end 
of current FY 

 
Corridors of Freedom sports facilities: Union  and Bosmont 
Stadiums 

12.6 13.0 11.89 1.11 Client change of scope affected 
project delivery. 
Union Stadium: Construction 
phase will be commenced in the 
new financial year as per budget 
allocation. 
Excavation within park in 
progress and traffic 
accommodation plan in progress. 
 
Bosmont: The project will be 
100% spent on the professionals 
services for work on the designs 
that can only then be 
implemented once budget has 
been allocated from the CoJ. 

 
Ruimsig athletics track upgrade 

0.0 12.0 12.13 (0.13) Project expenditure spent as 
planned and the variance will be 
covered from JDA management 
fees. 

Corridors of Freedom: Paterson Park  0.0 20.0 11.33 8.67 Delayed construction progress 
resulted in low production rate 
and low expenditure. 

Corridors of Freedom:  libraries 0.0 3.0 1.4 1.6 Modular concept resulted in 
savings from the concept 
development budget. 

Corridors of Freedom:  community centres 0.0 9.3 1.63 7.67 Modular concept resulted in 
savings from the concept 
development budget.  Focus will 
be on additional project 
management focus to unlock 
delays and ensure that 
construction is under way and the 
expected end date remains  end 
of current FY 

TOTAL 506.26 357.05 149.21  

 

 

The capital expenditure target of 100 per cent for the year was not achieved. The programme spent 

70.5 per cent of the total budget by the end of June 2015 (R357.05 million of the total budget of 

R506.26 million). Three projects contributed to the programme’s underexpenditure.  

 

The Paterson Park project was delayed due to stormwater reticulation challenges identified during a 

hydrological study, which necessitated a review of the project’s concept and implementation priorities. 

The contractor was appointed in May and the anticipated completion date is October 2015.  

 

The Orlando East Station precinct project site was probably the most challenging site for the JDA due 

to community resistance that turned violent at times. As a result, the JDA had to stop construction to 
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re-engage with the community. These issues have been resolved and construction is under way. The 

project is due for completion in May 2016. 

 

The third project contributing to the programme’s underexpenditure was the Randburg Civic precinct 

project. Unanticipated bulk and other municipal services were discovered, which caused delays. 

 

Overall, six of the programme’s projects achieved the development progress target against the 

completion of works targets. The underachievement can be attributed to delays during project 

planning in obtaining approvals, environmental challenges and property owners’ objections. The 

programme’s multi-year projects will continue without pause in 2015/16.  

 

The programme created a total of 2 984 employment opportunities, exceeding the annual target of 

1 244.  

 

EPWP employment opportunities 

 
Jul Aug Sep 

 
 

Oct 

 
 

Nov 

 
 

Dec 

 
 

Jan 

 
 

Feb 

 
 

Mar 

 
 

Apr 

 
 

May 

 
 

Jun 

 
 

Total 

Achieve
ment 
score 

Project  Number of individuals employed 

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4   

Nancefield Station precinct 
74 81 97 103 83 83 0 114 123 11 22 45 836 

 
Jabulani transit-oriented 
development 

79 68 68 70 11 0 0 20 30 58 58 58 520 

 
Westbury NMT 

9 51 68 68 85 85 85 85 85 0 0 0 621 

 
UJ cycle lanes 

10 15 11 43 47 58 58 54 72 132 124 123 747 

 
Ruimsig athletic stadium 

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 30 20 20 70 

 
Randburg CBD 

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 8 8 12 12 40 

 
Rotunda Park precinct 

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 6 6 

 
Hillbrow to Park Station NMT 

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 43 43 

 
Park Station to Doornfontein 
cycle lanes 

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 28 28 

 
Langlaagte to UJ NMT 

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 73 73 

 
Total 

172 215 244 284 226 226 143 273 318 239 236 408 2 984 

 
 

Progress on projects 

Nancefield Station precinct 

The Nancefield Station precinct is a flagship transit-oriented development project that the CoJ wishes 

to implement over the medium term. The cluster business plan identified this project as part of the 
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transit-oriented development sub-programme, with the aim of creating “a restructured space economy 

that gives poor households better access to well-located accommodation, jobs and markets; 

optimised land use and energy consumption; and improved living standards and mobility for large 

numbers of people in well serviced and managed transit neighbourhoods”. 

 

Over the medium term, implementation will focus on installing bulk and connector services, 

completing the public environment upgrade along Tsolo Road, implementing road upgrades and new 

roads within the precinct, constructing community facilities and installing bulk infrastructure 

(stormwater, sewer, water and electrical infrastructure) to support public and private development in 

the precinct. In 2014/15, R51.3 million was spent on upgrading roads, installing stormwater 

infrastructure along Mbambisa Street and developing a new linear park. The multi-year construction 

projects will continue without pause in 2015/16.  

 

Jabulani node 

The CoJ is implementing the Jabulani node project (along with the Nancefield Station precinct) over 

the medium term to create a transformed area. The project aims to develop vacant and underused 

land with higher-density housing and supporting social facilities, create development opportunities to 

attract private-sector investment, and emphasise transit-oriented development. Jabulani Station is the 

focal point and a safe, walkable environment is critical. There is a need to integrate key properties 

such as the Jabulani Mall and the new Soweto Theatre to create a vibrant activity hub that is a 

destination in Soweto.  

 

Project implementation has focused on catalytic upgrades to the public environment, including: 

 Bolani Link Road public environment upgrade – This project aimed to facilitate pedestrian and 

public transport movement, including cyclist infrastructure (sidewalks) to accommodate all modes 

of transport. 

 Nhlanzane Station Link – This project upgraded the public environment and infrastructure to link 

the Jabulani precinct with the nearby train station. 

 Water Tower Park – This project, due for implementation in 2015/16, involves a pedestrian bridge 

over the railway line and the cultural precinct. The project’s amphitheatre, play area and public 

environment upgrades will support the Soweto Theatre. 

 

Randburg CBD 

Despite its potential as a key regional transit node, Randburg CBD continues to function as a mid-

level retail and office node, with less than optimal residential land usage and limited public amenities. 

The CBD has experienced more than two decades of decline and underdevelopment due to several 

factors, ranging from property trends, lack of maintenance (of buildings and the public environment), 
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competition with other retail and office nodes, and the relocation of several key government functions. 

Despite several plans being commissioned and completed since 2002, limited success has been 

achieved in turning Randburg around.  

 

The Randburg urban development framework, approved by the Council in July 2010, cites a lack of 

consensus and buy-in from stakeholders on key development proposals and a lack of urban 

management outside of the city improvement district as the main reasons for the ongoing decline. In 

2012/13 and 2013/14, the JDA spent R1 million and R2.5 million respectively in support of Joshco’s 

Selkirk Street housing development to relocate the clinic to the Randburg civic building. The scope of 

work includes detailed designs for the larger capital expenditure programme in 2014/15 and 2015/16 

and the first phase of construction.  

 

A total of R40 million was allocated for development of Randburg in 2014/15. A professional team 

was appointed to design the public environment upgrades, but construction was delayed. One block 

on Hill Street Mall has been completed, and two more blocks and a new commuter circuit will be 

completed in the next financial year. 

 

Orlando East Station precinct 

The JDA is implementing the Orlando East/Noordgesig project – a significant project from a heritage 

perspective given the location of Orlando Stadium, its location on the Rea Vaya BRT route, its 

proximity to Vilakazi Street and the Johannesburg Property Company’s Orlando Ekhaya project.  

 

The JDA has done work to the value of R26.5 million in the Orlando East Station precinct since 

2009/10. This has included upgrading the parking along Mooki Street, constructing a new public 

square, upgrading pedestrian infrastructure along Rathebe Street, upgrading the public environment 

in Noordgesig and improving Plantation Square. While these interventions have improved the quality 

of the public environment, there is little evidence of private investment that will fulfil this 

neighbourhood’s potential as a transit node.  

 

In 2013/14, the JDA reviewed the urban development framework and identified a new set of capital 

works projects for implementation over the medium term. These include further public environment 

upgrades and strategic property development projects to deliver social housing and affordable rental 

housing. The budget allocation for Orlando East is R25 million in 2014/15, R20 million in 2015/16 and 

R10 million in 2016/17. As noted previously, this site was probably the most challenging site for the 

JDA in 2014/15 due to community resistance. These issues have been resolved and construction is 

under way. 

 

Rotunda Park precinct 
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The Turffontein strategic area framework identified Rotunda Park as a potential transit node. A multi-

year allocation was awarded to the JDA for a new development, which started in 2014/15. A 

professional team was appointed to prepare an urban development framework to guide the integrated 

development plan. Construction during the reporting period included public environment upgrades 

and social housing developments.  

 

Westbury development  

Westbury is a residential neighbourhood along the Empire–Perth corridor. Westbury is well located 

regionally, but its legacy as a racially segregated area means that its connection to surrounding 

suburbs is weak, enforced by significant buffer spaces – especially in the northern interface with 

Sophiatown. Westbury is well served by a range of transport opportunities and social infrastructure 

but, despite the ease of access to these services, the urban frame in which they are located is 

fragmented. 

 

In 2013/14, the JDA commissioned the development of a precinct development framework for 

Westbury in consultation with the Department of Development Planning. This has yielded a list of 

catalytic projects to be implemented over the medium term, including: 

 Construction of complete streets and non-motorised infrastructure on Kretzschmar Street, Dowling 

Avenue and Steytler Street. 

 Construction of NMT infrastructure on Du Plessis Street, Millar Street, Edward Road, 4th Avenue, 

Main/Dublin Street and Victoria/Ludlow Street. 

 Upgrade of a clinic, stadium and park. 

 A heritage scoping study and identification of heritage conservation projects. 

 Fuel Street pedestrian bridge. 

 Housing developments, including renovation and redevelopment of apartments and new housing. 

 

The Westbury NMT projects include the design of high-quality pedestrian walkways, cycle lanes and 

storage areas, public transport lay-bys, speed-calming measures, soft and hard landscaping, street 

lighting and CCTV cameras.  

 

The implementation of the Westbury precinct development NMT has been divided into two phases. 

Phase 1 focused on Dowling Avenue between Dowling and Hamilton streets, Steytler Street between 

Fuel Street and Eric Street and Kretzschmar Street between Fuel Street and Dowling Avenue. This 

phase was completed in May 2015. Phase 2 aims to connect the greater part of Westbury with 

Sophiatown, with an emphasis on areas of interest and heritage sites. This phase focuses on Miller 

Street, Edward Road and Thornton Road. It is due for completion in December 2015. 
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Knowledge precinct NMT infrastructure and bridge  

The Knowledge precinct incorporates the nodes of Auckland Park and Milpark on the Empire–Perth 

corridor, as identified in the Empire-Perth strategic area framework. A professional team was 

appointed in the first phase of implementation in 2013/14 and construction continued in 2014/15. NMT 

infrastructure linking the University of Johannesburg and the University of the Witwatersrand to the 

inner city was completed. Designs for a pedestrian bridge and public environment upgrade to provide 

safe pedestrian crossing from the University of Johannesburg to Campus Square are under way and 

will be completed in September 2015. 

 

Corridors of Freedom: sport facilities  

The CoJ’s Community Development Department is responsible for maintaining and upgrading the 

city's sports, recreation, libraries and other community facilities. Bosmont Stadium, Paterson Park and 

Union Stadium have been in existence for a number of years and are being used on a daily basis. 

These facilities are close to transport nodes, including the newly constructed BRT system, which 

provides easy and affordable access to such facilities. These facilities, situated along the Corridors of 

Freedom, provide for different sporting codes and the surrounding schools often use them for their 

school activities. The facilities are showing wear and tear and need to be further developed, upgraded 

and refurbished to ensure continuity and sustainability for the community. Detailed designs for all 

facilities were completed in 2014/15, and construction has started in Paterson Park and is due for 

completion in the new financial year. 

 

Programme 3: GMS priority area planning and implementation 

Programme purpose: Manage the development of strategic economic nodes in marginalised areas through 
capital investments by overseeing integrated investments by other departments and entities, and by facilitating 
partnership initiatives. 

 

This programme develops activity nodes in priority development areas to improve living conditions 

and create sustainable human settlements. It aims to create new economic opportunities, 

accommodate employment opportunities and provide access to markets and mass transit services.  

 

Guided by the urban development frameworks prepared in partnership with the Department of 

Development Planning, the JDA implements multi-year township development projects that include 

the creation of high streets and activity nodes, and the construction and upgrade of strategic 

amenities such as transit facilities (including taxi ranks), trading infrastructure, libraries, recreation 

centres, multipurpose centres, public open spaces and green spaces. Wherever possible, the JDA 

establishes community development partnerships, including partnerships in the retail and housing 

sectors, to stimulate private property development. 
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The JDA’s business plan identified two area development projects and a portfolio of technical 

assistance projects to be implemented on behalf of the CoJ departments of Housing, Health and 

Social Development, including a new assignment to develop a fire station in Cosmo City for 

Emergency Management Services under programme 3 in 2014/15. These projects made up a capital 

budget of R196.8 million in 2014/15, funded through: 

 The urban settlements development grant allocation to the CoJ. This grant is channelled through 

the JDA for Kliptown.  

 The neighbourhood development partnership grant allocation to the CoJ, which is channelled 

through the Department of Development Planning for Diepsloot.  

 Various CoJ funding allocations, including the departments of Health, Housing, and Community 

Development, and Emergency Management Services.  

 

The mid-year budget adjustment was R176.4 million for programme 3, including additional funding of 

R5.3 million for CoJ clinics. The Diepsloot budget was reduced by R5.7 million.  

 

Performance against KPIs 

Programme 3: Capital expenditure 

Project 
 

Business 
Plan 

Budget 
R m 

Adjusted 
Budget 

R m
8
 

2014/15 
Annual Target 

2014/15 
Actual 

2014/15 
 Variance 

2014/15 
Achievement 

score 

Explanation of 
progress, variations 

and steps to be taken to 
improve performance 

(as at end of June 2015) 

Percentage of capital 
budget spent 

216.8 176 414 100% 86% 14% 


Three projects contributed to 
underexpenditure due to delays 
caused by community resistance 
and environmental issues. 

 

Programme 3: Development progress per project 

KPI 
 

2014/15 
Annual 
Target 

2014/15 
 Actual 

2014/15 
 Variance 

2014/15 
Achievem
ent score 

Explanation of progress, variations 
and steps to be taken to improve performance 

(as at end of June 2015) 

 
 
Kliptown development phase 3.1 

100% 100% 0% 

 
Project completed on 18 June 2015 and snagging is under way. 

Diepsloot development Ngonyama 
Road upgrade phase 2  

100% 
 

95% 
 

5% 

 
Additional scope for phase 2 and target was achieved for both 
phases. 
 

Diepsloot development Ngonyama 
Road upgrade phase 3 

 40% 80% +40% 

 
Automotive cluster projects 
(Alexandra design and phase 1 of 
construction) 

100% 43% 57% 

 
Contractor has been appointed and project handed over on 
10 June 2015. In 2015/16, construction of the Alexandra 
Automotive Park started in June 2015, with the aim of completing 
the construction works by end June 2016. An internal team is 
currently working on a sustainability plan. It is envisaged that this 
process will be completed prior to the anticipated completion of the 
construction work. 

Sol Plaatjie human settlements 
infrastructure project 

100% 100% 0% 


Project completed on 30 June 2015. 

CoJ clinics: Mpumelelo 100% 100% 0% 

 
Project completed. 

                                                

 

8
 Note that the adjusted budget reflected is the final budget as approved by the CoJ and not the proposed budget amount reflected in the 

mid-term scorecard. 
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KPI 
 

2014/15 
Annual 
Target 

2014/15 
 Actual 

2014/15 
 Variance 

2014/15 
Achievem
ent score 

Explanation of progress, variations 
and steps to be taken to improve performance 

(as at end of June 2015) 

CoJ clinics: Zandspruit (designs only) - 9 
 

5%  

 
CoJ Housing is working on the township proclamation while the 
professional team is working on land consent, legal analysis and a 
quicker turnaround strategy. The professionals are working on the 
concept design and overall development progress is at 5%. 

CoJ clinics: Noordgesig (designs only) 100% 100% 0% 



 

This is a three-year programme. Planning and conceptual and 
detailed designs are complete. Tender evaluation is under way. 
Contractor to be appointed by end of July 2015. Overall 
development progress is at 35%. 

CoJ clinics: Orchards (phase 1) 100% 40% 60% 

 
Appointment of contractor to be finalised after rezoning is 
approved. Traffic impact assessment has been approved. 
Contractor will be appointed and the site handed over on 13 July 
2015. The Tribunal Hearing to take place on 01 July 2015; however 
all the objectors had withdrawn their objections. The Rezoning has 
been approved and the approval letter awarded to the Town 
Planner. Once the SDP submission has been approved, work can 
commence.  

CoJ clinics: Parkhurst (designs only) 100% 5% 95% 

 
Delays caused by land ownership dispute. Heritage consultant will 
be appointed to assist with ownership. Professionals are working 
on the concept design and overall development progress is at 5%. 

CoJ clinics: Westbury (phase 1) 100% 53% 47% 

 
This is a two-year programme. Construction is under way and the 
anticipated completion date is 14 March 2016. 
 

CoJ clinics: Halfway House 100% 100% 0% 

 
Project completed on 19 February 2015. Contractor was granted 
additional scope to be completed on 24 June 2015. 

CoJ clinics: Ennerdale 100% 90% 10% 

 
Construction is under way and the anticipated completion date is 
11 September 2015.  Focus will be on additional project 
management focus to unlock delays and ensure that construction is 
under way and the expected end date remains  end of current FY 

CoJ clinics: River Park 100% 60% 40% 

 
Construction is under way and the anticipated completion date is 
27 October 2015. Focus will be on additional project management 
focus to unlock delays and ensure that construction is under way 
and the expected end date remains  end of current FY 

CoJ clinics: Esselen Street (phase 1) 100% 50% 50% 

 
Construction started in February 2015 due to CoJ Health’s delay in 
clearing out the building. Contractor is busy with the brickwork for 
the courtyard ramp and sitting area, electricity connection upgrade 
and HVAC ducting. Anticipated completion date is December 2015. 
Construction was suspended for safety reason pending the 
conclusion of a detailed structural assessment. The study will be 
completed by end August 2015 

Golden Harvest Rehabilitation Centre 
(phase 1) 

100% 100% 0% 


Project completed.  

 

Programme 3: Economic empowerment  

 

KPI 2014/15  
annual target 

2014/15 
actual 

Variance Achievem
ent score Explanation of progress 

Number of short-term EPWP job 
opportunities created through 
programme 3 construction 
contracts 

1 220 1446 226 

 
Target achieved 

BBBEE expenditure share as a % of 
total capital expenditure in 
programme 3 

100% 121% 21% 

 
Target achieved 

SMME expenditure share as a % of 
total capital expenditure in 
programme 3 

30% 16% 14% 

 
Target not achieved 

                                                

 

9 This KPI was originally reflected in the scorecard, however no target was ever committed due to unavailability of a suitable 

site by Client Department which delayed even the design processes. 
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Of which: Jozi@Work SMME 
expenditure share as a % of total 
capital expenditure 

5% 0% 5% 

 
Target not achieved 

 

Programme 3: Productive development partnerships  

 

KPI 2014/15  
annual target 

2014/15 
actual 

Variance Achievem
ent score Explanation of progress 

Positive media reports as a % of 
the total number of media reports 
on the JDA in GMS priority areas 

90% 100% 10% 

 
Target achieved 

Number of property developments 
facilitated by the JDA in GMS 
priority areas 

1 0 1 

 
Target not achieved 

Expenditure overview and explanations 

Project 
 

Business 
plan 

budget 
R m 

Adjusted 
budget 
R m

10
 

2014/15 
actual 

expenditure 
R m 

Variance Explanation of 
variations 

Kliptown development (phase 3.1) 
 

20.0 20.0 19.99 0.0 No variation, project expenditure spent as 
planned. 

Diepsloot development Ngonyama Road upgrade 
(phase 2 and 3) 

40.0 34.3 34.3 0.0 No variation, project expenditure spent as 
planned. 

Alexandra automotive cluster projects (Alexandra 
design and phase 1 of construction) 

8.5 8.46 2.14 6.32 Delays due to sustainability plan, which 
was needed to finalise detailed designs 
and start construction. Construction has 
started and anticipated completion is June 
2016. 

Sol Plaatjie human settlements infrastructure 
project 

19.0 19.0 17.5 1.5 Project expenditure was spent as planned 
and there was a saving. 

CoJ clinics 75.0 80.3 63.4 16.9 The clinics portfolio of projects spent 79% 
of its budget allocation. The multi-year 
budget allocation will not be affected. 

Mpumelelo Clinic 2.0 4.0 3.52 0.48 Targets achieved and project completed. 

Zandspruit Clinic 0.0 0.3 - 0.3 Project could not be implemented due to 
unavailability of a suitable site. 

Noordgesig Clinic  1.0 1.0 0.9 0.1 Targets achieved for detailed designs in 
2014/15. Since it is a multi-year project, the 
budget allocation will not be affected and 
construction will start in 2015/16. 

Orchards Clinic 9.0 15.0 2.18 12.82 Delay due to objections to the rezoning of 
the site to accommodate a bigger facility 
and offices, resulting in underexpenditure. 
The multi-year budget allocation will not be 
affected. 

Parkhurst Clinic 1.0 0.5 0.01 0.49 Project did not start due to non-availability 
of land as a result of a land ownership 
dispute. 

Westbury Clinic 9.0 13.0 10.15 2.85 Delay due to community issues that 
affected project expenditure. 

Halfway House Clinic 5.0 6.0 5.13 0.87 Targets achieved and project completed. 

Ennerdale Clinic 18.0 15.0 14.99 0.01 No variance. 

River Park Clinic 18.0 15.0 14.96 0.04 No variance. 

Esselen Street Clinic 12.0 10.0 9.99 0.01 No variance. 

Golden Harvest Rehabilitation Centre 14.35 14.35 13.41 0.94 Targets achieved and project completed. 

Additional projects  

Claremont Renewal Clinic 0.0 0.5 0.36 0.14 This is a planning project and this was the 
total cost for the development of concepts. 

Cosmo City fire station - 5.0 3.3 1.7 A professional team was appointed and 
specialist studies conducted. The team 

                                                

 

10
 Note that the adjusted budget reflected is the final budget as approved by the CoJ and not the proposed budget amount reflected in the 

mid-term scorecard. 
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Project 
 

Business 
plan 

budget 
R m 

Adjusted 
budget 
R m

10
 

2014/15 
actual 

expenditure 
R m 

Variance Explanation of 
variations 

completed the detailed design at a cost 
lower than estimated. 

Langlaagte pharmacy depot - 1.1 1.09 0.01 No variance. 

Bambanani automotive industrial park (Ivory Park) - - - - There was no budget allocation on the 
project. This project is on hold in order to 
take lessons from the Alexandra 
automotive project. 

TOTAL 176.41 150.76 25.65   
 

 

 

The capital expenditure target of 100 per cent for the year was not achieved. Programme 3 spent 

85.5 per cent or R150.8 million of the capital budget of R176.4 million. This underexpenditure was 

largely due to delays in the construction of the Orchards Clinic as a result of objections to the 

rezoning of the site to accommodate a bigger facility and offices. After protracted engagements with 

the various objectors, they withdrew their objections. The JDA is waiting for final rezoning approval 

from the Planning Tribunal. Construction is expected to start in July 2015 for completion in June 2016.  

 

The programme also experienced challenges with the library and community centre projects. Land 

was not allocated for the Orlando Ekhaya and Diepsloot facilities because Comdev and the 

Johannesburg Property Company could not agree on the exact location of the Orlando Ekhaya facility 

and the CoJ does not own any land in the Diepsloot area. 

 

The JDA experienced difficulties in finalising the sustainability plan for the Alexandra automotive 

industrial park, which hindered the finalisation of the detailed designs needed to start construction. 

Construction has started and is expected to finish in June 2016. 

 

Both area developments and most of the technical assistance projects are in the construction phase. 

Eleven of the programme’s projects achieved their overall development progress targets against the 

completion of works targets. The underachievement can be attributed to delays in obtaining land 

consent and rezoning approvals, as well as community objections. Construction on the multi-year 

projects will continue without pause in 2015/16. 

 

A total of 1 446 employment opportunities were created in programme 3, exceeding the annual target 

of 1 220 employment opportunities. 

 

EPWP employment opportunities 

 

 
 

Jul 

 
 

Aug 

 
 

Sep 

 
 

Oct 

 
 

Nov 

 
 

Dec 

 
 

Jan 

 
 

Feb 

 
 

Mar 

 
 

Apr 

 
 

May 

 
 

Jun 

 
 

Total 

Achiev
ement 
score 

Project  Number of employment opportunities   

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4   
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Diepsloot development: Ngonyama 
Road upgrade (phase 1) 

13 13 13 20 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 59 

 
Diepsloot development: Ngonyama 
Road upgrade (phase 2)  

0 0 0 0 0 0 19 25 25 34 34 34 171 

 
Diepsloot development: Ngonyama 
Road upgrade (phase 3) 

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 12 19 25 30 86 

 
Sol Plaatjie area 4 internal roads and 
stormwater 

31 19 0 0 0 0 2 11 29    92 

 
CoJ Health capital expenditure 
programme – Halfway House  

10 16 15 15 15 15 15 11 4 0 0 0 116 

 
Mpumelelo Clinic 

24 24 26 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 74 

 
Corridors of Freedom – Esselen Clinic 

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 10 19 9 10 10 58 

 
CoJ Social Development capital 
expenditure programme – Golden 
Harvest 

0 0 0 0 18 20 26 40 40 18 39 39 240 

 
CoJ Health capital expenditure 
programme – River Park Clinic 

0 0 0 0 0 0 4 4 4 27 27 9 75 

 
CoJ Health capital expenditure 
programme – Ennerdale Clinic  

0 0 0 0 0 0 5 27 28 50 52 31 193 

 
Kliptown public environment upgrade 

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 22 34 77 92 225 

 
Corridors of Freedom – Westbury Clinic 

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 5 14 13 25 57 

 
TOTAL 

78 72 54 35 33 35 71 128 188 205 277 270 1446 

 
 
 
 
Additional projects 

KPI 
 

2014/15 
Annual 
Target 

2014/15 
 Actual 

2014/15 
 Variance 

Explanation of progress, variations 
and steps to be taken to improve performance 

(as at end of June 2015) 

CoJ clinics: Claremont Renewal Clinic - 10% N/A Completed stage 2 design concepts and presented to the client. 
Designs approved subject to budget approval. 

Langlaagte pharmacy depot - 35% N/A Finalising the bill of quantities for tender, with minor adjustments to 
bring the budget closer to the OME. Construction is due to start in 
September 2015 and anticipated completion is May 2016. 

Cosmo City fire station - 35% N/A All designs are completed and approved. Tender procurement was 
advertised and closed on 15 June 2015. Tender evaluation is in 
progress. 

Bambanani automotive industrial park 
(Ivory Park)  

- 0% N/A On hold in order to take lessons from Alexandra automotive project. 
This project has no budget allocation. 
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Progress on projects 

Kliptown development 

Development proposals for Kliptown have been made since the early 1990s. Emergency services 

were provided to the area in the early 1990s and a plan was developed in 1996. In 2001, a new 

development project was drawn up and this was partially implemented over five years. The Greater 

Kliptown Development Framework (1996) made proposals to develop Freedom Square as a historical 

tourism site, with a museum, public spaces, a park and a mix of shops and informal trading. 

 

In 2010, the JDA began a new four-year project to improve the public environment in the residential 

and business areas around the Walter Sisulu Square of Dedication at a total cost of R40 million. To 

date, the project has: 

 Upgraded the existing Union Road Pedestrian Bridge and installed new ramps to create 

pedestrian linkages across the railway line. 

 Completed 600m of paving and lighting to create a safe pedestrian walkway along the western 

side of the railway line. 

 Upgraded the public environment of Union Road, Beacon Road, Main Road, 1st Avenue, 2nd 

Avenue, 3rd Avenue, 4th Avenue, Future Road and Affodil Street, Klipspruit Valley Road and the 

Northern precinct. The street and sidewalk were upgraded to create an improved environment for 

economic activity in the neighbourhood around Walter Sisulu Square, create safe public 

environments for pedestrians walking to public transit services and improve or rehabilitate basic 

municipal services such as stormwater infrastructure and street lighting. 

 Installed CCTV cameras on and around Walter Sisulu Square. 

 Repaired tower mast lights and installed new cables at the visitor centre and street lighting behind 

Walter Sisulu Square.  

 Refurbished the study centre, crèche, community hall and youth centre.  

 Dual sports facilities (basketball and netball courts) built. 

 Upgraded the public park. 

 Upgraded the soccer facility and landscaping at the visitor centre. 

 Installed artwork commemorating the history of the area. 

 

In 2014/15, the JDA continued this phase of development with a further investment of R20 million for 

the renovations and development of a new public space called Freedom Charter Gardens. 

 

Diepsloot development 

The CoJ’s development programme for Diepsloot aims to establish the area as a socially, 

economically and environmentally sustainable human settlement that is spatially integrated into the 

city, with access to basic services and opportunities for social mobility and economic development. In 
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2007, the CoJ was allocated a multi-year capital grant through the National Treasury’s neighbourhood 

development partnership grant for R10 million in 2009/10, R46 million in 2010/11, R10 million in 

2011/12 and R3.5 million in 2012/13.  

 

To date, the following initiatives have been implemented: 

 In 2009/10, Ingonyama Road was upgraded to create an entrance to Diepsloot and establish a 

government node. 

 In 2010/11, the public environment along Ingonyama Road was upgraded to improve the business 

environment and two pedestrian bridges were constructed to link to the reception area. The taxi 

rank was upgraded and pathways were built to link the bridges and Ingonyama Road. 

 In 2011/12, the public environment upgrade was completed along the existing Ingonyama Road. 

 In 2012/13, planning and design work for the Ingonyama Road extension was completed. 

 In 2013/14, the first phase of the Ingonyama Road extension was completed, including paving 

sidewalks, upgrading stormwater infrastructure, kerbing and road surfacing for 1.3km, planting of 

at least 200 new trees along the street and installing 80 street lights and associated electrical 

reticulation infrastructure. In addition, 74 trader stalls were designed for phase 2 and construction 

started.  

 

In 2014/15, construction was completed at a cost of R34.3 million. This work included the upgrade of 

the remainder of Ingonyama Road (400m) and a new vehicular bridge over the Jukskei River. 

Detailed designs for Phase 3 were also completed and construction started. 

 

Technical assistance projects: Sol Plaatjie Road construction  

In 2012/13, the JDA was requested to take on the role of implementing agent to build road 

infrastructure on behalf of the CoJ Department of Housing. The JDA completed phase 1 of the 

construction of roads and stormwater systems in area 1 and area 2 of Sol Plaatjie in 2012/13 and 

area 3 was completed in 2013/14. 

 

The JDA is also facilitating the construction of internal roads and associated stormwater and 

attenuation ponds for Sol Plaatjie in 2014/15 and 2015/16. The CoJ Department of Housing allocated 

R19 million for this project in 2014/15. During this phase, 2km of internal streets and 4000m2 of paved 

sidewalks were completed in area 3. 

 

Technical assistance projects: CoJ clinics programme 

The CoJ’s Directorate of Health appointed the JDA to manage its capital works programme. In 

2013/14, the CoJ approved construction for Mpumelelo and Slovoville. The Slovoville Clinic was 

completed and launched in January 2014 and the Mpumelelo Clinic was completed in August 2014. In 
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2014/15, the JDA began construction on another five clinics. Halfway House was completed in June 

2015 and River Park and Ennerdale are due for completion in September 2015. Westbury and 

Esselen will be completed in December 2015. The Orchards Clinic is on the Louis Botha corridor, 

providing an opportunity for a property development that demonstrates the mixed-use, higher-density 

principles needed to achieve the Corridors of Freedom. The clinics will offer an improved healthcare 

environment and improved accessibility to healthcare facilities for the communities in which they are 

located.  

 

Technical assistance projects: Cosmo City fire station  

The JDA has been appointed as implementing agent to construct a new fire station in Cosmo City for 

Emergency Management Services. The design work has been completed and the estimated cost 

exceeds the budget of R20 million allocated for 2014/15. The client department will seek additional 

funding before the project can proceed. 

 

Technical assistance projects: Alexandra and Bambanani automotive property developments 

The CoJ Department of Economic Development initiated two property development projects to 

expand the automotive industry cluster in Gauteng: the Bambanani automotive node in Ivory Park and 

the Alexandra automotive industrial node. In 2008, the Department of Economic Development, in 

partnership with the National Treasury, undertook a comprehensive economic profiling and developed 

a city-wide township economic development programme focused on Ivory Park, Ebony Park and 

Diepsloot. 

 

The CoJ has appointed the JDA to facilitate the implementation of the Bambanani and Alexandra 

property developments. The CoJ has been allocated capital funding from the National Treasury 

through the neighbourhood development partnership grant, amounting to more than R102 million over 

three financial years. 

 

In 2014/15, the JDA appointed a professional team to develop the detailed architectural and 

engineering building plans for the facilities on both sites. Construction started on 10 June 2015. 

 

Technical assistance projects: Golden Harvest Rehabilitation Centre 

The CoJ Social Development Department appointed the JDA to plan and design the Golden Harvest 

Rehabilitation Centre upgrade. The centre is located in Randburg and can currently accommodate 

only 20 patients at any time. The project aims to increase capacity by providing additional facilities on 

the premises, including a new detox unit, additional accommodation and extensive refurbishments to 

the administrative centre. 
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A professional team was appointed in November 2013 and the development concept was approved 

by the Social Development Department in March 2014. The budget available for 2013/14 was 

R2 million and R14.3 million was available in 2014/15. Construction on a priority phase of the project 

started in September 2014 and was completed by the end of June 2015.  

 

Programme 4: Greenways 

Programme purpose: Manage the development of strategic mass transit services and corridors through capital 
investments by overseeing integrated investments by other departments and entities, and by facilitating 
partnership initiatives. 

 

The greenways programme aims to reshape land-use patterns to promote new mass public transport 

corridors (including the roll out of BRT infrastructure) and a network of NMT infrastructure that 

promotes walking, cycling and the use of streets as public open spaces. 

 

In the JDA’s business plan for 2013/14, this programme is the corridor component of the transit-

oriented development approach outlined as a strategic priority in the GDS vision and the State of the 

City Address for 2013. The Rea Vaya BRT service is the structuring element and the approach is to 

develop station precincts at key transit interchanges. 

 

The medium-term implementation plan (2013/14 to 2015/16) has been developed and agreed to by 

the national Department of Transport and the National Treasury (in terms of the medium-term grant 

funding commitment), the Mayoral Committee, and the JDA’s Board of Directors. The plan includes 

the construction of dedicated bus ways and bus stations; the construction of associated infrastructure, 

including multi-modal interchange facilities, bridges and road upgrades to ensure mobility and access; 

bus depots and layovers; and associated non-motorised transit infrastructure. 

 

The JDA’s adjusted budget identified construction work to the value of R630 million on Rea Vaya BRT 

infrastructure and two technical assistance projects for the Department of Transport to build non-

motorised transit infrastructure to support corridor development. The projects are funded through the 

public transport infrastructure and systems grant from the national Department of Transport and 

capital budgets allocated by the CoJ for NMT infrastructure and the Corridors of Freedom. The work 

will be dominated by the construction of bus ways and stations (sections 8 and 15), which provide for 

the third trunk route (1C) that connects the inner city with Alexandra (along Louis Botha Avenue) and 

Alexandra with Sandton (along Katherine Street). 

 

The JDA will continue to serve as the implementing agent for the Rea Vaya BRT infrastructure. It will 

also seek to incorporate pathways, cycleways and pedestrian infrastructure such as shelters and 

lighting into all public environment upgrading projects through a series of priority implementation 
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projects in Soweto, the inner city and Alexandra. The JDA implemented capital works projects to the 

value of R738.7 million in the greenways programme in 2014/15.  

 

The JDA also made contractual commitments of R511.3 million in 2013/14 on projects that were due 

for completion towards the end of the second quarter of 2014/15. The rollover funding request was 

not approved, so the mid-year adjustment for programme 4 reprioritises the current budget allocation 

to fund the priority projects that are under way and important new projects in the pipeline. 

 

Performance against KPIs 

 

Programme 4: Capital expenditure 

Project 
 

Business 
Plan 

Budget 
R m 

Adjusted 
Budget 
R m

11
 

2014/15 Annual 
Target 

2014/15 
Actual 

2014/15 
 Variance 

2014/15 
Achievement 

score 

Explanation of progress, 
variations 

and steps to be taken to 
improve performance 

(as at end of June 2015) 

% of capital budget 
spent 

738.7 630 100% 109%  9% 


Target achieved 

 

Programme 4: Development progress per project  

KPI 
 

2014/15 
Annual Target 

2014/15 
Actual 

2014/15 
 Variance 

2014/15 
Achievement 

score 
Explanation of progress, variations 

and steps to be taken to improve performance 
(as at end of June 2015) 

Phase 1C section 15 (phase 1)  100% 98% 2% 

 
Construction of BRT lanes along Louis Botha (section 15) 
between Johannesburg CBD and Alexandra Township is 
complete. The project is currently at snagging stage. 

Phase 1C section 15 (phase 2) 100% 64% 36% 

 
All detailed designs for the construction of mixed traffic 
lanes, pedestrian walkways, street light upgrades and 
service upgrades along Louis Botha (section 15) between 
Johannesburg CBD and Alexandra Township have been 
approved. The main contractors and relevant local SMMES 
have been appointed. Construction is under way and 
completion is anticipated in December 2015. In the new FY 
the contractor will be on onsite together with the SMMEs 
who have also been appointed for the construction of all the 
sidewalks. 

 

Alex Urban Upgrade Phase 1 

 

100% 100% 0% 

 
The construction of 7.2km pedestrian walkways and soft 
and hard landscaping are complete. 

Phase 1C NMT (Alexurban 

upgrade – phase 2) 

100% 58% 42% 

 
All detailed designs for the construction of 2km pedestrian 
walkways and soft and hard landscaping are complete. The 
main contractor and relevant local SMMEs have been 
appointed. Construction is under way and completion is 
anticipated in December 2015.. Going forward the focus will 
be on additional project management attention to unlock 
delays and ensure that construction is under way and the 
expected end date remains  end of current FY 

Phase 1C section 8C (Alex to 

Sandton) Section C 

100% 88% 12% 

 
All detailed designs for the construction of BRT lanes, 
mixed traffic lanes, pedestrian walks, street lighting 
upgrades and service upgrades along Katherine Street 
between Grayston Drive and West Street are complete. 
The main contractor and relevant SMMEs have been 
appointed. Construction is at an advanced stage and 
completion is anticipated in September 2015.  

                                                

 

11
 Note that the adjusted budget reflected is the final budget as approved by the CoJ and not the proposed budget amount reflected in the 

mid-term scorecard. 
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KPI 
 

2014/15 
Annual Target 

2014/15 
Actual 

2014/15 
 Variance 

2014/15 
Achievement 

score 
Explanation of progress, variations 

and steps to be taken to improve performance 
(as at end of June 2015) 

Phase 1C Sandton  CBD loop  100% 20% 80% 

 
Concept design and detailed designs have been completed 
and approved by CoJ Transport. The main contractor has 
been appointed and construction will start in July 2015 and 
end in October 2016.  

Phase 1C Great Walk  100% 53% 47% 

 
All detailed designs have been completed and the main 
contractor has been appointed. Construction is under way 
and completion is anticipated for December 2016.. Project 
will be completed in Q1 of the following FY 

 

 

Alex Spur and Great Walk Bridge 

phase 1 

100% 99% 1% 

 
Construction of 2.5km of pedestrian walkways, road 
upgrades, street lighting upgrades and service upgrades 
are complete. The project is currently at snagging stage. 

Section 2 road widening  100% 100% 0% 

 
This project is complete. 

Phase 1A NMT feeder routes 
 

100% 25% 75% 

 
Concept and detailed design have been completed. A main 
contractor is being appointed and construction is planned 
for July 2015. The anticipated completion date for this 
project is April 2016. Going forward the focus will be on 
additional project management attention to unlock delays 
and ensure that construction is under way and the expected 
end date remains  end of current FY 

Phase 1B station precincts  100% 94% 6% 

 
Construction is at an advanced stage and the project will be 
at practical completion by end of June 2015. Going forward 
the focus will be on additional project management 
attention to unlock delays and ensure that construction is 
under way and the expected end date remains  end of 
current FY 

Phase 1C stations NMT 

 

100% 40% 60% 

 
Contractor appointed and construction to start in 2015/16. 
June 2015. Going forward the focus will be on additional 
project management attention to unlock delays and ensure 
that construction is under way and that the expected end 
date remains  end of current FY 

Bus Depots: City  100% 10% 90% 

 
The concept design has been completed. Land acquisition 
is under way and detailed design will start in October 2015. 
The next stage is to ensure that PUTCO accepts the offer 
of purchase. 
The appointment of the professional team has been 
extended by another two years to allow for the completion 
of the project. The team is busy with the concept revision. 

 Bus Depots: land acquisition 12 
 

100% 74% 36% 

 
All land deals earmarked for 2014/15 have been concluded. 
Aim is to ensure that are several land parcels transaction 
that have been concluded reach the conveyancing. Stage 
and secondly that a conveyancer and property 
broker is appointed   
 
The focus of this project and KPI was to secure and 
purchase the land in this financial year, prior to 
development taking place. The descriptor, as outlined in the 
scorecard erroneously refers to development progress, as 
opposed to a KPI descriptor the speaks to the nature or 
progress of the land transaction. 

Bus depots: Alex layover facility  100% 10% 90% 

 
The concept design has been completed. Land acquisition 
is under way and detailed design will start in October 2015.. 
The project was put on hold due to changes to the BRT 
operational plan. CoJ Transport requested that the design 
be postponed 
until further notice.  

Bus Depots: Midrand/Ivory Park  

 

100% 10% 90% 

 
The concept design has been completed. Land acquisition 
is under way and detailed design will start in October 2015.  

                                                

 

12
 The focus of this project and KPI was to secure and purchase the land in this financial year, prior to 

development taking place. The descriptor, as outlined in the scorecard erroneously refers to development 

progress, as opposed to a KPI descriptor the speaks to the nature or progress of the land transaction. 
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KPI 
 

2014/15 
Annual Target 

2014/15 
Actual 

2014/15 
 Variance 

2014/15 
Achievement 

score 
Explanation of progress, variations 

and steps to be taken to improve performance 
(as at end of June 2015) 

Watt Street interchange  100% 10% 90% 

 
Concept and preliminary design have been completed. The 
project has been put on hold by CoJ Transport due to 
budget constraints.  

Gandhi Square interchange 100% 0% 100% 

 
The project was put on hold due to changes to the BRT 
operational plan. CoJ Transport requested that the design 
be postponed until further notice. 

Greenstone terminal  

 

100% 0% 100% 

 
The project was put on hold due to changes to the BRT 
operational plan. CoJ Transport requested that the design 
be postponed until further notice. 

Emthonjeni terminal  

 

100% 0% 100% 


The project was put on hold due to changes to the BRT 
operational plan. CoJ Transport requested that the design 
be postponed until further notice. 

Phase 1A and 1B BRTretrofit 
 

100% 97% 3% 

 
Construction is at an advanced stage and the project 
achieved practical completion at the end of June 2015.  

Station ITS 
 

100% 25% 75% 

 
The detailed designs have been completed and 
construction has been delayed until July 2015 due to 
budget constraints. This project does not have a capex 
budget allocation. 

 Rehabilitation of Section 1 

 

100% 0% 100% 

 
Target not met due to late appointment of professional 
team. Engineers are developing different design options. 
The concept design is due for completion on 25 July 2015. 

Edith Cavell BRT pavement 
strengthening 

100% - - 


The scope of works for this project was moved to the 
section 15 phase 2 project. 

Upgrading of Jukskei Bridge NMT 
links 

100% - - 


The project was cancelled due to budget constraints. 

Phase 1A NMT station precincts  - -  


This project was divided into sub-projects: Lakeview 
(phase 1), Orlando NMT, Noordgesig NMT, Basothong and 
Mavumbi NMT and Thokoza Park NMT BRT station (see 
below). 

Station signage 100% 0% 100% 


This project goes hand in hand with, Phase 1C station 
precincts, hence there is no progress until constructions. 
Construction is due to start in March 2016. 

    

 
 

    

 
 

    

 
 

    

 
 

    

 
 

    

 
 

 

Programme 4: Economic empowerment  

KPI 2014/15  
annual target 

2014/15 
actual 

Variance Achievement 
score Explanation of progress 

Number of short-term EPWP job 
opportunities created through 
programme 4 construction 
contracts 

2 860 4029 1169 

 
Target achieved 

BBBEE expenditure share as a % 
of total capital expenditure in 
programme 4 

100% 118% 18% 

 
Target achieved 

SMME expenditure share as a % 
of total capital expenditure in 
programme 4 

30% 3% 27% 

 
Target not achieved 

Of which: Jozi@Work SMME 
expenditure share as a % of total 
capital expenditure 

5% 0% 5% 

 
Target not achieved 

 

Programme 4: Productive development partnerships  
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KPI 2014/15  
annual target 

2014/15 
actual 

Variance Achievement 
score Explanation of progress 

Positive media reports as a % of 
the total number of media reports 
on the JDA Rea Vaya 
construction work 

90% 76% 14% 

 
Target not achieved 

Number of property 
developments facilitated by the 
JDA at Rea Vaya stations 

1 1 0 

 
Target achieved 

 

Expenditure overview and explanations
13

 

Project 
 

Business 
plan 

budget 
R m 

Adjusted 
budget 
R m

14
 

2014/15 
actual 

expenditure 
R m 

Variance Explanation of 
variations 

Phase 1a and b Retrofit 14.88 15.62 14.75 0.87 

Construction is at an advanced 
stage and the project will be at 
practical completion by end of 
June 2015. The planned scope 
of works for this financial has 
been completed. 

Phase 1C Station 6.90 7.25 3.69 3.56 

The concept design has been 
completed a detailed design is 
planned to commence in 
September 2015. The 
construction stage is only 
planned to commence in March 
2016 

Selby Depot 2.00 2.10 9.19 -7.09 

The concept design has been 
completed. The process of land 
acquisition is underway and 
detailed design will commence 
in October 2015. The planned 
scope of works for this financial 
year has been completed. 

Midrand Depot 3.00 3.15 1.68 1.47 

The concept design has been 
completed. The process of land 
acquisition is underway and 
detailed design will commence 
in October 2015. The planned 
scope of works for this financial 
year has been completed. 

Booysens Layover 12.00 21.95 19.70 2.25 

Detailed designs have been 
completed. The main 
contractor has been appointed 
and construction is at an 
advanced stage. The project 
completion is anticipated for 
October 2015. The planned 
scope of works for this financial 
year has been completed.  

Land 30.00 31.50 18.46 13.04 All the land deals that we 

                                                

 

13
 Note that this table splits expenditure at the project level which is consolidated in the capital budget 

14
 Note that the adjusted budget reflected is the final budget as approved by the CoJ and not the proposed budget amount reflected in the 

mid-term scorecard. 
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Project 
 

Business 
plan 

budget 
R m 

Adjusted 
budget 
R m

14
 

2014/15 
actual 

expenditure 
R m 

Variance Explanation of 
variations 

earmarked for this financial 
have been concluded.   

Klipspruit Rehab 2.70 2.85 0.83 2.01 

The target on this project was 
not met due to late 
appointment of the professional 
team. All field investigations 
and the Engineers currently 
developing different design 
options. The concept design 
will be completed on the 25 
July 2015. 

Section 2 road widening 3.90 4.09 3.55 0.53 
This project has been 
completed. 

Alex Urban Upgrade - Phase 1 42.95 45.10 52.19 -7.08 

The construction of 7.2 km 
pedestrian walkways, soft and 
hard Landscaping has been 
completed. 

Alex Urban Upgrade - Phase 2 12.00 12.60 14.91 -2.31 

All the detailed designs for the 
construction of 2.0 km 
pedestrian walkways, soft and 
hard Landscaping have been 
completed. The main 
contractor and relevant local 
SMMEs have been appointed. 
Construction is underway and 
completion is anticipated in 
December 2015. The planned 
scope of works for this financial 
year has been completed. 

Section 9 3.50 0.90 1.05 -0.15 

The concept design has been 
completed and detailed design 
is underway. Construction is 
planned to commence in 
February 2016 until March 
2017. 

Gandi Square 0.70 0.74 0.00 0.74 

The project was put on hold 
due to changes on the BRT 
operational plan. COJ 
Transportation requested that 
the design be postponed until 
further notice. 

Greenstone 0.70 0.74 0.00 0.74 

The project was put on hold 
due to changes on the BRT 
operational plan. COJ 
Transportation requested that 
the design be postponed until 
further notice. 

Emothonjeni Terminal 0.70 0.74 0.00 0.74 

The project was put on hold 
due to changes on the BRT 
operational plan. COJ 
Transportation requested that 
the design be postponed until 
further notice. 
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Project 
 

Business 
plan 

budget 
R m 

Adjusted 
budget 
R m

14
 

2014/15 
actual 

expenditure 
R m 

Variance Explanation of 
variations 

Sandton Loop 10.00 5.25 2.83 2.42 

Concept design and detailed 
designs have been completed 
and approved by COJ 
Transportation. The main 
contractor has been appointed 
and construction will 
commence in July 2015 until 
October 2016. 

Alex Depot 4.30 4.55 1.40 3.15 

The concept design has been 
completed. The process of land 
acquisition is underway and 
detailed design will commence 
in October 2015. The planned 
scope of works for this financial 
year has been completed. 

Phase 1B Station Precinct 17.20 18.11 16.80 1.32 

Construction is at an advanced 
stage and the project will be at 
practical completion by end of 
June 2015. The planned scope 
of works for this financial has 
been completed. 

Phase 1C Station Precinct 1.20 1.26 0.51 0.75 

The concept design has been 
completed an detailed design is 
planned to commence in 
September 2015. The 
construction stage is only 
planned to commence in March 
2016. 

Lakeview NMT (Phase 1A) - Phase 
2 

10.00 10.50 11.93 -1.43 

Detailed designs for 7.0 km 
cycle lanes and pedestrian 
walkways have been 
completed. The main 
contractor and relevant local 
SMMEs have been appointed. 
Construction is underway and 
completion is planned for 
December 2015. The planned 
scope of works for this financial 
year has been completed. 

Thokoza Park NMT 4.70 4.96 5.71 -0.76 
This project has been 
completed. 

Basothong and Boomtown 10.90 11.46 9.68 1.77 
This project has been 
completed. 

Phase 1A Feeder routes 2.50 2.63 0.45 2.18 

Concept and detailed design 
have been completed. The 
process of appointing a main 
contractor is underway and 
construction is planned to 
commence in July 2015. The 
anticipated completion date for 
this project is April 2016. The 
planned scope of woks for this 
financial year had been 
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Project 
 

Business 
plan 

budget 
R m 

Adjusted 
budget 
R m

14
 

2014/15 
actual 

expenditure 
R m 

Variance Explanation of 
variations 

completed. 

Section 15 - Phase 1 146.90 154.27 201.17 -46.91 

The construction of the BRT 
lanes along Louis Botha 
(Section 15) between the 
Johannesburg CBD and 
Alexandra Township has been 
completed. The project is 
currently at snagging stage. 

Phase 15 - Phase 2 50.00 52.50 77.97 -25.47 

All the detailed designs for the 
construction of mixed traffic 
lanes, pedestrian walkways, 
street light upgrade and 
services upgrade along Louis 
Botha (Section 15) between 
Johannesburg CBD and 
Alexandra Township have been 
approve. The main contractors 
and relevant local SMMES 
have been appointed. 
Construction is underway and 
completion is anticipated in 
December 2015. The planned 
scope of works for 2014/15 
financial has been completed. 

Section 8A 9.30 9.77 26.99 -17.22 

All the detailed designs for the 
dedicated BRT Bridge over the 
M1 connecting Wynberg and 
Sandton have been completed. 
The main contractor has been 
appointed. Construction is 
underway and completion is 
anticipated in December 2016. 
The planned scope of works for 
the 2014/15 financial year has 
been completed. 

Section 8B 25.00 26.25 25.13 1.12 

The detailed designs for the 
Sandspruit Bridge widening 
and Marlboro Road widening 
have been completed. The 
main contractor has been 
appointed. Construction is 
underway and completion is 
anticipated in June 2016. The 
planned scope of works for this 
financial year has been 
completed. 

Section 8C 75.00 72.90 83.37 -10.47 

All the detailed designs for the 
construction of BRT lanes, 
mixed traffic lanes, pedestrian 
walks, street lighting upgrade 
and services upgrade, along 
Katherine Street between 
Grayston Drive and West 
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Project 
 

Business 
plan 

budget 
R m 

Adjusted 
budget 
R m

14
 

2014/15 
actual 

expenditure 
R m 

Variance Explanation of 
variations 

Street have been completed. 
The main contractor and 
relevant SMMEs have been 
appointed. Construction is at 
an advanced stage and 
completion is anticipated in 
September 2015.  The planned 
scope of works for this financial 
year has been completed. 

Great Walk Bridge 52.00 14.15 17.72 -3.57 

All the detailed design have 
been completed and the main 
contractor has been appointed. 
Construction is underway and 
completion is anticipated for 
December 2016. The planned 
scope of works for this financial 
year has been completed. 

Alex Spur and Great Walk 39.96 41.96 37.87 4.10 

The construction of 2.5 km of 
pedestrian walkways, roads 
upgrade, street lighting 
upgrade and services upgrade 
has been completed. The 
project is currently at snagging 
stage. 

Watt Interchange 12.30 15.62 11.83 3.80 

Concept and Preliminary 
design have been completed. 
Subsequently, the project has 
been put on hold by COJ 
Transportation due to budget 
constraints. However, the 
planned scope of works for this 
financial year has been 
completed. 

Orlando NMT 2.30 2.38 2.68 -0.30 
This project has been 
completed. 

Noordgesig NMT 4.90 5.11 5.11 0.00 
This project has been 
completed. 

ITS 10.00 10.50 0.00 10.50 

The detailed designs have 
been completed and 
construction has been delayed 
until July 2015 due to budget 
constraints. 

Lakeview NMT Phase 1 15.96 16.76 11.67 5.09 

The planned scope of works for 
this financial year has been 
completed. The project is 
currently at snagging stage. 

Watt Interchange 12.30 15.62 11.83 3.80 

Concept and Preliminary 
design have been completed. 
Subsequently, the project has 
been put on hold by COJ 
Transportation due to budget 
constraints. However, the 
planned scope of works for this 
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Project 
 

Business 
plan 

budget 
R m 

Adjusted 
budget 
R m

14
 

2014/15 
actual 

expenditure 
R m 

Variance Explanation of 
variations 

financial year has been 
completed. 

 

Programme 4 spent 100 per cent of its budget in 2014/15, spending R690.8 million of its 

R630.2 million budget. Construction work is progressing well on the two major construction projects 

(sections 8 and 15). The JDA’s recovery plans were successful and some of the strategic land 

purchases (for the city depot and the Watt Street interchange) have increased expenditure. 

 

Thirteen of the programme’s projects achieved their overall development progress targets against the 

completion of works targets. Construction will continue in 2015/16 to achieve the intended outputs 

and outcomes within the multi-year framework. While this makes it unnecessary to identify further 

remedial actions, it is necessary to improve the project development phase of work in this portfolio so 

that implementation plans can be rolled out with limited variation in terms of scope, cost and time in 

future. 

 

The programme created a total of 4 029 employment opportunities, exceeding the annual target of 

2 860. 

 

EPWP employment opportunities 

 

 
 

Jul 

 
 

Aug 

 
 

Sep 

 
 

Oct 

 
 

Nov 

 
 

Dec 

 
 
Jan 

 
 
Feb 

 
 
Mar 

 
 

Apr 

 
 

May 

 
 

Jun 

 
 

Total 

Achi
evem
ent 

score 

Project  Number of employment opportunities   

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4   

Phase 1C section 15 phase 1 
(Alexandra to Parktown) 

9 13 13 20 0 0 24 24 4 32 32 32 203 

 
Phase 1C section 15 phase 2          79 79 79 237 

 
Phase 1C section 8C (Alexandra to 
Sandton) 
 

9 13 13 20 36 36 36 36 59 46 46 46 396 

 
NMT 1A Thokoza Park 12 15 10 10 10 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 57 

 
NMT 1A Lakeview 15 15 15 10 10 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 65 

 
NMT 1A Basothong 10 10 12 12 8 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 52 

 
NMT 1B Pennyville 0 0 0 0 23 23 15 10 0 0 0 0 71 

 
Station retrofits 1A 9 20 20 24 16 16 16 16  3 11 10 161 

 
Phase 1C NMT (Alexandra urban 

upgrade – walk and cycle) 

0 18 23 55 60 55 51 128 128 133 133 133 917 

 
Section 8A          7 7 7 21 

 
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Jul 

 
 

Aug 

 
 

Sep 

 
 

Oct 

 
 

Nov 

 
 

Dec 

 
 
Jan 

 
 
Feb 

 
 
Mar 

 
 

Apr 

 
 

May 

 
 

Jun 

 
 

Total 

Achi
evem
ent 

score 

Project  Number of employment opportunities   

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4   

Section 8B       0 0 0 15 15 15 45 

 
Phase 1C Section 8C (Alexandra to 

Sandton – Katherine Drive roadworks) 

9 13 13 20 36 36 36 36 42 46 46 46 379 

 
Phase 1B station precincts NMT     23 35 35      93 

 
Alex Spur pedestrian walk 10 10 80 80 90 90 95 95 95 132 132 132 1 041 

 
Section 15I Great Walk Pedestrian 

Bridge 

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1    1 

 
BRT depots – Booysens layover 

building 

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 5 0 11 11 11 38 

 
Westbury NMT (phase 1)          84 84 84 252 

 
Total 83 127 199 251 312 291 308 350 329 588 596 595 4 029 

 
 

Additional projects 

KPI 
 

2014/15 
Annual Target 

2014/15 
 Actual 

2014/15 
 Variance 

Explanation of progress, variations 
and steps to be taken to improve performance 

(as at end of June 2015) 

BRT bus depots – Booysens layover 
building 
 

- 82% N/A Detailed designs have been completed. The main contractor has 
been appointed and construction is at an advanced stage. The 
project completion is anticipated for October 2015.  

Section 9 Rea Vaya BRT (Sandton to 

Randburg) 

- 100% N/A The concept design has been completed and detailed design is 
under way. Construction is due to start in February 2016 and end 
in March 2017. 

Phase 1C section 8A – M1 flyover 

bridge  

- 52% N/A All detailed designs for the dedicated BRT bridge over the M1 
connecting Wynberg and Sandton have been completed. The 
main contractor has been appointed. Construction is under way 
and completion is anticipated in December 2016.  

Phase 1C section 8B – along 

Katherine Street, widening of 

Marlboro Drive  

- 62% N/A The detailed designs for the Sandspruit Bridge widening and 
Marlboro Road widening have been completed. The main 
contractor has been appointed. Construction is under way and 
completion is anticipated in June 2016.  

Phase 1C station precincts - 0% N/A The concept design has been completed and detailed design is 
due to start in September 2015. Construction is due to start in 
March 2016. 

Lakeview and Klipspruit Valley NMT 
(phase 1) 
 

- 99% N/A The project is currently at snagging stage. 

Orlando NMT - 100% N/A This project has been completed 

Noordgesig NMT - 100% N/A This project has been completed. 

Basothong and Mavumbi NMT 
 

- 100% N/A This project has been completed. 

Thokoza Park NMT BRT station 
 

- 100% N/A This project has been completed. 

Lakeview and Klipspruit Valley NMT 
(phase 2) 
 

 64% N/A Detailed designs for 7km cycle lanes and pedestrian walkways 
have been completed. The main contractor and relevant local 
SMMEs have been appointed. Construction is under way and 
completion is planned for December 2015.  
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Progress on projects 

Section 8 of trunk route 1C 

This route starts at the corner of Pretoria Main Road and Lees Street and goes over the M1 highway 

via the proposed flyover, turning left into Katherine Drive then right into West Street, ending at the 

Sandton Gautrain station precinct along Rivonia Road. The route is about 4km long and has three 

BRT stations. 

 

The Rea Vaya BRT project aims to provide a world-class, affordable, efficient and reliable mass 

public transit service. The construction of dedicated bus ways, stations, depots and associated NMT 

infrastructure aims to improve: 

 Bus travel times by building priority lanes that are clear of traffic 

 The safety of bus commuters and other drivers 

 The travel experience for bus commuters 

 Integration with other public transport modes, including walking and cycling 

 The efficiency and sustainability of public transport for commuters and operators.  

 

The BRT project also aims to ensure that the surrounding communities benefit from the short-term 

employment and income-generating opportunities during construction, and contribute to the 

development of sustainable construction companies in the longer term.  

 

The project scope of works includes detailed design and construction. Construction is divided into two 

main contracts: 

 Section 8C – Katherine Street from Sandspruit to West Street (km 0.330 to km 1.960) 

 Section 8D – Rivonia Road between Katherine Street and West Street (km 0.0 to km 0.330). 

 

The construction works include:  

 Constructing pavements on BRT lanes  

 Relocating services 

 Constructing sidewalks 

 Widening intersections 

 Relocating and installing street lights 

 Road marking and signage 

 Installing new traffic signals. 
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Section 15 of trunk route 1C 

This route starts from the Victoria/Empire Road intersection in Parktown, via Clarendon Road, into 

Louis Botha Avenue and Pretoria Main Road, and ends at the intersection of Pretoria Main Road and 

Lees Street. The section is about 12.6km long and will have 10 stations. 

 

The existing cross-section along Louis Botha Avenue has two mixed traffic lanes per direction, with 

dedicated turning lanes at certain intersections. The proposed BRT cross-section involves converting 

the existing inside lane into a dedicated BRT lane and leaving one lane as a mixed traffic lane. It also 

includes the termination of certain existing right turns to limit the turning conflicts between the BRT 

and mixed traffic. This will improve the BRT’s operating speed. All the key access intersections to 

suburbs along Louis Botha Avenue will be maintained.  

 

The project includes key BRT stations, a sidewalk (about 3m wide) throughout and soft and hard 

landscaping. NMT strategies are proposed to encourage commuter mobility and access to the BRT 

system, within a radius of 1 000m around each station. The proposed Watt interchange will act as a 

potential transfer point for section 15, section 8 and the Alexandra Spur. The future feeder system 

from Midrand along Old Pretoria Road will be accommodated at this interchange. Another feeder 

service connecting Johannesburg and Ekurhuleni along London Road will be provided and service will 

end at the proposed Watt interchange. A proposed public square also forms part of the interchange.  

 

For the purpose of construction, this section will be divided into four main contracts of about 3km in 

length: 

 Section 15A: Victoria/Empire Intersection (km 0.0) to Fir Street (km 3.0) 

 Section 15B: Fir Street (km 3.0) to Louis Road (km 5.9) 

 Section 15C: Louis Road (km 5.9) to Newick Road (km 8.6) 

 Section 15D: Newick Road (km 8.6) to Lees Street (km 12.56). 

 

The project scope of works entails detailed design and construction, including:  

 Constructing pavements on BRT lanes 

 Relocating services 

 Constructing sidewalks 

 Relocating and installing street lights 

 Road marking and signage 

 Installing new traffic signals. 
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BRT phase 1C NMT 

The detailed scope of works includes the construction of paved sidewalks, cycling lanes, traffic-

calming measures such as speed bumps, upgrading of existing roads, soft and hard landscaping, as 

well as public lighting. 

 

BRT phase 1B station precincts – public environment landscaping  

The scope of work entails paving specified areas in the station’s vicinity, landscaping, street lights and 

furniture. There will be a traffic accommodation component during the project’s implementation. The 

station precinct upgrades have been completed for trunk route 1B. 

 

BRT bus depots – city  

The project aims to locate the city depot in Selby at the intersection of Earp and John streets, but the 

land acquisition process is still being concluded with the current owner. The required size for the 

facility is 5 ha (50 000 m2). The scope of work entails planning and design of civil engineering 

components such as a parking area for buses, an administration building, a maintenance area, 

underground fuel tanks, bus wash-and-dry bays, and soft and hard landscaping. The site will be 

shared with the landowner, who intends to develop a car workshop. The design work will concentrate 

on the civil engineering components listed above. The depot design will be similar to the recently 

completed Dobsonville bus depot. 

 

BRT bus depots – Selby bus layover facility  

The Selby bus layover facility, proposed along the Pat Mbatha bus way, will provide daytime parking 

for BRT buses. The facility will be developed on a 2 ha (20 000 m2) piece of land that is owned by the 

CoJ. The scope of work entails construction of the bus parking area, provision of a small 

administration building, road widening at the facility entrance and provision of a perimeter fence. 

 

BRT bus depots – Sandton and Midrand/Ivory Park bus layover facilities  

The Sandton and Midrand/Ivory Park Bus layover facilities will provide daytime parking for BRT buses 

when BRT phase 1C operations start. The original proposed site for the Sandton facility was a 

property owned by the CoJ at the corner of Katherine and West streets. The feasibility work 

determined that this was not a suitable site, so the network design will be adjusted to identify a 

suitable depot site. The site selection process for the Midrand/Ivory Park facility will be undertaken in 

2015/16. Construction work on both facilities was under way in 2014/15 and will continue without 

pause in 2015/16. 
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Alexandra public environment upgrade 

The Alexandra public environment upgrade is part of the Rea Vaya phase 1C operations project. It 

aims to develop high-quality pedestrian walkways and connect the greater Alexandra area to all key 

public transport nodes and the surrounding areas of economy.  

 

The project includes the design and implementation of NMT strategies that connect the greater 

Alexandra communities to all areas of public interest, including the Rea Vaya phase 1C. The objective 

of a complete street concept is to create green and liveable streets with a focus on pedestrian, rather 

than motorist, mobility. 

 

The scope of works entails construction of paved sidewalks, cycling lanes, traffic-calming measures 

such as speed humps, upgrading of existing roads and soft and hard landscaping, as well as public 

lighting. The work is concentrated in and around the Alexandra town square. It is estimated that on 

completion, a 30.5km network of high-quality NMT will be provided in the Alexandra Township. 

 

Programme 5: Alexandra renewal project  

Programme purpose: Manage the development of Alexandra through capital investments, overseeing 
integrated investments by other departments and entities, and facilitating community-based initiatives and local 
economic development strategies. 

 

In 2001 the urban renewal programme was established to focus on eight urban townships, including 

Alexandra; the lessons learnt from these eight nodes were intended to improve the manner in which 

government supports township renewal across the country.  

 

The Alexandra renewal project, which has been in existence for 12 years, is funded by the Gauteng 

province and the CoJ. An area development masterplan guides the development of this historic 

neighbourhood and a number of housing and community development projects have been 

implemented. Constraints to future development include an interdict against property developments 

that are subject to an unresolved land claim. In 2013 the Mayoral Committee decided that the 

Alexandra renewal project should be amalgamated with the JDA. Projects will be moved to the JDA 

system as appropriate, and employees will be seconded to the JDA in a phased way to ensure the 

least possible disruption. This was a new programme in the JDA budget in 2014/15 and it will be 

expanded as the institutional review milestones are achieved.  

 

Key deliverables in 2014/15 included: 

 Finalising the Alex masterplan and implementing a meaningful public participation process to 

agree on implementation priorities and collective action. 
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 The declaration of Alex as a priority housing development area (through the Housing 

Development Agency Act [2008]), and confirmation of dedicated funding for land and housing. 

 Implementing capital works projects funded by the CoJ, human settlement grants and other 

intergovernmental grants. 

 

The developments made up a capital budget of R12.6 million in 2014/15, which is funded through the 

CoJ and the urban settlements development grant.  

 

In the mid-year adjustment for 2014/15 the Nancefield budget was R60 million. Three strategic area 

frameworks for the two BRT corridors and Turffontein were finalised and projects for intervention were 

identified. It is anticipated that future transit-oriented node development precincts will be identified 

through the strategic area frameworks currently being prepared. 

 

Performance against KPIs 

Programme 5: Capital expenditure 

KPI 
 

Business 
Plan 

Budget 
R m 

Adjusted 
Budget 

R m
15

 

2014/15 
Annual 
Target 

2014/15 
 Actual 

2014/15 
 Variance 

2014/15 
Achievem
ent score 

Explanation of 
progress, variations 

and steps to be taken to improve 
performance 

(as at end of June 2015) 

Percentage of capital budget spent 111.2 48.53 
 

100% 25% 75% 




Land disputes and undertaking 
heritage studies caused delays. 

 

Programme 5: Development progress per project 

KPI 
 

2014/15 
Annual 
Target 

2014/15 
 Actual 

2014/15 
 Variance 

2014/15 
Achieve

ment 
score 

Explanation of progress, variations 
and steps to be taken to improve performance 

(as at end of June 2015) 

4th Avenue Clinic, Alexandra 100% 8% 92% 

 
A professional team has been appointed and commenced 
planning and design work. Construction is anticipated in 
2015/16.  

Jukskei River environmental 
upgrading and rehabilitation, 
Alexandra 

100% 0% 100% 

 
The civil engineer has been appointed. Survey and geotech to 
commence on 1 July 2015. Development concept is anticipated 
by end July 2015 and detailed designs and costs by August 
2015. 

Old Ikage housing development, 
Alexandra 

100% 5% 95% 

 
Redesign of concept designs is currently under way. The overall 
development progress is at 5 per cent. 

People`s Court 7th Avenue (Old 
Alexandra), New Heritage Alexandra 

100% 0% 100% 

 
Heritage consultant to be appointed before July 2015to conduct 
research and submit findings to the JDA.  

Refuse bins 100% 100% 0% 

 
Project completed. 

Thoko Mngoma Clinic, Marlboro 100% 6% 94% 

 
The professional teams were advised to delay the concept 
designs for this project as there was a possibility of relocating 
the clinic to Marlboro. The overall development progress is at 
6 per cent. 

                                                

 

15
 Note that the adjusted budget reflected is the final budget as approved by the CoJ and not the proposed budget amount reflected in the 

mid-term scorecard. 
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KPI 
 

2014/15 
Annual 
Target 

2014/15 
 Actual 

2014/15 
 Variance 

2014/15 
Achieve

ment 
score 

Explanation of progress, variations 
and steps to be taken to improve performance 

(as at end of June 2015) 

Development of open space 100% 0% 100% 

 
Fellows Consulting was appointed. The Bid Adjudication 
Committee report for the landscape architect was submitted. 
The Bid Adjudication Committee report for the community 
participation consultant CPC is in progress. 
 

Alexandra Heritage Interpretation 
Centre 
 

100% 55.6% 44.4% 

 
Building is under way. Anticipated completion date is 9 
September 2015. 

Pedestrian bridge, Vincent Tshabalala 
Road 

100% 10% 90% 

 
Traffic impact assessment for Vincent Tshabalala Road in 
process, detailed topographical surveys and geotechnical 
investigations have been conducted. The final traffic impact 
assessment must still be shared with the JDA.  

Linear markets (phase 1) 100% 0% 100% 

 
Tender for professional team was awarded in March 2015. 
Approved detailed design and costs estimates completed by end 
July 2015. 

 

Programme 5: Economic empowerment  

KPI 2014/15  
annual target 

2014/15 
actual 

Variance Achievem
ent score Explanation of progress 

Number of short-term EPWP job 
opportunities created through 
programme 5 construction 
contracts 

160 21 139 

 
Target not achieved 

BBBEE expenditure share as a 
% of total capital expenditure  

100% 0% 100% 

 
Target not achieved 

SMME expenditure share as a 
% of total capital expenditure  

30% 0% 100% 

 
Target not achieved 

Of which: Jozi@Work SMME 
expenditure share as a % of 
total capital expenditure  

5% 0% 100% 

 
Target not achieved 

 

Programme 5: Productive development partnerships 

KPI 2014/15  
annual target 

2014/15 
actual 

Variance Achievem
ent score Explanation of progress 

Positive media reports as a % 
of the total number of media 
reports on the JDA in 
Alexandra 

90% 55% 45% 

 
Target not achieved 

Number of property 
developments facilitated by the 
JDA in Alexandra 

1 0 1 

 
Target not achieved 

 

Expenditure overview and explanations 

Project 
 

Business Plan 
Budget R m 

Adjusted Budget 

 R m
16

 

2014/15 
Actual 

Expenditure R m 

Variance Explanation of  
variations 

4th Avenue Clinic 3.0 3.0 0.84 2.16 Delay was due to lack of progress on site 
to be used  

Jukskei River environmental upgrading and 
rehabilitation, Alexandra  

1.25 
 

1.25 
- 1.25 

Delay was due to lack of progress 

Old Ikage housing 
 

2.5 2.5 0.1 2.4 Project delay caused by land disputes 
between the CoJ and the surrounding 
schools. 

People’s Court 7th Avenue 
 

0.4 0.41 - 0.41 Delay was due to Heritage study to be 
conducted 

                                                

 

16
 Note that the adjusted budget reflected is the final budget as approved by the CoJ and not the proposed budget amount reflected in the 

mid-term scorecard. 
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Project 
 

Business Plan 
Budget R m 

Adjusted Budget 

 R m
16

 

2014/15 
Actual 

Expenditure R m 

Variance Explanation of  
variations 

Refuse bins 
 

0.2 0.23 0.2 0 No variation, project expenditure spent 
as planned. 

Thoko Mngoma Clinic 
 

3.0 3.0 0.59 2.41 The concept designs were delayed due 
to the proposed relocation of the clinic to 
Marlboro closer to Louis Botha corridor.  

Development of open space 
 

1.5 1.5 0.11 1.39 Delay was due to lack of progress 

Alexandra Heritage Interpretation Centre 
 

20.0 20.0 7.81 12.19 The 2014/15 milestones for this two-year 
project have been met. Project will be 
completed next year. 

Pedestrian bridge, Vincent Tshabalala Road 0.7 0.7 0.7 0 No variation, project expenditure spent 
as planned. 

Linear markets (phase 1) 0 15.95 1.6 14.35 The 2014/15 milestones for this two-year 
project have been met. Project will be 
completed next year. 

TOTAL 48.53 11.99 36.54  

 

Progress on projects 

4th Avenue Clinic, Alexandra 

The existing clinic on 4th Avenue in Alexandra will be upgraded to respond to the growing demands of 

primary healthcare facilities in the area. This will entail redeveloping the clinic buildings by 

refurbishing, upgrading and expanding the facility. A professional team has been appointed and 

commenced planning and design work. Construction is anticipated in 2015/16.  

 

Thoko Mngoma Clinic  

The existing clinic located at the corner 3rd Street and 6th Avenue in Alexandra will be upgraded to 

respond to the growing demands of primary healthcare facilities in the area. This will entail 

redeveloping the clinic buildings by refurbishing, upgrading and expanding the facility. A professional 

team has been appointed and commenced planning and design work. Construction is anticipated in 

2015/16.  

Jukskei River environmental rehabilitation 

The river banks of the Jukskei River will be stabilised by gabions to prevent further erosion. In 

2014/15, the project focused on the section of the river below Maputo Park and the Riverside 

tributary. A professional team has been appointed to undertake planning and design, followed by 

implementation in 2015/16 and 2016/17.  

 

Old Ikage housing 

About 85 new Breaking New Ground (BNG) housing units will be built on a site already cleared of 

informal structures adjacent to the Iputheng school cluster in Alexandra. This site was selected to 

demonstrate government`s intention to redevelop Old Alexandra but on a site that is not contested 

due to land claim issues. Professionals were appointed in April 2015 to undertake planning and 

design work and prepare this project for implementation in 2015/16. 
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People’s Court 7th Avenue, Alexandra 

This site has been identified as a heritage site as a result of its history during the period of political 

violence between 1976 and 1994. Preliminary research has been completed and a specialist will be 

appointed to research the history of the site and to conduct stakeholder consultations with the aim to 

come up with proposals to commemorate the site. 

 

Refuse bins 

This is an ongoing project to distribute 240 one-litre refuse bins to new households in housing 

developments in the Far East Bank. To date the Alexandra renewal project has developed 5 514 new 

housing units in Ext 7, 8, 9, and 10, its is Pikitup’s responsibility to supply bins to these households. 

This project is complete as the refuse bins were delivered to households in the Far East Bank. 

 

Pedestrian bridge, Vincent Tshabalala Road 

A new pedestrian bridge will be built across Vincent Tshabalala Road as pedestrian traffic from 

Alexandra to the Johannesburg College in Kew is in conflict with vehicle traffic on this busy road. This 

bridge will replace the one that was demolished when Vincent Tshabalala Road was widened from 

two to four lanes between 2002 and 2004. The project planned to appoint a professional team to 

undertake planning and design in 2014/15 so that building could start in 2015/16. A specialist has 

been appointed to commence with the traffic impact assessment.  

  

Development of open space 

The development of open space is an ongoing programme in Alexandra. The reinstatement of Maputo 

Park along the Jukskei River near Florence Moposho Bridge has been identified for implementation in 

2015/16. This park was used as a construction site and accommodated a detour during the 

construction of Florence Moposho Road and Bridge. The professional team has been appointed to 

commence planning and design. Construction will start in 2015/2016 

 

Alexandra Heritage Interpretation Centre project 

The JDA entered into an agreement with the national Department of Tourism to complete the 

Alexandra Heritage Interpretation Centre on behalf of the department. The construction tender has 

been awarded.  

Programme 6: Administration and management  

Programme purpose: Provide strategic leadership and support services, including the accommodation needs 
and overall management of the JDA. 
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This programme accommodates shared services such as CEO, finance, internal audit, company 

secretariat, marketing and communications, risk and compliance, supply chain management, IT, 

human resources and facilities management.  

 

In 2014/15 this programme worked on ensuring compliant and effective management and 

administration to achieve a clean audit. The welfare and morale of staff are key considerations, as is 

the need to resource the JDA to implement rising capital budgets. 

 

Performance against KPIs 

KPA  KPI Annual 
Target 

Q1  
Target 

Q1  
Actual 

Q2 
Target 

Q2 
Actual 

Q3  
Target 

Q3  
Actual 

Q4 
Target 

Q4 
Actual 

Varian
ce 

Q4 
Achieve

ment  
 

Capital 
expenditure for 
programme 6 

% of capital budget 
spent 

100% 12% 12% 30% 2.3% 60% 3% 100% 7% 93% 

 
Programme 6: 
Human resources 

% black employees 80% 94% 95% 80% 95% 80% 95% 80% 93% +13% 


% female employees 45% 52% 58.67% 45% 60.27

% 
45% 58% 45% 53% +8% 

 
% black female 
senior managers 

35% 33% 13.7% 35% 10.96
% 

35% 13.7% 35% 12.2% 22.8% 

 
Staff turnover <10%  3% 2.67% 5% 3.03% 7% 10.29

% 
<10% 2.4% -7.6% 

 
HIV voluntary testing 
opportunities 

0 0 0 1 1 0 0 1 1 +1 

 
Compliance with 
Occupational Health 
and Safety Act at the 
Bus Factory 

80% 80% 82% 80% 84% 80% 89% 80% 90% +10% 

 

Investment in training 
3% 3% 2% 3% 2% 3% 1% 3% 1% 

2% 



Programme 6: 

Financial 

management and 

corporate 

governance 

 

Unqualified audit 
reports  

Unqualified - - - - - - - - 
 

- 
Overspending 
against operating 
budget 

0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 100% 

 
Written objections 
received to contract 
award as a % of all 
contracts awarded 

<5% <5% 0 <5% 0 <5% 4.2% <5% 0% -5% 

 

IT network availability 
– external 

98% 100% 100% 98% 100% 98% 100% 98% 100% 
+2% 

 
Programme 6: 
Economic 
development 

BBBEE expenditure 
share as a % of total 
operating expenditure 

100% 100% 110% 100% 95% 100% 85% 100% 67% -33% 

 
SMME expenditure 
share as a % of total 
operating expenditure 

40% 9% 9% 40% 8% 40% 29% 40% 45% +5% 

 
 Jozi@Work SMME 

expenditure share as 
a % of total 
contracted services 
and repairs and 
maintenance 

10% - - 0% 0% 10% 0% 10% 0% 10% 

 

Programme 6: 
Operating 
expenditure 

Programme 6: % of 
operating budget 
spent (cumulative for 
the year to date) 

100% 12% 12% 30%  60%  100% 81% 19% 

 
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Programme 7: Development facilitation 
 
Programme purpose: Provide strategic leadership, coordination capacity, and analytical and negotiating skills 
to promote investment, establish and communicate shared development visions, and prepare a pipeline of 
implementation-ready property developments and capital works projects. 

 

The programme, which gives effect to the extended mandate of the JDA as the development 

facilitation agency for the CoJ, includes development implementation, project development, land 

development and urban management support functions. The planning and strategy and development 

facilitation units play strategic roles at the JDA to ensure developments contribute towards the city’s 

GDS vision and to facilitate easier, more participatory and better planned implementation of capital 

investments. In the last quarter of 2014/15 the development facilitation unit established itself in a new 

section of the JDA offices and appointed three development facilitation managers to facilitate 

development along the Corridors of Freedom in line with transit-oriented node development principles.  

 

The managers have been allocated the following corridors to promote area-based development: 

 Louis Botha  

 Empire–Perth and Soweto 

 Inner city and Turffontein.  

 

The development facilitation unit has worked on a number of key JDA development projects, including 

the Balfour Park precinct plan, the Orchards Clinic, the Orange Grove safety initiative, the Jabulani 

precinct funding mechanisms, the Orlando recreational centre, the Westdene dam precinct plan, the 

Hillbrow Tower precinct development, the Park Station precinct housing development, the inner-city 

housing strategy and the De Villiers Street Park planning and stakeholder engagement. These 

projects involve undertaking feasibility studies, promoting investment opportunities, leading property 

assembly strategies, negotiating property acquisition for developments and establishing community 

development partnerships.  

 

The development facilitation unit has also engaged with city councillors, business owners, residents 

and specific interest groups to establish local development forums in specific precincts along the 

Corridors of Freedom, including business owners and residents along Louis Botha Avenue and in 

Turffontein, Hillbrow, Melville and Westbury.  

 

One of the development facilitation unit’s projects aims to develop an urban management model using 

the Jozi@Work programme. The model will contribute to sustainable urban management in areas 

where the JDA is implementing projects. Furthering collaborative urban management strategies, the 

unit has engaged with city improvement districts in the inner city and begun processes to form similar 
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partnerships along the Corridors of Freedom. The unit has played an important role in growing the 

development footprint of the JDA in the areas where it implements capital expenditure projects.  

 

The development facilitation unit is also represented on the Alexandra land task team, which is 

chaired by Member of the Mayoral Committee Bovu. This team is responsible for negotiating a 

settlement agreement with Alexandra stakeholders to resolve the land disputes in Alexandra. The 

purpose of this initiative is to avoid litigation in the Land Claims Court and to get the prohibitive 

interdict against redevelopment in Alexandra withdrawn. 

 

Performance against KPIs 

Programme 7: Capital expenditure 

KPI 
 

Business 
Plan 

Budget 
R m 

Adjusted 
Budget 
R m

17
 

2014/15 
Annual 
Target 

2014/15 
 Actual 

2014/15 
 Variance 

2014/15 
Achievem
ent score 

Explanation of progress, 
variations 

and steps to be taken to improve 
performance 

(as at end of June 2015) 

Percentage of capital budget spent 25.0 6.89 100% 20% 60% 


The lack of progress made with the 
heritage impact assessments for 
the three corridors caused delays. 

 

Programme 7: Development progress per project 

KPI 
 

2014/15 
Annual 
Target 

2014/15 
 Actual 

2014/15 
 Variance 

2014/15 
Achieve

ment 
score 

Explanation of progress, variations 
and steps to be taken to improve performance 

(as at end of June 2015) 

Capital expenditure 100% 20% 60% 


 

Corridors of Freedom strategic area 
framework and heritage plans 

100% 50% 50% 

 
Service provider was appointed on 10 July 2015. 
 

Corridors of Freedom naming and 
branding 

 

100% 0% 100% 

 
Grounded Media, a marketing and communications company, 
was appointed at the end of May 2015 to manage the 
community engagement process for the naming and branding of 
the Corridors of Freedom. To date the implementation strategy 
and plan has been developed, which will inform the roll-out of 
the process on all three corridors. Public relations activities have 
been planned and space for print and electronic advertising has 
been secured for public service announcements to alert the 
public that the CoJ is embarking on a naming and branding 
process for the Corridors of Freedom. Twenty-two schools along 
the Empire–Perth corridor have been identified for the oral 
history project, which forms an integral part of the competition 
that will inform the final shortlisted names for this corridor. The 
competition will start when schools open in July and will target 
history learners in Grade 9. 

 
Programme 7: Economic empowerment  

KPI 2014/15  
annual target 

2014/15 
actual 

Variance Achievement 
score Explanation of progress 

BBBEE expenditure share as 
a % of total capital 
expenditure 100% 0% 100% 

 
Target not achieved 

SMME expenditure share as a 
% of total capital expenditure 30% 0% 30%  

Target not achieved 

                                                

 

17
 Note that the adjusted budget reflected is the final budget as approved by the CoJ and not the proposed budget amount reflected in the 

mid-term scorecard. 
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Of which: Jozi@Work SMME 
expenditure share as a % of 
total capital expenditure  

5% 0% 5% 

 
Target not achieved 

 

 
Expenditure overview and explanations 

Project Business 
Plan Budget 

R m 

Adjusted 
Budget 

R m 

2014/15 
Actual 

Expenditure 
R m 

Variance Explanation of  
variations 

Corridors of Freedom strategic 
area framework and heritage 
plans 

0.0 3.23 0.0 3.23 Lack of spending due to the lack of progress in appointing a 
service provider for the heritage impact assessments of the 
three corridors. 

Corridors of Freedom naming 
and branding 

 

0.0 3.67 1.36 2.31 Expenses included the service provider and development of 
the implementation strategy and plan. This multi-year 
project will continue without pause. 
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Section 5: Assessment of arrears on municipal taxes and service charges  

Directors’ and employees’ declarations of interest 

In accordance with its code of conduct, which is consistent with schedule 1 of the Municipal Systems 

Act and the provisions of the CoJ Corporate Governance Protocol for Municipal Entities, the JDA 

maintains a register of directors’ declarations of interests. The register is updated annually and as and 

when each director’s interests have changed. The JDA ensures that a conflicts of interest register is 

also circulated at every Board and Board committee meeting for the directors to declare any interests 

in relation to any matter that is to be discussed at a particular meeting. 

All JDA employees are required to fill in declarations of interest covering shareholding in private 

companies, membership of close corporations, directorships held, partnerships and joint ventures, 

remunerative employment outside of the JDA, gifts and hospitality and the status of their municipal 

accounts. The employees’ declaration of interests was undertaken in 2014/15. 

Assessment of municipal taxes and service charges owed to the JDA 

Detail 0–30 days 31–60 days 61–90 days 91–180 days >181 Total 

Not applicable - - -    

 

This is not applicable to the JDA as it does not levy municipal taxes and service charges. 

 

Amounts owed by the JDA for service charges 

Name of entity Amount owed Status Comments 

Johannesburg Water Nil Up to date N/A 

City Power Nil Up to date N/A 

City of Johannesburg Nil Up to date N/A 

 

Assessment of directors’ and senior managers’ municipal accounts 

Name Designation Name of municipality Municipal account 

name/number 

Status as at June 

2015 

Comments 

S Lewis 
Executive manager: 

strategy and planning 
City of Johannesburg 202365484 Nil Account paid up 

Z Mafata Chief finance officer  City of Johannesburg 206944274 Nil Account paid up 

T Mendrew Chief executive officer  City of Johannesburg 
Holly Land (Pty) Ltd  

201030171 
Nil Account paid up 

V Voyi 
Senior development 

manager 

City of Johannesburg 

and City of Mangaung 

1002979455 (Mangaung), 

1983203459  
Nil Account paid up 

L Visagie 
Senior development 

manager 
City of Johannesburg 303385695 Nil Account paid up 

R Shirinda Company secretary Ekurhuleni Municipality 1706238428 Nil Account paid up 

B Mbewu Chief audit executive Tshwane Municipality 5003918863 Nil Account paid up 

P Masilo Non-executive director Ekurhuleni Municipality 2603356925 Nil  Account paid up 

P Mashiane Non-executive director City of Ekurhuleni 2603272804 Nil Account paid up 
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Name Designation Name of municipality Municipal account 

name/number 

Status as at June 

2015 

Comments 

C Coovadia Non-executive director City of Johannesburg 400864220 Nil Account paid up 

N Selamolela Non-executive director No account N/A N/A N/A 

E Harvey Non-executive director City of Johannesburg 550857751 Nil Account paid up 

P Kubu Non-executive director City of Johannesburg 900883831 Nil Account paid up 

W Thwala Non-executive director 
Ekurhuleni Municipality 

and Mogale City 

800156046, 1705254316, 

1705290930, 

008000356027018 

Nil  Accounts all paid up 

K Govender Non-executive director City of Johannesburg 551971094 Nil Account paid up 

F Habib Executive manager 

corporate services 

City of Johannesburg 206916277 Nil Account paid up 

C Botes Executive manager: 

development facilitation 

City of Johannesburg 552623847 Nil Account paid up 

A Noholoza Senior development 

manager 

City of Johannesburg 202734808 Nil Account paid up 

B Mbuli - - - - - 

 

Section 6: Recommendations and plans for 2015/16 

As an agency of the CoJ, the work of the JDA responds to the Joburg 2040 GDS ideals of resilience, 

liveability and sustainability. While the work of the JDA is aimed at meeting cross-cutting objectives, 

the agency is institutionally located within the CoJ’s economic cluster. Within this cluster its specific 

aim is to develop a resilient, liveable, sustainable urban environment – underpinned by infrastructure 

that supports a low-carbon economy – in Johannesburg; and the need to create a job-intensive, 

equitable and competitive economy.  

 

The medium-term outputs of the JDA are to: 

 Restructure the city by developing defined, strategic geographic areas around the city and the 

movement corridors that link them. 

 Promote economic growth by creating efficient and competitive business environments that 

cluster industries and functions in these areas.  

 Turn around declining investment trends in these areas by upgrading public space, generating 

shared visions for future development, and encouraging urban management partnerships. 

 Develop local economic potential in marginalised areas to promote access to jobs and markets. 

 Encourage sustainable energy consumption and land use in the city by developing strategic 

transit nodes and corridors. 

 Promote economic empowerment through the structuring and procurement of JDA developments. 

 Support productive development partnerships and cooperation between all stakeholders in these 

areas. 
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The programmes and projects of the JDA for the next financial year must respond to CoJ priorities for 

2015/16, but also outline the necessary expectations and inputs required to achieve all the desired 

outcomes and impact.  

 

Alignment to the GDS 2040 
and CoJ priorities in 
2015/16 

Summary of the JDA’s responses across programmes and projects  

Sustainable human 
settlements 
 
Spatial transformation 
through Corridors of 
Freedom 
  

The JDA will continue to deliver on the 
objective of transforming the space 
economy in Johannesburg through the 
implementation of the Corridors of 
Freedom.  

 Develop station precincts (JDA programme 2).  

 Invest in the public transit and mobility 
infrastructure along the corridor routes (JDA 
programme 4). 

 Invest time and resources on development 
facilitation necessary in the corridors to catalyse 
development. 

Transit-oriented node 
development priority areas 
(corridors/nodes) 

  The transit-oriented node development programme 
encourages optimal development of transit hubs 
and corridors across the city, which provide access 
to affordable accommodation and transport, high-
quality public spaces and amenities, and good 
community services. 

 The greenways programme focuses on providing 
resilient, liveable and sustainable environments 
within the CoJ by using roads and transport modes 
to promote walking, cycling, and sustainable public 
transport. This programme includes the continued 
roll-out of the Rea Vaya BRT infrastructure and 
service. 

Priority intervention 
areas/zones 

A programme on priority area planning 
and implementation that shifts the design 
of the city – including elements such as 
streets, buildings and spaces of work and 
play – to catalyse economic activity, 
improve liveability and create sustainable 
human settlements. 

 The Alexandra renewal project was established to 
coordinate intergovernmental activities to develop 
Alex. Most of the work involves human settlement 
development projects such as upgrading hostels, 
building housing and building community facilities. 

Implementation of the inner-
city road map 

An inner-city transformation programme 
that continues the strategic inner-city 
upgrading focus for the JDA.  

 Within this programme there are elements of 
transit-oriented node and corridor development.  

 Precinct developments will be designed to respond 
to local conditions, needs and advantages, and to 
achieve economic, social and sustainable 
development outcomes. 

SMME and entrepreneurial 
support 
 
Job creation and SMME 
support through Jozi@Work 

The JDA seeks to optimise the number of 
local construction jobs created. The 
Diepsloot development is a key example.  

 JDA policy reserves a percentage of the value of all 
construction contracts for local SMMEs. 

 Projects will also be packaged to create 
opportunities for local SMMEs in line with the 
Jozi@Work principles.  

 The NMT construction work will be subcontracted 
entirely to SMME construction companies. The 
development of GMS priority areas (programme 3) 
will focus on unlocking economic development 
potential in these poor neighbourhoods. 

 The JDA will support the CoJ’s Department of 
Economic Development to develop business 
support programmes in the Alex automotive cluster, 
the African food hub in the inner city, and the 
Hillbrow Tower business incubator to be developed 
in partnership with Telkom. 

Green economy 
 

The JDA will introduce blue economy 
interventions by optimising the value 

 Reuse base material in the layerworks of roads for 
the Rea Vaya bus ways. 
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Alignment to the GDS 2040 
and CoJ priorities in 
2015/16 

Summary of the JDA’s responses across programmes and projects  

Blue economy and green 
economy 
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

chain in construction and urban 
management, and seeking ways 
to reuse waste. In 2015/16 the 
JDA will implement strategies that: 

 Use locally produced building material such as 
paving bricks. 

 Develop local nutrition programmes in partnership 
with food businesses and traders in the inner city. 

 Reuse waste materials for the production of 
artworks through the JDA public art 
programme. 

Green economy interventions are a 
continuing part of the JDA’s design and 
construction projects. 
  
  

 The JDA promotes green building technologies 
such as solar water heating, efficient lighting and 
sustainable urban drainage systems in its designs 
and projects.  

 The JDA will work with the Department of 
Economic Development to explore opportunities to 
support locally produced green building and 
infrastructure products. 

Smart city The JDA will seek opportunities to 
upgrade smart city infrastructure within 
station precincts and along the 
movement corridors. In 2013/14 the Rea 
Vaya communication network on trunk 
route 1B was activated to provide free 
Wi-Fi at stations.  

 The Corridors of Freedom implementation strategy 
includes a programme on the ‘Apex of Innovation’, 
which seeks to introduce innovative building and 
lifestyle drivers as a requirement for all property 
developments in the priority corridors.  

 Activities include the development of an innovation 
network to engage all businesses and institutions 
that drive innovation and define their role in the 
development of the corridors. 

Financial sustainability and 
resilience 

The JDA will seek to optimise its revenue 
stream.  

 The JDA is working from a three-year budgeting 
framework; the result is that in 2014/15 the majority 
of the professional teams were in place. This 
allowed the JDA to begin new projects and 
continue with projects already in the construction 
stage at the end of the first quarter of 2015/16. 

Engaged active citizenry 
 
Active engaged citizenry 

The JDA always seeks to engage the 
public in a meaningful way at every stage 
of development.  

 This includes doing public participation in the 
planning stage, engaging with communities and 
affected parties during the design stage and 
involving community members in projects such as 
the peoples’ history project, heritage exhibitions 
and public art projects that tell the story of the 
neighbourhood. 

Engaged active citizenry 
 
Communication and 
stakeholder engagement  

The JDA’s marketing and communication 
division plans to enhance the way in 
which the institution engages 
communities in all its development areas. 

 The aim is to enable the CoJ to keep stakeholders 
informed, making sure they understand the impact 
of CoJ developments in their area.  

 This is about ensuring that stakeholders are 
actively engaged from the project concept and play 
a meaningful role in shaping the development 
outcomes and future custodianship of the 
development. 

Agriculture and food 
security 

The JDA supports rooftop food gardens 
in the inner city as part of its CSI 
programme.  

 A business model is being prepared for the African 
food and culture hub project in the Park Station 
precinct, which aims to provide space for a food 
institute that will provide training and education on 
nutrition and food security for food operators in the 
inner city. 

Resource sustainability The overarching strategic objectives that 
underpin the JDA’s strategy include the 
promotion of energy and land-use 
efficiency for reasons of environmental 
sustainability and natural resource 
conservation. 

 The CoJ’s blue and green economy strategy will be 
integrated into all JDA programmes. 
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Alignment to the GDS 2040 
and CoJ priorities in 
2015/16 

Summary of the JDA’s responses across programmes and projects  

Investment attraction, 
retention and expansion 

The impact of the JDA’s developments is 
measured largely in terms of the extent to 
which the public investment gears private 
property investments in the same 
neighbourhood. The introduction of 
development facilitation capacity within 
the JDA will allow it to actively drive 
investment promotion and property 
development deals.  

 The Development Facilitation Programme provides 
strategic leadership, coordination capacity, and 
analytical and negotiating skills to promote 
investment, establish and communicate shared 
development visions, and prepare a pipeline of 
implementation-ready property developments and 
capital works projects. 

 The JDA also plays a strong facilitation role in 
Alexandra by working with local and governmental 
stakeholders to co-produce solutions and develop a 
shared vision for development implementation. 

 

The shareholder needs to review the agency’s budget allocation to ensure that the agency: 

 Is able to deliver on development against planned works targets. 

 Manages capital spending effectively, efficiently and economically. 

 Provides clear and regular communication and mobilisation activities, explaining the purpose, 

scope and outcomes of each project to minimise misunderstanding and misinformation and thus 

manage expectations and perceptions of all stakeholder groups throughout a project. 

 Makes sure all stakeholders understand, support and develop buy-in and ownership of CoJ 

projects. 
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Section 1: Introduction 

A new staff structure comprising 109 positions was approved in 2014/15. This structure includes: 

 A Top Management and Executive Management Committee, comprising the chief executive 

officer, the chief financial officer, the executive manager: development implementation, the 

executive manager: planning and strategy, the executive manager: development facilitation, the 

executive manager: marketing and communications and the executive manager: corporate 

services. 

 The chief audit executive and the company secretary, who both report to the Board. 

 Senior management, comprising senior development managers, the human resources manager, 

the supply chain and contracts manager, the finance manager, the facilities manager, the IT 

manager, the risk and compliance manager, the marketing manager, the stakeholder relations 

manager, the communications manager, the monitoring and evaluations manager, the planning 

manager, internal audit managers, the budget manager, the legal manager and the executive 

support manager. 

 Professional and middle management, comprising development managers, accountants, 

development facilitation managers, the risk and compliance officer, the procurement officer, the 

performance management and training officer, the employee relations officer, the human 

resources officer and the legal officer. 

 Junior management, comprising coordinators, a receptionist, personal assistants, accounts 

payable officers, IT support officers, the IT and information systems administration officer, the 

fixed asset register officer, the messenger/caretaker and the procurement coordinator. 

 Semi-skilled workers, comprising a driver and a receptionist. 

 Unskilled workers, comprising housekeepers and cleaners. 

 

Employee totals, turnover and vacancies 

In 2014/15, the JDA’s staff complement increased to 86 employees – its largest number of employees 

to date – as a result of the organisation’s strategy to increase capacity to deliver on its expanded 

mandate and the rising capital budgets that have been allocated across the CoJ departments and 

entities. 

 

Staff establishment  

Description 2014/15 

 

Approved no. of 

posts 

No. of employees No. of vacancies % of vacancies 

Top management 1 1 0 0% 

Executive management  8 4 4 50 

Senior management 22 17 5 23 
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Middle management 34 27 7 21 

Skilled technical/junior management  30 24 6 20 

Semi-skilled 4 3 1 25 

Unskilled housekeepers/cleaners  6 6 0 0 

Learners and temps 4 4 0 0 

Total 109 86 23 21 

 

Turnover rates from 2010/11 to 2014/15 

Turnover rate 

Details 

Total appointments at 
beginning of financial 

year 

Terminations during 
financial year 

Turnover rate 
 
 
 

% No. No. 

2010/11 54 5 9 

2011/12 50 5 10 

2012/13 55 3 5 

2013/14 61 9 13 

2014/15 86 16 19 

 

Section 2: Human resource management 

The JDA aims to be the employer of choice in its field. This is supported by the JDA’s overall 

objective, as set out in its Employment Policy, to ensure that its employment practices and 

remuneration policies motivate and retain talented employees and create an attractive work 

environment. The JDA periodically reviews its Employment Policy to ensure that it remains relevant 

and practical for the changing needs of current and potential employees.  

 

Injuries, sickness and suspensions  

Total sick leave (excluding injuries on duty) 

Salary band 

Total sick 
leave 

Proportion 
of sick 
leave 

without 
medical 

certificate 

Employees 
using sick 

leave 

Total 
employees 

in post 

Average 
sick leave 

per 
employee 

Estimated 
cost 

Days % No. No. Days R 000 

Top management 4  1 1 4 24 938 

Executive management 
(including chief audit executive) 

18  6 7 2.57 67 767.20 

Senior management 31  9 14 2.21 6 495.18 

Middle management 101.5  16 27 3.75 220 140.44 

Skilled technical/junior 
management 

90  15 24 3.75 119 842.62 

Semi-skilled  10  2 2 5 3 560.10 

Unskilled 22  6 6 3.66 7 748.92 

TOTAL 276.5 0 55 81 24.94 450 492.46 
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No injuries at work or suspensions were reported during the period under review.  

 

Performance rewards 

The JDA views performance management as a positive management strategy rather than a punitive 

process, which ensures that employees feel comfortable being part of the process.  

 

The JDA uses a scorecard to evaluate its managers’ performance. Individual performance indicators 

are linked to the JDA’s objectives and the CoJ’s integrated development plan scorecard. Objectives 

that reinforce the culture of governance and risk management among managers are also included. 

 

The JDA rolled out the performance management agreements and scorecard to all employees during 

2014/15. As part of the coaching and mentorship process, underperforming officials are receiving 

training to improve their performance.  

 

Despite the JDA’s increasing budget allocation and portfolio, which has put strain on employees’ 

performance, almost 87 per cent of the budget was spent during 2014/15. The JDA will continue to 

implement measures to improve its operational effectiveness in 2015/16. 

 

The JDA’s stakeholders are key to its success and it will continue to focus on the wellbeing of its 

customers and society at large. In this regard, the JDA continuously sets new service delivery 

standards, which are supported by the customer relationship programme.  

 
Section 3: Employment equity  

The JDA is committed to the principles of equity, non-discrimination and diversity enshrined in the 

Constitution and the Employment Equity Act (1998). It aims to employ a diverse staff complement and 

support staff development and training. Equal employment opportunities are offered to all employees. 

 

The JDA’s Employment Equity Policy and Plan aims to advance and protect previously disadvantaged 

individuals by providing opportunities for career advancement, growth, training and development. The 

Executive Committee and Human Resources and Remuneration Committee provide regular input into 

the organisation’s employment equity strategies and initiatives.  

 

The Employment Equity Plan was developed for the period 1 October 2014 to 30 September 2015 to 

promote an environment and culture that supports open communication, where everyone is 

encouraged to express their views without fear of being victimised, and to ensure fair and consistent 

application and implementation of all employment practices and procedures. 

 



Johannesburg Development Agency: Integrated Annual Report 2014/15                                              Page  129  

Structures and resources have been put in place to coordinate and monitor employment equity 

implementation across the organisation. The JDA undertakes an annual review of its employment 

equity processes and general employment practices to inform the implementation of the Employment 

Equity Plan. The JDA plans its annual employment equity targets in terms of its Employment Equity 

Policy and reports to the Department of Labour in accordance with the provisions of the Employment 

Equity Act and within legislated timeframes. 

 

Employment equity demographics status as at 30 June 2015 

Occupational levels 

Occupational levels       Total 

Male Female Foreign nationals 

A C I W A C I W Male Female 

Top management 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 

Executive management 2 0 0 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 4 

Senior management and 
heads of departments 

4 2 1 2 6 0 2 0 0 0 17 

Professionally qualified and 
experienced specialists and 
mid-management 

15 0 0 1 6 3 1 1 0 0 27 

Skilled technical and 
academically qualified 
workers, junior management, 
supervisors, foremen and 
superintendents 

6 0 1 0 13 1 2 1 0 0 24 

Semi-skilled and 
discretionary decision 
making 

1 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 3 

Unskilled and defined 
decision making 

1 0 0 0 5 0 0 0 0 0 6 

TOTAL PERMANENT 30 2 2 4 33 4 5 2 0 0 82 

Temporary employees 2 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 4 

GRAND TOTAL 32 2 2 4 35 4 5 2 0 0 86 

 

Movements 

Staff movements African Coloured Indian White Total 

Male Female Male Female Male Female Male Female 

Appointments 15 7 1  1 1 1 1 27 

Resignations 6 6 

 

1 1 1 

 

1 16 

Dismissals          

Retirements          

Absenteeism           

Termination/other  1        

TOTAL 21 14 1 1 2 2 1 2 43 

 

The JDA exceeded all of its employment equity targets in 2014/15: 

 93 per cent of its employees are black (target: 80 per cent). 

 53 per cent of its staff members are female (target: 45 per cent). 
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 44 per cent of its employees who are black women are in management positions and 38 per cent 

serve on the Executive Committee (target: 35 per cent).  

 

Two of the JDA’s 86 employees have physical disabilities, exceeding the CoJ’s strategic target of 

2 per cent by 0.3 per cent.  

 

The JDA continues to improve the percentage of people from designated groups in senior 

management positions. The organisation’s commitment to ensuring material participation of 

previously disadvantaged companies and individuals is demonstrated by the degree of procurement 

spend on designated companies and individuals, which stood at 91 per cent in 2014/15. 

 

Section 4: Skills development and training 

The JDA is committed to staff training and development, ensuring professional delivery and a 

competitive edge. It aims to provide an integrated learning experience to its employees that will 

strengthen their commitment to the organisation’s values, enhance leadership capability and improve 

the JDA’s capacity to meet current and future business requirements.  

 

The JDA’s Learning Strategy is based on four pillars: 

 Understanding the educational requirements of the organisation, based on competency 

assessments and pivotal training. 

 Best practice learning design. 

 Timely and appropriate learning delivery.  

 Assessment of the impact of learning interventions on overall company performance. 

 

The JDA has created a culture of both on-the-job and off-the-job learning, which is embraced by all 

employees. Training is an ongoing process of improving employees’ knowledge, skills and attitude to 

enhance job performance, create opportunities for growth and advance careers. 

 

The JDA funds appropriate training and development programmes that are practical and outcomes-

based. It also supports employees who wish to attain further qualifications to improve their 

productivity.  

 

As at 30 June 2015, the JDA had spent R604k of its allocated budget of R1.1 million on staff 

development. All training was in line with individual learning plans. 
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Section 5: Employee wellness  

The JDA is committed to maintaining a healthy workforce and providing a safe and hygienic working 

environment. The JDA’s Employee Assistance Programme, which is outsourced to Right to Care 

Health Services, offers behavioural risk management, free trauma counselling and free legal and 

financial advice for all employees. Right to Care provides a confidential, 24-hour personal support and 

information service, which employees, as well as their partners and immediate family, may access 

through a toll-free number for assistance with health, financial, legal and other issues. 

 

During 2014/15, 82 per cent of employees used the service, which indicates that they realise the 

value of the services provided.  

 

The JDA receives statistical information on the issues discussed to enable it to identify and implement 

solutions to the particular issues raised. The identities of the employees who use this service remain 

strictly confidential. 

 

The JDA supports the health of its employees by holding wellness days twice a year, in June and in 

December. Employees can have their basic health assessed and receive feedback and guidance on 

corrective measures and counselling. 

 

HIV/AIDS in the workplace 

The JDA’s HIV/AIDS Policy is aligned with the CoJ’s policy and its HIV/AIDS coordinator attends the 

CoJ HIV and AIDS Committee meetings. The policy ensures that no employee is discriminated 

against based on their HIV status. All employees must respect the confidentiality of information 

regarding existing or potential employees with life-threatening illnesses. Any employee who divulges 

information without the employee’s knowledge or consent will be disciplined under the disciplinary 

code. The JDA reserves the right to request medical advice or intervention in instances where an 

employee’s illness adversely affects performance, or where an employee claims that he/she cannot 

work in certain situations due to illness. All employees are encouraged to know their HIV status and to 

remain healthy if they are living with HIV. 

 

The HIV/AIDS Programme runs awareness and educational campaigns, provides free condoms, 

shares videos and offers free helplines. The programme ensures that employees with HIV/AIDS are 

treated in a fair, consistent manner and are informed about their rights and employee benefits.  

 

In the period under review, Right to Care circulated weekly and monthly e-mails and newsletters 

about HIV/AIDS, including prevention strategies, to all JDA staff. Voluntary counselling and testing 

was provided in December 2014 and June 2015 during the JDA’s biannual wellness day. 
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Occupational health and safety 

Independent consultant Empowerisk conducted monthly occupational health and safety audits during 

2014/15. These audits identify risks and cases of non-compliance with the Occupational Health and 

Safety Act (1993), enabling the JDA to implement risk mitigation plans to reduce the risks and 

address cases of non-compliance. A report prepared in June 2015 estimated that the JDA’s 

compliance rate for 2014/15 was 90 per cent. 

 

Section 6: Employee benefits 

The JDA participates in two retirement benefit schemes: eJoburg Retirement Fund and City of 

Johannesburg Pension Fund. All staff are required to be members of the eJoburg Retirement Fund. In 

2014/15, the JDA contributed R3.7 million to this fund and R36 722 (one staff member) to the City of 

Johannesburg Pension Fund.  
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CHAPTER 5: FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE 
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Section 1: Statement of financial performance and notes 

The following statements form part of the Annual Financial Statements  

Statement of Financial Performance 

 Director’s responsibility and approval 

 Audit Committee report 

 Report of the Auditor-General of South Africa 

 Director’s report 

 Company secretary’s certification 

 Statement of financial position 

 Statement of financial performance 

 Statement of net assets 

 Cash flow statement 

 Accounting policies 

 Notes to the annual financial statements 

 Statement of comparison of budget to actual and adjusted budget 

 Report on irregular, fruitless and wasteful expenditure and legal process. 
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Commentary on financial performance 

The JDA recorded a surplus of R16.3 million for the financial year ended 30 June 2015, mainly 

because it spent 16 per cent less than its budgeted expenditure.  

 

Revenue 

In the year under review, the JDA earned R182 782 more than the forecast of R99 million. The 

difference is due to the under-recovery of interest income and the over-recovery of other income. The 

negative variance in interest received of R934 371 was due to the organisation’s treasury account 

being overdrawn for the financial year because CoJ departments settled the JDA’s claims late. Other 

income includes additional funding received, namely, Industrial Development Corporation funds and 

an insurance recovery. 

 

Results of operations 

The JDA spent R76.4 million of its operational budget of R91.4 million. The difference between 

spending and the allocated budget was due to vacancies, most of which were filled by the end of the 

financial year. Recruitment is under way for the remaining vacancies, including the executive 

manager positions for Development Implementation, Planning and Strategy, Corporate Services, and 

Marketing and Communications. 

 

Section 2: Spending against capital budget  

Capital expenditure 

The JDA spent R1.46 billion of its capital budget of R1.68 billion. The approved capital budget was 

reduced to R798 million after the mid-year adjustment when the Department of Arts and Culture 

reversed the budget approval for property developments in Newtown. Capital expenditure is 

discussed under each of the JDA’s programmes in Chapter 3: Service delivery performance. 

 

Sources of finance 

R thousands 

Original 
budget 

Budget 
adjustments 

(i.t.o. s28 
and s31 of 
the MFMA) 

Final 
adjustments 
budget 

Final 
budget 

Actual 
outcome 

  1 2 3 6 7 

Financial performance       
 

  

Property rates      –   –    

Service charges 48 127 22 212 70 339 70 339 69 797 

Investment revenue 4 000 (3 000) 1 000 1 000 66 

Transfers recognised – operational 26 739 – 26 739 26 739 26 739 
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Other own revenue 1 010 – 1 010 1 010 2 669 

Total revenue (excluding capital transfers 
and contributions) 79 876 19 212 72 349 72 349 99 271 

 

The JDA’s primary source of operating revenue is the 5 per cent or 7 per cent development fee 

charged against all capital expenditure, which yielded R69.8 million in 2014/15. The operating grant 

from the CoJ amounted to R26.7 million.  

 

The JDA’s primary sources of capital funding are: 

 Public transport infrastructure grant  

 Urban settlement development grant 

 Capital grants from the CoJ 

 Neighbourhood development partnership grant. 

 

Capital spending of five largest projects 

The largest area development projects implemented in 2014/15 were: 

 

Diepsloot development R34.3 million 

Nancefield Station precinct R60 million 

Bruma Lake rehabilitation R51.5 million 

Park Station precinct R83 million 

Jabulani node R65.5 million 

Kazerne property development  R71.5 million 

Westbury development R65.7 million 

 

Section 3: Cash flow statement 

Operating budget management 

The JDA manages its operating budget by measuring the effectiveness of its control of operating 

costs (indicated by budget variances) and has set a target of 0 per cent overexpenditure. In 2014/15, 

the JDA spent R76.4 million (84 percent) of its operating budget of R91.4 million.  

 

GRAP compliance 

Compliance with GRAP is discussed in the accounting policies note to the financial statements. 
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Recommendation and plans for the next financial year 

The JDA’s capital budget will increase to R1.8 billion in 2015/16. The JDA plans to address a number 

of growth challenges in 2015/16, including recruiting an executive manager for the Development 

Implementation programme and modernising and improving project management systems.  

 

The partnership between the Alexandra renewal project and the JDA continues to require active 

management to ensure that the process runs smoothly. 

 

Over the last decade, the JDA has performed well against its performance targets. However, 

performance at project level has been affected by certain factors pertaining to the design, 

implementation and handover of the JDA’s activities. For the remainder of the mayoral term, the JDA 

will focus on responding to these factors to improve the performance of individual projects.  

 

The JDA has a rigorous approach to project design that involves engaging in extensive consultations 

with affected communities and relevant municipal agencies, and appointing professional planners. 

These engagements sometimes highlight challenges that were not evident when planning started, 

which delays implementation until consensus is reached on the most optimal development 

intervention.  

 

The JDA is stepping up its development facilitation role to pre-empt and avoid delays by including the 

following functions in all of the JDA’s development areas: 

 Substantial research and analysis to inform evidence-based precinct-level planning. 

 Extensive community consultation to secure buy-in for the development vision and plans.  

 Precinct marketing, promotion and programming. 

 The assembly and procurement of developments as public-private partnerships. 

 

When it comes to implementation, the long-term sustainability of the JDA’s projects depends on the 

agency’s effectiveness during the development facilitation process. This involves two important steps: 

setting up appropriate governance structures during the implementation phase and coordinating the 

initiatives of municipal agencies implemented within a particular area. 
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CHAPTER 6: AUDITOR-GENERAL’S FINDINGS 
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Section 1: Auditor-General’s report for the current year  

Note: The Constitution S188 (1) (b) states that the functions of the Auditor-General includes the 

auditing and reporting on the accounts, financial statements and financial management of all 

municipalities. MSA section 45 states that the results of performance measurement must be audited 

annually by the Auditor-General. 

 

The Auditor General completed with the 2014/15 regulatory audit at the end of November 2015 and 

JDA was able to obtain Clean Audit for the 2014/15 financial year.. 

 

 2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 

Audit opinion  Unqualified Unqualified  Unqualified Unqualified Clean 

 

Section 2: Historical audit findings and remedial action 

In 2013/14, the JDA received an unqualified audit with findings relating to invoice management and 

the quality of financial statements submitted to the Auditor-General. Remedial action has since been 

taken. 

 

Analysis of 2013/14 audit findings  

Audit report status Unqualified with findings 

Non-compliance issues Remedial action taken 

Payment within 30 days Stricter controls over the invoice management system and continuous monitoring of 
the invoices received. 

 

The Auditor-General also identified areas of improvement for management. Recommendations 

included improved non-financial performance information controls, supply chain management, IT 

governance and financial management. Management has implemented most of the 

recommendations. The internal audit function has undertaken reviews to assess management’s 

implementation progress and provided its reports to the Audit and Risk Committee.  
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Section 3: Commitment by the Board of Directors  

The table below provides strategic commitments or improvement initiatives per key role player. These 

will be monitored and tracked during quarterly engagements with the administrative leadership.  

 

New and in-progress commitments 

Key role 

players 
Current year initiatives and commitments 

Focus area 

targeted by 

commitment 

M
a

y
o

r 

Key commitments  

1 Expectation of Mayor is for a clean audit as documented in shareholder compact. 
Financial 

statements 

2 
  

3 
  

A
c
c

o
u

n
ti

n
g

 

A
u

th
o

ri
ty

/C
E

O
  

Key commitments  

1 
Quarterly financial statements with all disclosures prepared and audited by internal 

audit. 

Financial 

statements 

2 
Proper and accurate alignment of the JDA scorecard and annual report with regards 

to how outcomes are documented in the respective documents. 

Predetermined 

objectives 

3 
Develop an invoice management guideline to ensure compliance with section 99(2) 

of the MFMA. 

Expenditure 

management 

A
u

d
it

 a
n

d
 R

is
k

 

C
o

m
m

it
te

e
 

Key commitments  

1 
Quarterly financial statements with all disclosures prepared and audited by internal 

audit. 

Financial 

statements 

2 Quarterly audit of predetermined objectives by internal audit. 
Quarterly 

Reports 

3 Tracking of findings raised by internal and external auditors. Internal controls 

O
th

e
r 

ro
le

 

p
la

y
e

r 

(C
F

O
) 

Key commitments  

1 
Quarterly financial statements with all disclosures prepared and audited by internal 

audit. 

Financial 

statements 

2 
Proper and accurate alignment of the JDA scorecard and annual report with regards 

to how outcomes are documented in the respective documents. 

Predetermined 

objectives 

 3 
Develop an invoice management guideline to ensure compliance with section 99(2) 

of the MFMA. 

Expenditure 

management 

 4 
Review the finance policies and procedures and have a separate document for 

policies and a separate document for procedures. 

Policy 

management 

 

 

 

Cassim Coovadia 

Chairperson 
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ANNEXURES 
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Annexure 1: Recommendations of the Audit and Risk Committee 
(Appendix G) 

Audit and Risk Committee recommendations 
Date of committee Committee recommendations during 2014/15 If recommendations adopted, 

enter Yes. If not adopted, 
provide explanation 

28-Jul-14 
  

External audit strategy 
Annual financial statements and integrated report 

Yes 

19-Aug-14 Revised integrated annual report Yes 

5-Sep-14 
  
  
  

Risk management framework 
Risk management policy 
Risk management strategy 
Risk management strategy implementation plan 

Yes 

30-Oct-14 
  
  
  
  

2014/15 materiality framework 
First quarter report 
IT security policy 
E-mail and internet usage policy 
IT governance charter 

Yes 

17-Nov-14 
  
  

Audited annual financial statements 
Management letter 
Audit report 

Yes 

17-Mar-15 
  
  

GRC report 
Second quarter report 
Supply chain management policy 

Yes 

1-Apr-15 
  
  
  
  
  

ARC schedule 
Risk registers 
Fraud risk management policy 
Fraud prevention strategy and response plan 
Whistle-blowing policy 

Yes 

Compliance policy No 

21-May-15 
  
  

Draft business plan 
Dashboard report  
Fraud hotline 

Yes 

28-May-15 
  

Strategic risk register 
Fraud risk management 

Yes 

30-Jun-15 Internal audit charter Yes 
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Annexure 2: Long-term contracts and public-private partnerships 
(Appendix H) 

Schedule of contracts over R10 million and running for more than one financial year 

Long-term contracts for 2014/15 

R 000 

Name of service provider 
(entity or municipal 

department) 

Description of services rendered by the 
service provider 

Start date 
of 

contract  

Expiry 
date of 

contract 

Project 
manager 

Contract value 

Tranacon Construction Alexandra public environment upgrade May 2015 June 2016 Portfolio A R20 426 041.61 

Fikile Construction (Pty) Ltd Alexandra automotive industrial park 19/06/2015 Aug 2016 Portfolio B R34 139 857.34 

Fikile Construction (Pty) Ltd Alexandra Heritage Centre 9/2/2015 Sept 2015 Portfolio B R16 645 883.55 

Mivami Construction CC 

BRT and mixed traffic lanes along Louis 
Botha between the intersection of 
Victoria/Empire and Louis Road Jan 2015 June 2016 Portfolio C R101 850 912.60 

Umbutho Civils 
BRT bus depots, Booysens Layover 
building Sept 2014 Dec 2015 Portfolio C R16 186 578.00 

Nyeleti Consulting  BRT Midrand depot June 2015 June 2018 Portfolio C R11 255 738.47 

Stefanutti Stocks/A Re 
Shomeng JV BRT stations section 8 and 15 June 2014 June 2016 Portfolio C R343 387 798.07 

Bankuna Engineering and 
Construction CC Comdev Johannesburg Art Gallery June 2015 Nov 2015 Portfolio A R10 679 824.56 

Fikile Construction (Pty) Ltd Corridors of Freedom Esselen Clinic 13/05/2014 14/03/2015 Portfolio B R21 189 735.36 

Mabra Construction (Pty) Ltd 
Demolition of old Westbury Clinic and 
construction of new clinic 13/05/2014 14/03/2015 Portfolio B R24 403 153.77 

Dryden Projects CC Ennerdale Clinic 11/12/2014 12/10/2015 Portfolio B R17 539 247.55 

ITS Engineers 
Gandhi Square interchange, Greenstone 
and Emthonjeni bus terminals 1/05/2015 1/06/2017 Portfolio C R15 380 000.00 

Murray and Roberts 
Great Walk Pedestrian Bridge, Grayston 
interchange and Grayston Road Mar 2015 June 2017 Portfolio C R129 743 737.73 

Bophelong Construction Hillbrow to Park Station NMT May 2015 June 2016 Portfolio C R32 462 301.63 

Axton Matrix Construction CC Hillbrow Tower precinct May 2015 June 2016 Portfolio C R39 373 537.20 

Gorogang Plant Hire CC Ingonyama link road extension phase 3 9/02/2015 1/09/2015 Portfolio B R15 287 306.17 

Arocon Projects Inner-city core public environment upgrade May 2015 June 2016 Portfolio A R15 104 939.50 

Ultrasonic Express CC Jabulani Station link road project 29/01/2015 1/09/2015 Portfolio B R16 310 295.00 

Buzaphi Construction (Pty) Ltd Jabulani stormwater upgrade 29/01/2015 1/09/2015 Portfolio B R20 862 482.00 

Stefanutti Stocks Geotechnical  Karzene internodal facility Jan 2015 July 2015 Portfolio A R41 258 563.73 

Kingsway Civil Langlaagte to the UJ Kingsway Campus 23/03/2015 23/09/2015 Portfolio C R27 691 756.42 

Axton Matrix Construction CC Nancefield transit-oriented development 3/03/2015 30/10/2015 Portfolio B R32 316 555.13 

Kingsway Civil 
NMT implementation Lakeview phase 
(Mofolo Central, Dube and Orlando West) April 2015 June 2016 Portfolio C R17 821 335.59 

Fikile Construction (Pty) Ltd Orchards Clinic 13/07/2015 30/10/2016 Portfolio B R40 514 189.49 

No Limits Development 
Orlando East/Noordgesig transit-oriented 
development 20/01/2014 

To be 

confirmed Portfolio B R19 723 401.00 

Superway Construction Parkstation to Doornfontein May 2015 June 2016 Portfolio C R43 421 052.63 

WBHO Phase 1C, section 8 work package 8B Dec 2014 June 2017 Portfolio C R63 794 973.15 

Superway Construction 
Randburg precinct public environment 
upgrade and bulk infrastructure upgrade 30/04/2015 28/02/2015 Portfolio A R26 096 491.23 

Bophelong Construction Rea Vaya phase 1C Sandton loop 20/07/2015 1/11/2016 Portfolio C R226 096 585.14 
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Long-term contracts for 2014/15 

R 000 

Name of service provider 
(entity or municipal 

department) 

Description of services rendered by the 
service provider 

Start date 
of 

contract  

Expiry 
date of 

contract 

Project 
manager 

Contract value 

WBHO Well Earned Civils JV 
Rea Vaya phase 1C BRT section A 
Katherine and Marlboro Road Mar 2015 June 2017 Portfolio C R176 598 656.54 

Nyoni Projects 
Rea Vaya phase1C section 15 work 
package 15F Nov 2014 June 2016 Portfolio B R111 310 000.00 

HHO Consulting Engineers 
Rea Vaya section 9 – Sandton to 
Randburg April 2015 Apr il 2017 Portfolio C R10 762 500.00 

Solidaire Construction  River Park Clinic 11/12/2014 24/11/2015 Portfolio B R17 009 360.61 

Lesole Civils Rotunda Park precinct 29/04/2014 13/12/2015 Portfolio B R11 235 045.53 

Buildagain Projects 203 
Social Development Golden Harvest Drug 
Rehabilitation Centre 3/11/2014 30/06/2015 Portfolio B R9 025 873.38 

Lettam Building Sol Plaatjie area 3 5/01/2015 30/06/2015 Portfolio B R9 180 476.00 

Esor Construction (Pty) Ltd 
Walter Sisulu Square of Dedication in 
Kliptown 6/03/2015 30/06/2015 Portfolio B R16 873 972.00 

Kingsway Civil (Pty) Ltd Westbury precinct NMT phase 2 April 2015 June 2016 Portfolio C R22 665 521.03 

Axton Matrix Rea Vaya BRT NMT 1A NMT C2 and F1 10/03/2015 22/09/2015 Portfolio C R10 020 370.28 

WBHO 
Rea Vaya phase 1C BRT section A 
Katherine and Marlboro Road May 2014 June 2014 Portfolio C 

R76 098 874.96 

Kingsway Civil (Pty) Ltd Westbury Precinct NMT phase 2 May 2015 June 2015 Portfolio C 
R22 665 521.03 

 

No public-private partnership contracts are currently managed by the JDA. 
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Annexure 3: Disclosure of financial interest (Appendix J) 

Disclosures of financial interests 

Period 1 July 2014 to 30 June of 2015 

Position Name Description of financial interests (Nil or details) 

 Chair 

C Coovadia 

Trustee for Urban Housing Finance 
 
Director at: 
African Union for Housing Finance 
Banking Association SA 
Business Unity SA 
Centre for Development Enterprise 
Financial Services Council 
Finmark Trust 
International Banking Federation 
International Union for Housing Finance 
Metier Lereko 
National Business Unit Initiative 
Nepad Business Foundation 
Ombudsman for Financial Services 
SABRIC 
SADC Banking Association 
 
Shares in: 
ABIL 
AngloGold 
ARROW A 
ARROW B 
Capitec 
Finbond 
FirstRand 
INVPLC 
JDE 
Netcare 
Oasis 
Petmin 
Pick n Pay 
PROPXTEN 
Redefine 
Satrix 40 
Standard Bank 

Board members 

P Masilo 

R Masilo Attorneys 
 
Director at: 
Ekurhuleni Development Company 
Maxalex Investments (Pty) Ltd 
Maxalex Property Development (Pty) Ltd 

  P Mashiane 

Trustee at Pamela Segakweng Trust and 
Segakweng Trust 
 
Director at National Film and Video Foundation 
 
100 per cent shareholder in Segakweng Enterprise and Strategy 
Consulting (Pty) Ltd 

  D Thwala 

Director at SAV Tran Management Agency  
 
Shares in: 
African Bank 
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Disclosures of financial interests 

Period 1 July 2014 to 30 June of 2015 

Position Name Description of financial interests (Nil or details) 

MTN 
MultiChoice 
Sasol 
Telkom SA 
Vodacom 
 
Employee at the University of Johannesburg 

  E Harvey Nil 

  N Selamolela 

Director at Broadband Infraco 
10 per cent shareholder at Emlangeni (Pty) Ltd 
100 per cent shareholder at Murhambo Capital 
Employee at Foodbev Seta 

  K Govender 

Director at: 
Mally Govender and Associates 
Zukramede (Pty) Ltd  
 
Shares in MTN 

  N Maila 

Trustee at HF Edwards Education Trust 
Director at dormant company: Rearogile Investment (Pty) Ltd 
Employee at Liberty 

  P Zagaretos 

Director at: 
Tenurey Bespoke Advisory (Pty) Ltd 
Ule Investments (Pty) Ltd 

Chief executive officer 

T Mendrew 

Director at: 
Constitution Hill Development Company (SOC) Ltd  
Greater Newtown Development Company (SOC) Ltd 
MAYBORN Investment 73 (Pty) Ltd 

Chief financial officer 

Z Mafata 

Director at Vhugala Investments (Pty) Ltd  
 
Shares in: 
Old Mutual 
Sanlam 
Sasol  
Telkom SA 

Executive managers S Lewis Trustee at Psidium Trust 

  F Habib 

Trustee at Adam and Fatima Habib Family Trust 
 
Shares in: 
MTN 
Phuthuma Nathi 
Sasol  
Vodacom 

  B Mbuli Nil 

 C Botes Nil 

Other S57 officials R Shirinda Nil 

  B Mbewu 
100 per cent shareholder in a dormant close corporation, Mbewu 
Risk Management CC 

  A Noholoza Nil 

  V Voyi Nil 

  L Visagie Nil 
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Annexure 4: Capital programme by project (Appendix N) 

Capital programmes and projects Source Mid-year adjustment 
budget 

Capital expenditure budget   807 884 000 

Of which     

Programme 1: Inner-city transformation   126 750 000 
Park Station commuter links DP ICF 12 000 000 

Park Station Metro Park DP ICF 20 000 000 

Park Station African hub DP ICF 3 000 000 

Westgate Station precinct DP ICF 40 000 000 

Hillbrow Tower precinct DP ICF 5 000 000 

Public places challenge DP ICF 10 000 000 

Intelligent operations centre CoJ EMS 15 000 000 

Kazerne parkade demolition Transportation 9 000 000 

Newtown capital expenditure National DAC 12 000 000 

Beyers Naudé Square monument CoJ DACH 750 000 

Programme 2: Transit-oriented node developments   46 300 000 
Nancefield Station precinct USDG 25 000 000 

Jabulani node USDG 12 000 000 

Orlando East Station precinct USDG 1 000 000 

Randburg CBD CoJ 2 500 000 

Alex-Marlboro automotive cluster DP NDPG 1 000 000 

Bambanani automotive cluster DP NDPG 2 000 000 

Community development projects (rehab centre and community centre) CoJ Comdev 2 800 000 

Programme 3: GMS priority area planning and implementation   93 870 000 
Kliptown development USDG 10 000 000 

Diepsloot development DP NDPG 40 900 000 

CoJ clinics Health 26 970 000 

Sol Plaatjie Housing 12 000 000 

Cosmo City fire station EMS 4 000 000 

Programme 4: Greenways   516 164 000 
BRT routes and stations PTIS 388 468 000 

NMT infrastructure Kaalfontein Transportation 10 000 000 

NMT infrastructure Soweto Transportation 63 696 000 

Corridors of Freedom NMT infrastructure university connections DP CoF 42 000 000 

Corridors of Freedom NMT infrastructure Campus Square DP CoF 1 000 000 

Corridors of Freedom NMT infrastructure Westbury precinct DP CoF 11 000 000 

Programme 6: Development facilitation   24 800 000 
Bruma Lake rehabilitation EISD 20 000 000 

Corridors of Freedom naming and branding DP CoF 1 800 000 

Corridors of Freedom strategic area frameworks DP CoF 1 300 000 

Corridors of Freedom participative planning DP CoF 1 700 000 
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Annexure 5: JDA scorecard for 2014/15 

Programme 1: Inner-city transformation 

KPI definition 

Integrated 
development plan 

programme 

JDA programme 
objective  

KPA KPI KPI definition Reporting period 

 
 

Restructure the city 
by developing 
defined, strategic 
geographic areas 
around the city and 
the movement 
corridors that link 
them 

Capital expenditure for 
programme 1 

% of capital budget spent  % of capital budget spent on all projects 
allocated to programme 1 as determined by the 
list of projects and budgets allocated to them in 
the mid-year budget adjustment 

Cumulative expenditure targets 
are set for each quarter 

Development progress per 
project 

% development progress 
against planned works 

Development progress is defined by the 
following progress categories and milestones: 
(a) concept designs approved by Executive 
Committee = 10%; (b) detailed designs 
approved by Executive Committee = 25% 
cumulative progress; (c) construction tender 
awarded = 40% cumulative progress; (d) 50% 
of construction is complete on site = 70% (e) 
construction completed = 100% cumulative 
result when planned works, as defined by bill of 
quantities, and construction contract are 
completed 

Cumulative development 
progress targets are set for 
each quarter 

Promote economic 
empowerment 
through the  
structuring and 
procurement of JDA 
developments 

  
  
  

Programme 1: Economic 
empowerment 
 

Number of short-term 
EPWP job opportunities 
created through programme 
1 construction contracts 

Number of individuals employed on 
construction projects in programme 1 

Cumulative employment 
targets are set for each quarter 
based on eight jobs per R 
million spent 

BBBEE expenditure share 
as a % of total capital 
expenditure 

% of expenditure attributed to BBBEE level as 
certified by an accredited certification authority 

% per quarter in quarterly 
reports and % per year in 
annual report 

SMME expenditure share 
as a % of total capital 
expenditure 

% of expenditure attributed to SMME 
companies as certified by an accredited 
authority or confirmed by a certified accountant 

% per quarter in quarterly 
reports and % per year in 
annual report 

Of which: Jozi@Work 
SMME expenditure share 
as a % of total capital 
expenditure  

% of expenditure attributed to Jozi@Work 
SMME companies, as verified by CSA, 
appointed by the CoJ or the JDA in accordance 
with Jozi@Work principles 

% per quarter in quarterly 
reports and % per year in 
annual report 

mailto:Jozi@work?
mailto:Jozi@work?
mailto:Jozi@work?
mailto:Jozi@work?
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Integrated 
development plan 

programme 

JDA programme 
objective  

KPA KPI KPI definition Reporting period 

Support 
productive 
development 
partnerships and 
cooperation 
between all 
stakeholders in 
these areas 

Programme 1: Productive 
development partnerships 
 

Positive media reports as a 
% of the total number of 
media reports on the JDA in 
the Johannesburg inner city 

% of positive and neutral media reports out of 
the total number of media reports on inner-city 
development areas 

Annual target reported every 
quarter 

Programme 1: Productive 
development partnerships 
 

Number of property 
developments facilitated by 
the JDA in the 
Johannesburg inner city 

Lease signed for at least one precinct property 
development and feasibility study completed for 
at least one precinct property development 

Completion target date is set 
for report and lease agreement  

 

Targets 

KPA KPI 2014/15  
annual 
target 

2014/15 
actual 

2014/15 
 variance 

Q1 
actual 

Q2  
target 

Q2 
actual 

Q3 
target 

Q3 
actual 

Q4 
target 

Q4 
actual 

Capital expenditure for 
programme 1 
 

% of capital budget spent  
 

100% 82% 18% 2% 40% 10% 50% 20.8% 100% 82% 

 % development progress against planned works           

Development progress 
per project 

Development progress for Park Station precinct: 
Inner-city commuter links phase 5 

100% 40% 60% 0% 40% 0% 60% 10% 100% 40% 

Development progress for Park Station precinct: 
African food hub phase 2 

100% 100% 0% 0% 40% 45% 75% 100% 100% 100% 

Development progress for Park Station precinct: 
Housing property developments phase 1 

40% 90% +50% 0% 0% 0% 40% 0% 100% 0% 

Development progress for Park Station precinct: Jack 
Mincer taxi facility extension (detailed design and 
phase 1)  

          

Development progress for Westgate Station precinct: 
Relocation of Selby depot phase 1  

100% 10% 90% 0% 40% 0% 50% 10% 100% 10% 

Development progress for Hillbrow Tower precinct 
phases 1 and 2 

100% 100% 0% 0% 40% Phase 1: 
100% 

Phase 2: 
0% 

70% Phase1:
100% 

Phase 2: 
0% 

 

100% Phase 1: 
100% 

 

45% 55% Phase 2: 
45% 

Development progress for inner-city core public 
environment upgrade phase 2.1 

100% 43% 57% 0% 40% 0% 50% 10% 100% 43% 

Development progress for Eastern Gateway precinct: 
Development framework and implementation plan 

100% 0% 100% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 100% 0% 

Development progress for public places partnership 
programme round 3  

100% 100% 0% 0% 40% 40% 60% 40% 100% 100% 



Johannesburg Development Agency: Integrated Annual Report 2014/15                                              Page  222  

KPA KPI 2014/15  
annual 
target 

2014/15 
actual 

2014/15 
 variance 

Q1 
actual 

Q2  
target 

Q2 
actual 

Q3 
target 

Q3 
actual 

Q4 
target 

Q4 
actual 

Installation of Beyers Naudé Square monument  100% 90% 10% 0% 0% 0% 40% 40% 100% 90% 

Development progress for Kazerne property 
development phase 1 

100% 85% 15% 0% 0% 0% 45% 45% 100% 85% 

Development progress for Johannesburg Art Gallery 
(2014/15 upgrade) 

100% 44% 56% 0% 0% 0% 40% 25% 100% 43% 

Development progress for Museum Africa (2014/15 
upgrade) 

100% 64% 36% 0% 0% 0% 40% 25% 100% 64% 

Programme 1: Economic 
empowerment 

Number of short-term EPWP job opportunities created 
through programme 1 construction contracts 

1 100 1 152 +52 114 8 jobs 
per 

R million 
capital 

expendit
ure  

 
Estimate 

based 
on cash 

flow 
projectio
n = 213 

 8 jobs 
per 

R millio
n 

capital 
expend

iture  
 

Estimat
e 

based 
on 

cash 
flow 

projecti
on = 
656 

 8 jobs 
per 

R million 
capital 

expendit
ure  

 
Estimate 

based 
on cash 

flow 
projectio

n = 
1 100 

1 152 

BBBEE expenditure share as a % of total capital 
expenditure over the same time period 

100% 120% 
 

+20% 


121% 100%  100%  100%  

SMME expenditure share as a % of total capital 
expenditure over the same time period 

30% 10% 20% 26% 30%  30%  30%  

Of which: Jozi@Work SMME expenditure share as a % 
of total capital expenditure over the same time period 

5% 0% 5% - 5% 0% 5% 0% 5% 0% 

Programme 1: 
Productive development 
partnerships 

Positive media reports as a % of the total number of 
media reports on the JDA in the Johannesburg inner 
city 

90% 98% 2% 92% 90% 100% 90% 100% 90% 100% 

Number of property developments facilitated by the JDA 
in the Johannesburg inner city 

2 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 2 1 
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Programme 2: Transit-oriented node development 

KPI definitions 

Integrated 
development plan 

programme 

JDA programme 
objective  

KPA KPI KPI definition Reporting period 

Programme 7: Station 
precinct (transit-
oriented node) 
development 
 

Restructure the city 
by developing 
defined, strategic 
geographic areas 
around the city and 
the movement 
corridors that link 
them 

Capital expenditure for 
programme 2 

% of capital budget spent  % of capital budget spent on all projects 
allocated to programme 2 as determined by the 
list of projects and budgets allocated to them in 
the mid-year budget adjustment 

Cumulative expenditure targets 
are set for each quarter 

Development progress per 
project 

% development progress 
against planned works 

Development progress is defined by the 
following progress categories and milestones: 
(a) concept designs approved by Executive 
Committee = 10%; (b) detailed designs 
approved by Executive Committee = 25% 
cumulative progress; (c) construction tender 
awarded = 40% cumulative progress; (d) 50% 
of construction is complete on site = 70% (e) 
construction completed = 100% cumulative 
result when planned works, as defined by bill of 
quantities, and construction contract are 
completed 

Cumulative development 
progress targets are set for 
each quarter 

Promote economic 
empowerment 
through the  
structuring and 
procurement of JDA 
developments 

  
  
  

Programme 2: Economic 
empowerment 
 

Number of short-term 
EPWP job opportunities 
created through programme 
2 construction contracts 

Number of individuals employed on 
construction projects in programme 2 

Cumulative employment 
targets are set for each quarter 
based on eight jobs per R 
million spent 

BBBEE expenditure share 
as a % of total capital 
expenditure 

% of expenditure attributed to BBBEE level as 
certified by an accredited certification authority 

% per quarter in quarterly 
reports and % per year in 
annual report 

SMME expenditure share 
as a % of total capital 
expenditure 

% of expenditure attributed to SMME 
companies as certified by an accredited 
authority or confirmed by a certified accountant 

% per quarter in quarterly 
reports and % per year in 
annual report 

Of which: Jozi@Work 
SMME expenditure share 
as a % of total capital 
expenditure  

% of expenditure attributed to Jozi@Work 
SMME companies, as verified by CSA, 
appointed by the CoJ or the JDA in accordance 
with Jozi@Work principles 

% per quarter in quarterly 
reports and % per year in 
annual report 

Support 
productive 
development 
partnerships and 

Programme 2: Productive 
development partnerships 
 

Positive media reports as a 
% of the total number of 
media reports on the JDA in 
the station precincts 

% of positive and neutral media reports out of 
the total number of media reports on station 
precinct developments 

Annual target reported every 
quarter 

mailto:Jozi@work?
mailto:Jozi@work?
mailto:Jozi@work?
mailto:Jozi@work?


Johannesburg Development Agency: Integrated Annual Report 2014/15                                              Page  224  

Integrated 
development plan 

programme 

JDA programme 
objective  

KPA KPI KPI definition Reporting period 

cooperation 
between all 
stakeholders in 
these areas 

Programme 2: Productive 
development partnerships 
 

Number of property 
developments facilitated by 
the JDA in the station 
precincts 

Feasibility study completed for Randburg Civic 
precinct 

Completion target date is 
set for report 

 
Targets 

KPA KPI 2014/15  
annual 
target 

2014/15 
actual 

2014/15 
 variance 

Q1 
actual 

Q2 
target 

Q2 
actual 

Q3 
target 

Q3 
actual 

Q4 
target 

Q4  
actual 

Capital expenditure for 
programme 2 

% of capital budget spent  100% 70.5% 29.5% 6% 26% 15% 50% 24% 100% 70.5% 

Development progress per 
project 

% development progress against planned works           

Development progress for Nancefield Station 
precinct phase 2 

100% 100% 0% 60% 90% 70% 100% 100% 100% 100% 

Development progress for Nancefield Station 
precinct phase 3 

60% 51% 9% 0% 40% 0% 50% 40% 60% 51% 

Development progress for Jabulani node phase 1 100% 100% 0% 50% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 

Development progress for Jabulani node phase 2 100% 63% 37% 0% 40% 0% 60% 40% 100% 63% 

Development progress for Jabulani node phase 3  70% 78% +8% 0% 0% 0% 25% 40% 70% 78% 

Development progress for Orlando East Station 
precinct phase 2.1 

50% 40% 10% 0% 0% 0% 25% 40% 50% 40% 

Development progress for Westbury development: 
NMT phase 1 

100% 100% 0% 0% 40%  60% 84% 100% 100% 

Development progress for Westbury development: 
NMT phase 2 

100% 53% 47% - 40%  60% 40% 100% 53% 

Development progress for Westbury development: 
Westbury Bridge 

100% 40% 60% 0% 40%  60% 45% 100% 40% 

Development progress for Knowledge precinct: UJ 
cycle lanes 

100% 100% 0% 0% 40%  60% 85% 100% 100% 

Development progress for Knowledge precinct: 
Campus Square Bridge (detailed design) 

100% 10% 90% - 0%  0% 10% 100% 10% 

Development progress for Knowledge precinct: 
Langlaagte to UJ NMT 

100% 53% 47% 0% 40%  60% 40% 100% 53% 

Development progress for Rotunda Park precinct 
phase 1 

30% 45% +15% 0% 0% 0% 10% 25% 30% 45% 

Development progress for Randburg CBD phase 3 
and Randburg civic precinct development 

0% 70% +70% 0% 0% 0% 50% 40% 100% 70% 

Development progress for Hillbrow to Park Station 
NMT 

100% 47% 53% - 40%  60% 40% 100% 47% 
 

Development progress for Park Station to 100% 76% 24% - 40%  60% 35% 100% 76% 
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KPA KPI 2014/15  
annual 
target 

2014/15 
actual 

2014/15 
 variance 

Q1 
actual 

Q2 
target 

Q2 
actual 

Q3 
target 

Q3 
actual 

Q4 
target 

Q4  
actual 

Doornfontein cycle lanes  

Development progress for Corridors of Freedom 
sports facilities: Union and Bosmont stadiums 

50% 25% 25% - 0% 0% 40% 25% 50% 25% 

Development progress for Ruimsig athletics track 
upgrade 

100% 98% 2% - 0%  40% 40% 
 

100% 98% 

Development progress for Corridors of Freedom: 
Patterson Park phase 1 

30% 50% +20% - 0%  30% 0% 100% 50% 

Development progress for Corridors of Freedom: 
libraries 

5% 8% +3% - 0%  10% 0% 100% 8% 

Development progress for Corridors of Freedom: 
community centres 

100% 8% 92% - 0%  40% 0% 
 

100% 8% 

Programme 2: Economic 
empowerment 

Number of short-term EPWP job opportunities created 
through programme 2 construction contracts 

1 244 2 984 1 740 160 8 jobs 
per 

R millio
n 

capital 
expend

iture 
 

Estimat
e 

based 
on 

cash 
flow 

projecti
on = 
697 

 8 jobs 
per 

R million 
capital 

expendit
ure  

 
Estimate 

based 
on cash 

flow 
projectio

n = 
1 045 

 8 jobs 
per 

R million 
capital 

expendit
ure  

 
Estimate 

based 
on cash 

flow 
projectio

n = 
1 244 

2 984 

BBBEE expenditure share as a % of total capital 
expenditure in programme 2 

100% 
112% +12% 

121% 100%  100%  100%  

SMME expenditure share as a % of total capital 
expenditure in programme 2 

30% 
6% 

24% 40% 30%  30%  30%  

Of which: Jozi@Work SMME expenditure share as a 
% of total capital expenditure in programme 2 

5%   - 5%  5%  5%  

Programme 2: Productive 
development partnerships 

Positive media reports as a % of the total number of 
media reports on the JDA in the station precincts 

90% 100% 0% 100% 90% 100% 90% 100% 90% 100% 

Number of property developments facilitated by the 
JDA in the station precincts 

1 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 
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Programme 3: GMS priority area planning and implementation 
 
KPI definitions  

 
Integrated 

development plan 
programme 

JDA programme 
objective  

KPA KPI KPI definition Reporting period 

Programme 10: GMS 
priority area  
planning and 
implementation 

Restructure the city 
by developing 
defined, strategic 
geographic areas 
around the city and 
the movement 
corridors that link 
them 
 

Capital expenditure for 
programme 3 

% of capital budget spent  % of capital budget spent on all projects 
allocated to programme 3 as determined by the 
list of projects and budgets allocated to them in 
the mid-year budget adjustment 

Cumulative expenditure targets 
are set for each quarter 

Development progress per 
project 

% development progress 
against planned works 

Development progress is defined by the 
following progress categories and milestones: 
(a) concept designs approved by Executive 
Committee = 10%; (b) detailed designs 
approved by Executive Committee = 25% 
cumulative progress; (c) construction tender 
awarded = 40% cumulative progress; (D) 50% 
of construction is complete on site = 70% (e) 
construction completed = 100% cumulative 
result when planned works, as defined by bill of 
quantities, and construction contract are 
completed 

Cumulative development progress 
targets are set for each quarter 

Promote economic 
empowerment 
through the  
structuring and 
procurement of JDA 
developments 

  
  
  

Programme 3: Economic 
empowerment 
 

Number of short-term 
EPWP job opportunities 
created through programme 
3 construction contracts 

Number of individuals employed on 
construction projects in programme 3 

Cumulative employment targets 
are set for each quarter based on 
8 jobs per R million spent 

BBBEE expenditure share 
as a % of total capital 
expenditure  

% of expenditure attributed to BBBEE level as 
certified by an accredited certification authority 

% per quarter in quarterly reports 
and % per year in annual report 

SMME expenditure share 
as a % of total capital 
expenditure 

% of expenditure attributed to SMME 
companies as certified by an accredited 
authority or confirmed by a certified accountant 

% per quarter in quarterly reports 
and % per year in annual report 

Of which: Jozi@Work 
SMME expenditure share 
as a % of total capital 
expenditure  

% of expenditure attributed to Jozi@Work 
SMME companies, as verified by CSA, 
appointed by the CoJ or the JDA in accordance 
with Jozi@Work principles 

% per quarter in quarterly reports 
and % per year in annual report 

mailto:Jozi@work?
mailto:Jozi@work?
mailto:Jozi@work?
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Integrated 
development plan 

programme 

JDA programme 
objective  

KPA KPI KPI definition Reporting period 

Support 
productive 
development 
partnerships and 
cooperation 
between all 
stakeholders in 
these areas 

Programme 3: Productive 
development partnerships 
 

Positive media reports as a 
% of the total number of 
media reports on the JDA in 
the GMS priority areas 

% of positive and neutral media reports 
out of the total number of media reports 
on GMS priority development areas 

Annual target reported every 
quarter 

Programme 3: Productive 
development partnerships 
 

Number of property 
developments facilitated by 
the JDA in GMS priority 
areas 

Completion of urban management plan 
for Walter Sisulu Square in Kliptown  

Completion target date is 
set for report 

 
Targets 

KPA KPI 2014/15  
annual 
target 

2014/15 
actual 

2014/15 
 variance 

Q1 
actual 

Q2 
target 

Q2 
actual 

Q3 
target 

Q3 
actual 

Q4 
target 

Q4  
actual 

Capital expenditure for 
programme 3 

% of capital budget spent 100% 86% 14% 6% 14% 14% 50% 25% 100% 86% 

Development progress 
per project 

% development progress against planned works           

Development progress for Kliptown development 
phase 3.1 

100% 100% 0% 0% 10%  35% 40% 
 

100% 100% 

  
Development progress for Diepsloot development 
Ngonyama Road upgrade phase 2 

100% 95% 5% 20% 50% 100% 100% 70% 100% 95% 

  
Development progress for Diepsloot development 
Ngonyama Road upgrade phase 3 

40% 80% +40% 0% 0% 33% 20% 40% 40% 80% 

  
Development progress for the automotive cluster 
projects (Alex design and phase 1 of construction) 

100% 43% 57% 0% 0% 0% 40% 25% 100% 43% 

  
Development progress for the Sol Plaatjie human 
settlement infrastructure project 

100% 100% 0% 18% 40% 100% 70% 40% 100% 100% 

  Development progress for CoJ clinics: Mpumelelo 100% 100% 0% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 

  
Development progress for CoJ clinics: Zandspruit 
(design only) 

18 5% 0%     5%  5% 

  
Development progress for CoJ clinics: Noordgesig 
(design only) 

100% 100% 0% 0% 70%  100% 10% 100% 100% 

  
Development progress for CoJ clinics: Orchards 
(phase 1) 

100% 40% 60% 0% 0%  25% 25% 100% 40% 

                                                

 

18 This KPI was originally reflected in the scorecard, however no target was ever committed due to unavailability of a suitable site by Client Department which delayed even the 

design processes.  
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KPA KPI 2014/15  
annual 
target 

2014/15 
actual 

2014/15 
 variance 

Q1 
actual 

Q2 
target 

Q2 
actual 

Q3 
target 

Q3 
actual 

Q4 
target 

Q4  
actual 

  
Development progress for CoJ clinics: Parkhurst 
(design only) 

100% 5% 95% 0% 70%  100% 0% 100% 5% 

  
Development progress for CoJ clinics: Westbury 
phase 1 

100% 53% 47% 0% 70%  100% 40% 100% 53% 

  Development progress for CoJ clinics Halfway House  100% 100% 0% 48% 100%  100% 100% 100% 100% 

  Development progress for CoJ clinics: Ennerdale 100% 90% 10% 0% 25%  70% 40% 100% 90% 

  Development progress for CoJ clinics: River Park 100% 60% 40% 0% 5%  60% 40% 100% 60% 

  
Development progress for CoJ clinics: Esselen Street 
(phase 1) 

100% 50% 50% 0% 5%  25% 40% 100% 50% 

  
Development progress for Golden Harvest 
Rehabilitation Centre (phase 1) 

100% 100% 0% 0% 30%  63% 40% 100% 100% 

Programme 3: Economic 
empowerment 

Number of short-term EPWP job opportunities created 
through programme 3 construction contracts 

1 220 1 446 226 84 8 jobs 
per 

R millio
n 

capital 
expend

iture 
 

Estimat
e 

based 
on 

cash 
flow 

projecti
on = 
259 

 8 jobs 
per 

R million 
capital 

expendit
ure 

 
Estimate 

based 
on cash 

flow 
projectio
n = 616 

 8 jobs 
per 

R million 
capital 

expendit
ure 

 
Estimate 

based 
on cash 

flow 
projectio

n = 
1 220 

1 446 

BBBEE expenditure share as a % of total capital 
expenditure in programme 3 

100% 121% 
 

+21% 
 

103%  100% 100%  100%  

SMME expenditure share as a % of total capital 
expenditure in programme 3 

30% 
16% 14% 

44%  30% 30%  30%  

Of which: Jozi@Work SMME expenditure share as a % 
of total capital expenditure  

5%   -  5% 5%  5%  

Programme 3: Productive 
development 
partnerships 

Positive media reports as a % of the total number of 
media reports on the JDA in GMS priority areas 

90% 100% 0% 100% 90% 100% 90% 100% 90% 100% 

Number of property developments facilitated by the JDA 
in GMS priority areas 

1 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 

 

Programme 4: Greenways 

KPI definitions 
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Integrated 

development plan 
programme 

JDA programme 
objective  

KPA KPI KPI definition Reporting period 

Sustainable services 
cluster sub-
programme 4: 
Greenways 
 

Restructure the city 
by developing 
defined, strategic 
geographic areas 
around the city and 
the movement 
corridors that link 
them 
 

Capital expenditure for 
programme 4 

% of capital budget spent  % of capital budget spent on all projects 
allocated to programme 4 as determined by the 
list of projects and budgets allocated in the mid-
year budget adjustment 

Cumulative expenditure targets 
are set for each quarter 

Development progress per 
project 

% development progress 
against planned works 

Development progress is defined by the 
following progress categories and milestones: 
(a) concept designs approved by Executive 
Committee = 10%; (b) detailed designs 
approved by Executive Committee = 25% 
cumulative progress; (c) construction tender 
awarded = 40% cumulative progress; (D) 50% 
of construction is complete on site = 70% (e) 
construction completed = 100% cumulative 
result when planned works, as defined by bill of 
quantities, and construction contract are 
completed 

Cumulative development 
progress targets are set for 
each quarter 

Promote economic 
empowerment 
through the  
structuring and 
procurement of JDA 
developments 

  
  
  

Programme 4: Economic 
empowerment 
 

Number of short-term 
EPWP job opportunities 
created through programme 
4 construction contracts 

Number of individuals employed on 
construction projects in programme 4 

Cumulative employment 
targets are set for each quarter 
based on 8 jobs per R million 
spent 

BBBEE expenditure share 
as a % of total capital 
expenditure 

% of expenditure attributed to BBBEE level as 
certified by an accredited certification authority 

% per quarter in quarterly 
reports and % per year in 
annual report 

SMME expenditure share 
as a % of total capital 
expenditure 

% of expenditure attributed to SMME 
companies as certified by an accredited 
authority or confirmed by a certified accountant 

% per quarter in quarterly 
reports and % per year in 
annual report 

Of which: Jozi@Work 
SMME expenditure share 
as a % of total capital 
expenditure 

% of expenditure attributed to Jozi@Work 
SMME companies, as verified by CSA, 
appointed by the CoJ or the JDA in accordance 
with Jozi@Work principles 

% per quarter in quarterly 
reports and % per year in 
annual report 

Support 
productive 
development 
partnerships and 
cooperation 
between all 
stakeholders in 

Programme 4: Productive 
development partnerships 
 

Positive media reports as a 
% of the total number of 
media reports on Rea Vaya 
construction work 

% of positive and neutral media reports out of  
the total number of media reports on Rea 
Vaya infrastructure and the JDA 

Annual target reported every 
quarter 

Programme 4: Productive 
development partnerships 
 

Number of property 
developments facilitated by 
the JDA at Rea Vaya 

Watt Street interchange development approved 
by the CoJ 
 

Completion target date is set 
for Mayoral Committee report 

mailto:Jozi@work?
mailto:Jozi@work?
mailto:Jozi@work?
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Integrated 
development plan 

programme 

JDA programme 
objective  

KPA KPI KPI definition Reporting period 

these areas stations 
 

  

 
Targets 

KPA KPI 2014/15  
annual 
target 

2014/15 
actual 

2014/15 
 variance 

Q1 
actual 

Q2 
target 

Q2 
actual 

Q3 
target 

Q3 
actual 

Q4 
target 

Q4  
actual 

Capital expenditure 
for programme 4 

% of capital budget spent  100% 109% 9% 2% 40% 31% 50% 48% 100% 109% 

Development 
progress per project 

% development progress against planned works           

Development progress for phase 1C section 15 phase 1  100% 98% 2% 49% 60% 48.7% 80% 86% 100% 98% 

Development progress for phase 1C section 15 phase 2 100% 64% 36% 8% 20% 0% 50% 40% 100% 64% 

Development progress for Alex urban upgrade phase 1 100% 100% 0% - 0% 0% 40% 96% 100% 100% 

Development progress for phase 1C section 8 (Alex to 
Sandton) section C 

100% 88% 12% 0% 10% 45% 40% 70% 100% 88% 

Development progress for phase 1C Sandton CBD loop  100% 20% 80% 0% 0% 0% 40% 12% 100% 20% 

Development progress for phase 1A NMT station 
precincts 

100%   74% 80% - 100% - 100% - 

Development progress for Edith Cavell BRT pavement 
strengthening  

100%   - 0% - 40% - 100% - 

Development progress for phase 1A NMT feeder routes 100% 25% 75% 0% 40% 0% 60% 25% 100% 25% 

Development progress for phase 1C Great Walk Bridge 100% 53% 47% 0% 0% 0% 40% 40% 50% 53% 

Development progress for Alex Spur and Great Walk 
Bridge phase 1 

100% 99% 1% 0% 10% 52% 40% 76% 50% 99% 

Development progress for rehabilitation of section 1  100%   0% 0% 0% 40% 5% 100%  

Development progress for section 2 road widening 100% 100% 0% 0% 0%  40% 100% 100% 100% 

Development progress for phase 1C NMT (Alex urban 
upgrade phase 2)  

100% 58% 42% 0% 0% 0% 40% 0% 100% 58% 

Development progress for upgrading of Jukskei Bridge 
NMT links  

100%   - 0% - 40% - 100% - 

Development progress for phase 1B station precincts 100% 94% 6% 0% 0% 39% 40% 70% 100% 94% 

Development progress for phase 1C stations NMT 100% 40% 60% 0% 0% 0% 40% 5% 100% 40% 

Development progress for station signage  100% 0% 100% 0% 0% - 40% - 100% - 

Development progress for bus depots: city  100% 10% 90% 0% 0% 0% 0% 10% 100% 10% 
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KPA KPI 2014/15  
annual 
target 

2014/15 
actual 

2014/15 
 variance 

Q1 
actual 

Q2 
target 

Q2 
actual 

Q3 
target 

Q3 
actual 

Q4 
target 

Q4  
actual 

Development progress for bus depots: land acquisition19 100% 74% 36% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 100% 74% 

Development progress for bus depots: Alex layover 
facility  

100% 10% 90% 0% 0% 0% 0% 35% 100% 10% 

Development progress for bus depots: Midrand/Ivory 
Park  

100% 10% 90% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 100% 10% 

Development progress for Watt Street interchange  100% 10% 90% 0% 0% 0% 0% 5% 100% 10% 

Development progress for Ghandi Square interchange 100% 0% 100% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 100% 0% 

Development progress for Greenstone terminal  100% 0% 100% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 100% 0% 

Development progress for Emthonjeni terminal  100% 0% 100% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 100% 0% 

Development progress for station ITS 100% 25% 75% 0% 0% 0% 0% 5% 100% 25% 

Development progress for phase 1A and B retrofit 100% 97% 3% 0% 0% 57% 0% 70% 100% 97% 

Programme 4: 
Economic 
empowerment 

Number of short-term EPWP job opportunities created 
through programme 4 construction contracts 

4 jobs per 
R million 
capital 

expenditur
e 
 

Estimate 
based on 
cash flow 
projection 

= 2 860 

4 029 1 169 363 4 jobs 
per 

R millio
n 

capital 
expend

iture 
 

Estimat
e 

based 
on 

cash 
flow 

projecti
on = 
1 352 

 4 jobs 
per 

R million 
capital 

expenditu
re  
 

Estimate 
based on 
cash flow 
projection 
= 2 212 

 4 jobs 
per 

R million 
capital 

expenditu
re  
 

Estimate 
based on 
cash flow 
projection 
= 2 860 

 

BBBEE expenditure share as a % of total capital 
expenditure in programme 4 100% 

118% 
+18% 

 121% 100% 
 

100% 
 

100% 
 

SMME expenditure share as a % of total capital expenditure 
in programme 4 

30% 
3% 

27% 26% 30%  30%  30%  

Of which: Jozi@Work SMME expenditure share as a % of 
total capital expenditure 

5%   - 5% 0% 5% 0% 5% 0% 

Programme 4: 
Productive 

Positive media reports as a % of the total number of media 
reports on the JDA Rea Vaya construction work 

90% 76% 24% 92% 90% 97% 90% 100% 90% 75% 

                                                

 

19
 The focus of this project and KPI was to secure and purchase the land in this financial year, prior to development taking place. The descriptor, as outlined in the 

scorecard erroneously refers to development progress, as opposed to a KPI descriptor the speaks to the nature or progress of the land transaction. 
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KPA KPI 2014/15  
annual 
target 

2014/15 
actual 

2014/15 
 variance 

Q1 
actual 

Q2 
target 

Q2 
actual 

Q3 
target 

Q3 
actual 

Q4 
target 

Q4  
actual 

development 
partnerships 

Number of property developments facilitated by the JDA at 
Rea Vaya stations 

1 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 1 
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Programme 5: Alexandra renewal project 

KPI definitions  

 
Integrated 

development plan 
programme 

JDA programme 
objective  

KPA KPI KPI definition Reporting period 

Programme 10: 
GMS priority 
area 
planning and 
implementation 

Restructure the city 
by developing 
defined, strategic 
geographic areas 
around the city and 
the movement 
corridors that link 
them 
 

Capital expenditure for 
programme 5 

% of capital budget 
spent  

% of capital budget spent on all projects allocated 
to programme 5 as determined by the list of 
projects and budgets allocated in the mid-year 
budget adjustment 

Cumulative expenditure targets 
are set for each quarter 

Development progress per 
project 

% development progress 
against planned works 

Development progress is defined by the following 
progress categories and milestones: (a) concept 
designs approved by Executive Committee = 10%; 
(b) detailed designs approved by Executive 
Committee = 25% cumulative progress; (c) 
construction tender awarded = 40% cumulative 
progress; (D) 50% of construction is complete on 
site = 70% (e) construction completed = 100% 
cumulative result when planned works, as defined 
by bill of quantities, and construction contract are 
completed 

Cumulative development 
progress targets are set for 
each quarter 

Promote economic 
empowerment 
through the  
structuring and 
procurement of JDA 
developments 

  
  
  

Programme 5: Economic 
empowerment 
 

Number of short-term 
EPWP job opportunities 
created through 
programme 5 
construction contracts 

Number of individuals employed on construction 
projects in programme 5 

Cumulative employment 
targets are set for each quarter 
based on 8 jobs per R million 
spent 

BBBEE expenditure 
share as a % of total 
capital expenditure 

% of expenditure attributed to BBBEE level as 
certified by an accredited certification authority 

% per quarter in quarterly 
reports and % per year in 
annual report 

SMME expenditure 
share as a % of total 
capital expenditure 

% of expenditure attributed to SMME companies 
as certified by an accredited authority or 
confirmed by a certified accountant 

% per quarter in quarterly 
reports and % per year in 
annual report 

Of which: Jozi@Work 
SMME expenditure 
share as a % of total 
capital expenditure 

% of expenditure attributed to Jozi@Work SMME 
companies, as verified by CSA, appointed by the 
CoJ or the JDA in accordance with Jozi@Work 
principles 

% per quarter in quarterly 
reports and % per year in 
annual report 

mailto:Jozi@work?
mailto:Jozi@work?
mailto:Jozi@work?
mailto:Jozi@work?


Johannesburg Development Agency: Integrated Annual Report 2014/15                                              Page  234  

Integrated 
development plan 

programme 

JDA programme 
objective  

KPA KPI KPI definition Reporting period 

Support 
productive 
development 
partnerships and 
cooperation 
between all 
stakeholders in 
these areas 

Programme 5: Productive 
development partnerships 
 

Positive media reports as 
a % of the total number 
of media reports on the 
JDA in Alexandra 

% of positive and neutral media reports out of the 
total number of media reports on Alexandra  

Annual target reported every 
quarter 

Programme 5: Productive 
development partnerships 
 

Number of property 
developments 
facilitated by the JDA in 
Alexandra  

Completion of urban management 
plan for Great Walk  
  

Completion target date is set 
for Mayoral Committee report 

 
Targets 

KPA KPI 2014/15  
annual 
target 

2014/15 
actual 

2014/15 
 variance 

Q1 
actual 

Q2 
target 

Q2 
actual 

Q3 
target 

Q3 
actual 

Q4 
target 

Q4 
actual 

Capital expenditure for 
programme 5 

% of capital budget spent  100% 25% 75% 2% 20% 1% 50% 4% 100% 25% 

Development progress per 
project 
  
  

% development progress against planned works           

Development progress on 4th Avenue Clinic, 
Alexandra  

100%   0% 0% 0% 20% 0% 100% 8% 

Development progress on Jukskei River 
environmental upgrading and rehabilitation, 
Alexandra  

100% 0% 100% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 100% 0% 

Development progress for the old Ikage housing 
development, Alexandra  

100% 5% 95% 0% 0% 0% 30% 0% 100% 5% 

Development progress for Peoples’ Court, 7th 
Avenue (Old Alexandra), New Heritage Alexandra 
Ext.4 E Ward  

100% 0% 100% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 100% 0% 

Purchase of new refuse bins for new housing on Far 
East Bank  

100% 100% 0% 0% 0% 0% 100% 100% 100% 100% 

Development progress for Thoko Mngoma Clinic 
Marlboro  

100% 6% 94% 0% 0% 0% 50% 0% 100% 6% 

Development progress for development of open 
space  

100% 0% 100% 0% 0% 0% 40% 0% 100% 0% 

Development progress for pedestrian bridge, Vincent 
Tshabalala Road  

100% 10% 90% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 100% 10% 

Development progress for Alexandra Heritage Centre 100% 55% 44% 0% 10% 0% 40% 5% 100% 55% 

Development progress for linear markets phase 1 100% 0% 100% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 100% 0% 
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KPA KPI 2014/15  
annual 
target 

2014/15 
actual 

2014/15 
 variance 

Q1 
actual 

Q2 
target 

Q2 
actual 

Q3 
target 

Q3 
actual 

Q4 
target 

Q4 
actual 

Programme 5: Economic 
empowerment 

Number of short-term EPWP job opportunities created 
through programme 5 construction contracts 

160   0 0 0 0 0 8 jobs 
per 

R million 
capital 

expendit
ure 

 
Estimate 

based 
on cash 

flow 
projectio
n = 160 

 

0 

BBBEE expenditure share as a % of total capital 
expenditure  

100%   - 100% 0% 100% 0% 100% 0% 

SMME expenditure share as a % of total capital 
expenditure  

30%   - 30% 0% 30% 0% 30% 0% 

Of which: Jozi@Work SMME expenditure share as a 
% of total capital expenditure  

5%   - 5% 0% 5% 0% 5% 0% 

Programme 5: Productive 
development partnerships 

Positive media reports as a % of the total number of 
media reports on the JDA in Alexandra 

90% 55% 45% 67% 90% 50% 90% 100% 90% 67% 

Number of property developments facilitated by the 
JDA in Alexandra 

1 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 
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Programme 6: Administration and management 

KPI definitions  

JDA programme 
objective  

KPA KPI KPI definition Reporting period 

  Programme 6: Human 
resources 

% black employees Number of black employees out of total 
employees as a % 

Target is set for the year and 
performance is reported 
quarterly 

    % female employees Number of female employees out of total 
employees as a % 

Target is set for the year and 
performance is reported 
quarterly 

    % black female senior managers  Number of black female senior managers 
out of total senior managers (senior 
development managers and functional by 
Executive Committee) as a % 

Target is set for the year and 
performance is reported 
quarterly 

    Staff turnover Number of terminations (for any reason) 
out of total number of employees on 
1 July as a % 

Target is set for the year and 
performance is reported 
quarterly 

    HIV voluntary testing opportunities Number of HIV voluntary testing 
opportunities offered to employees 

Target is set for the year and 
performance is reported 
quarterly 

    Compliance with Occupational Health and Safety Act at 
the bus factory 

% compliance with Occupational Health 
and Safety Act as assessed by an 
independent consultant 

Target is set for the year and 
performance is reported 
quarterly 

    Investment in training % of payroll spent on training and staff 
development 

Target is set for the year and 
performance is reported 
quarterly 

  Programme 6: Financial 
management and 
corporate governance 

Unqualified audit reports  Audit opinion expressed by Auditor-
General must be unqualified or better 

This is an annual result  

    Overspending against operating budget % of operating expenditure that exceeds 
approved budget 

Target is set for the year and 
performance is reported 
quarterly 

    IT network availability – external % of time that external network is 
available to employees 

Target is set for the year and 
performance is reported 
quarterly 

Promote economic 
empowerment through the 
structuring and 

Programme 6: Economic 
development 

BBBEE expenditure share as a % of total operating 
expenditure 

% of expenditure attributed to BBBEE 
level as certified by an accredited 
certification authority 

Target is set for the year and 
performance is reported 
quarterly 
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JDA programme 
objective  

KPA KPI KPI definition Reporting period 

procurement of JDA 
developments 

  SMME expenditure share as a % of total operating 
expenditure  

% of expenditure attributed to SMME 
companies as certified by an accredited 
authority or confirmed by a certified 
accountant 

Target is set for the year and 
performance is reported 
quarterly 

  Of which: Jozi@Work SMME expenditure share as a % 
of total contracted services and repairs and maintenance  

5% of expenditure attributed to 
Jozi@Work SMME companies as verified 
by CSA 

Target is set for the year and 
performance is reported 
quarterly 

Programme 6: Operating 
expenditure 

Programme 6: % of operating budget spent (cumulative 
for the year to date) 

% of operating expenditure against 
approved expenditure target 

Cumulative operating 
expenditure targets are set 
for each quarter 

 
Targets 

KPA KPI 2014/15  
annual 
target 

2014/15 
actual 

2014/15 
 variance 

Q1 
actual 

Q2 
target 

Q2 
actual 

Q3 
target 

Q3 
actual 

Q4 
target 

Q4 
actual 

Capital expenditure for 
programme 6 

% of capital budget spent 100% 7% 93% 12% 30% 2.3% 60% 3% 100% 7% 

Programme 6: Human 
resources 

% black employees 80% 93% +13% 94% 80% 95% 80% 95% 80% 93% 

  % female employees 45% 53% +8% 52% 45% 60.27% 45% 58% 45% 53% 

  % black female senior managers  35% 12.2% 22.8% 33% 35% 10.96% 35% 13.7% 35% 12.16% 

  Staff turnover <10% 2.4% -7.6% 3% 5% 3.03% 7% 10.29% <10% 2.4% 

  HIV voluntary testing opportunities 0 1 +1 0 1 1 0 0 1 1 

  Compliance with Occupational Health and Safety Act 
at the bus factory 

80% 90% +10% 82% 80% 84% 80% 89% 80% 90% 

  Investment in training 3% 1% 
2% 2% 3% 2% 3% 1% 3% 1% 

Programme 6: Financial 
management and 
corporate governance 

Unqualified audit reports  Unqualified   - - - - - - - 

Overspending against operating budget 0% 0% 100% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 

IT network availability – external 98% 100% 
+2% 100% 98% 100% 98% 100% 98% 100% 

Programme 6: Economic 
development 
  

BBBEE expenditure share as a % of total operating 
expenditure  

100% 67% -33% 110% 100% 95% 100% 85% 100% 67% 

SMME expenditure share as a % of total operating 
expenditure 

40% 45% +5% 9% 40% 8% 40% 29% 40% 45% 

Of which: Jozi@Work SMME expenditure share as a 
% of total contracted services and repairs and 
maintenance  

10% 0% 10% - 0% 0% 10% 0% 10% 0% 

Programme 6: Operating 
expenditure 

Programme 6: % of operating budget spent 
(cumulative for the year to date) 

100% 81% 19% 12% 30%  60%  100%  
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Programme 7: Development facilitation 

KPI definitions 
 

Integrated 
development plan 

programme 

JDA programme 
objective  

KPA KPI KPI definition Reporting period 

 

Restructure the city 
by developing 
defined, strategic 
geographic areas 
around the city and 
the movement 
corridors that link 
them 
 

Development Progress for 
Corridors of Freedom 
Naming and branding 

% of Development 
progress achieved 
against the defined 
scope of work 

% of Development progress achieved against the 
defined scope of work that includes design, 
manufacture and installation of gantry signs, street 
furniture and public art along 3 Corridors of 
Freedom. 

Cumulative development 
progress targets are set for 
each quarter 

Construction Progress for 
Corridors of Freedom 
strategic area frameworks 
and heritage plans 

No of  strategic area 
frameworks and heritage 
plans 

1 Strategic Area Framework per Corridor and 1 
Heritage Plan per Corridor to be completed. 100% 
Achievement of target will be reported when these 
plans are approved by the client department. 

Cumulative development 
progress targets are set for 
each quarter 

Promote economic 
empowerment through the 
structuring and 
procurement of JDA 
developments 
 

BBBEE expenditure 
share as a % of total 
capital expenditure 

% of expenditure attributed to BBBEE level as 
certified by an accredited certification authority 

% per quarter in quarterly 
reports and % per year in 
annual report 

SMME expenditure 
share as a % of total 
capital expenditure 

% of expenditure attributed to SMME companies 
as certified by an accredited authority or 
confirmed by a certified accountant 

% per quarter in quarterly 
reports and % per year in 
annual report 

Of which: Jozi@Work 
SMME expenditure 
share as a % of total 
capital expenditure  

% of expenditure attributed to Jozi@Work SMME 
companies, as verified by CSA, appointed by the 
CoJ or the JDA in accordance with Jozi@Work 
principles 

% per quarter in quarterly 
reports and % per year in 
annual report 

 
Targets 

KPA KPI 2014/15  
annual 
target 

2014/15 
actual 

2014/15 
 variance 

Q1 
actual 

Q2 
target 

Q2 
actual 

Q3 
target 

Q3 
actual 

Q4 
target 

Q4 
actual 

Capital expenditure 
project for programme 7 

% of capital budget spent 
100% 20% 60% 0% 0% 21% 30% 0% 100% 20% 

Development progress per 
project 

% development progress against planned works           

Development progress for Corridors of Freedom 
naming and branding 

100% 50% 50% 0% 0% 0% 30% 0% 100% 0% 

Development progress for Corridors of Freedom 
strategic area frameworks and heritage plans 

100% 0% 100% 0% 0% 0% 30% 15% 100% 50% 

Programme 7: Economic BBBEE expenditure share as a % of total capital 100%   - 100%  100%  100%  
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KPA KPI 2014/15  
annual 
target 

2014/15 
actual 

2014/15 
 variance 

Q1 
actual 

Q2 
target 

Q2 
actual 

Q3 
target 

Q3 
actual 

Q4 
target 

Q4 
actual 

empowerment expenditure 

SMME expenditure share as a % of total capital 
expenditure 30% 

  
- 30% 

 
30% 

 
30% 

 

Of which: Jozi@Work SMME expenditure share as a 
% of total capital expenditure  

5%   - 5% 0% 5% 0% 5% 0% 
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Annexure 6: Acronyms and abbreviations 

ACRONYM DEFINITION  

BBBEE Broad-based black economic empowerment 

BRT Bus rapid transit 

CBD Central business district 

CPC Community Participation Consultant 

CoJ City of Johannesburg 

CSA Capability support agents 

EPWP Expanded Public Works Programme 

GDS Growth and Development Strategy Joburg 2040 

GMS Growth Management Strategy 

GRAP Generally Recognised Accounting Practice 

ICT Information and communication technology 

IT Information technology 

King III King Report on Governance for South Africa and the King Code of Governance Principles 

KPI Key performance indicator  

MFMA Municipal Finance Management Act (2003) 

NMT Non-motorised transit 

SMME Small, medium and micro enterprise 

 

 
 


